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TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) (stock code : 1115),
a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 30 June
2011, is a leading manufacturer of the high-end fast-consuming beverage in the Tibet Autonomous Region ("Tibet”) in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The Group's principal businesses mainly include two segments, i.e. water and
beer.

The Group's water business segment covers Mainland China and Hong Kong markets. Located at the Nyaingentanglha
Range at an altitude of 5,100 meters, the water source of the “Tibet 5100 Glacial Spring Mineral Water” (“5100
Glacial Mineral Water”) of the Group is a unique glacial spring with rich and balanced mineral content, which has
not only been recognized as a quality mineral water source in China, but was also awarded as the best mineral water at
a global bottled water congress. The Group has developed diversified packages and specifications for the 5100 series,
ranging from the Diamond Series, the Blue Cap Series to the Family Soft Barrelled Water Series equipped with innovatively-
designed vacuum water dispenser. In addition, other natural water branded “Zhuoma Spring” and "Gesang Spring”
produced respectively by our associates jointly established by the Group and China Petroleum & Chemical Co., Ltd.
("Sinopec”) and PetroChina Company Limited (“PetroChina”) have also been widely available in the convenience stores
of Sinopec and PetroChina gas stations respectively.

The Group expanded through the acquisition of the beer business in 2013. The ” " produced
and sold by the Group is brewed using high-quality highland barley as raw materials and local pollution-free highland
spring water in Tibet with patented technology. It is also a premium and healthy beverage with Tibet characteristics.

By adhering to the most stringent quality control, we provide the healthiest specialty products with the best quality
globally. With our origin in Tibet, we reach out to the world and are committed to being a world-class premium beverage
manufacturing enterprise.
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TIBET TIANDI GREEN BEVERAGE DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEEFR

THE BOARD (THE “BOARD") OF DIRECTORS
(THE “DIRECTORS"”) OF THE COMPANY

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YAN Qingjiang
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit
(appointed with effect from 1 January 2022)

Mr. YUE Zhigiang
(retired on 30 June 2021)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. JIANG Xiachong
Mr. XIE Kun
(appointed with effect from 1 January 2022)

Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI (Chairman)
(retired and ceased to be
Chairman on 30 June 2021)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. TANG Zeping
Mr. DAI Yang
Mr. LO Wai Hung
(appointed on 28 September 2021)
Mr. HUNG Ka Hai Clement
(retired on 30 June 2021)

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Mr. WANG Dong

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. CHOW Wai Kit
Mr. YAN Qingjiang

INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL AUDITOR

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited ("HLB")
Certified Public Accountants
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LEGAL ADVISOR
Sit, Fung, Kwong & Shum Solicitors

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONSULTANT

Kredito PR Consultancy Limited

Unit 3007, 30/F., LAWS Commercial Plaza

788 Cheung Sha Wan Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Phone: +852 2248 1188

Fax: +852 2248 1199

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit D, 23" Floor, United Centre
95 Queensway, Admiralty
Hong Kong

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
Union Registrars Limited

Suites 3301-04, 33/F.

Two Chinachem Exchange Square

338 King's Road

North Point, Hong Kong

Phone: +852 2849 3399

Fax: +852 2849 3319

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Codan Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

WEBSITES TO ACCESS COMPANY INFORMATION*

http://www.twr1115.net
http://www.hkexnews.hk

STOCK CODE ON MAIN BOARD OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
1115

* contents of the websites do not form part of this Annual Report

CORPORATE INFORMATION
ARER

R
BB R S RETT

REEBEERD
BENEREREBRAR
EBNERDEE788%
BREEES 30123007
F:% 1 +852 2248 1188
EE 1 +852 2248 1199

HMMREE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

BEREBTEEXRME

B
SESEEISRE
HK—m238DE

ERROBERIE
AFEHFELARAR
BALA
REE3385
EMRHES 2 8
33#83301-04

F 3% ¢ +852 2849 3399
& : +852 2849 3319

FERNECRBFE
Codan Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

NAEREE AU *
http://www.twr1115.net
http://www.hkexnews.hk

6 32 B EARR 4K 58
1115

* BUEATTBRAE RN — 8D

BRHKERERAA | F& 2021

&

@



LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
20 % 5RBR 1

rerm—

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2021



~
o
o~
b
El
"
<4
53
T
S
S
%
bicd
HI




~D

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
BURR R

Dear shareholders,

The Board is pleased to present the annual report of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2021 for your review.

RESULTS FOR 2021

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the revenue of the Company
amounted to RMB456 million, representing a decrease of 7.5% as
compared with RMB493 million of the previous year; profit attributable
to owners of the Company for the year amounted to RMB47 million,
representing an increase of 176.6% as compared with RMB17 million of
the previous year.

RESULTS REVIEW

In 2021, the COVID-19 pandemic continued to rage around the world
in a resurgent manner. The emergence and rapid spread of mutant
strains of Delta, Ramada and Omicron have had a huge impact on the
global economy and consumer markets. The prevention and control of
the COVID-19 pandemic in Mainland China under the dual pressure of
“preventing external importation and preventing internal rebound”, the
regular or irregular closure of some consumption venues and the reduction
in the number of consumers going out, etc. had a significant impact on
the sales business of the Group’s water business segment products in key
market channels such as airlines, cinema lines, hotels, entertainment and
catering, resulting in a decrease in revenue of the water business segment.
Regional closures in Mainland China, border shutdown between Mainland
China and Hong Kong, and logistical disruptions in the global shipping
and supply chains due to the pandemic further increased the cost of some
of our raw materials, resulting in lower gross margins and making it more
challenging for the Group to supply our products in a timely manner.

O
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The products of the Group's beer business segment are mainly sold in the
Tibetan region. Despite the better control of the pandemic in Tibet, the
sales and development of the Group's beer business segment products did
not meet the expected growth targets due to the decline in the number
of visitors to Tibet, and the sales volume and sales of beers in 2021 were
almost the same as the previous year. In order to further develop and
promote the sales of beer products to meet market demand, the Group
upgraded the packaging of its best-selling product, “Barley 6 Degrees
Beers”, and launched a new 500ml can at the end of 2021.

PROSPECTS

The management of the Group believes that although the impact of
the pandemic has caused great disruption to the entire consumer
market and may continue to do so in the future, it will also give rise to
new consumption patterns and further increase consumer awareness
and demand for healthy, natural and premium products, bringing us
new opportunities. By consolidating our existing premium resources,
consolidating and strengthening our strategic position in the Tibetan
premium industry, optimizing our business model, developing sales
channels and adapting to the new consumer landscape and changes in

the industry as soon as possible, the Group will be able to conquer the

challenges and embrace new developments.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
HRRE A

The highlights of the Group work in 2022 are as follows: CECCEREEERTIENT

The Group will continue to invest significant resources in
strengthening the partnership with key partners to strengthen its
brand influence and sales network so that more customers will know
and access the Group’s products.

Meanwhile, the Group will also seek and establish more strategic
cooperation in emerging areas such as community consumption,
so that the Group’s sales model can be more diversified and the
products can reach more customers, so that Tibetan good water can
reach thousands of households and more people can enjoy better
water.

The Group will strengthen its sales and logistics cooperation with
different key platforms such as JD.com in order to accelerate the
development of the Group's products in the e-commerce channel.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUALF
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4. While consolidating and strengthening the development of the local
Tibetan market, the Group will invest more resources in the research
and development of new products and channel development. The
Group will strive to combine barley beer with Tibetan history and
culture, so as to bring our products out of Tibet through cultural
tourism and export of special creative products, and further enhance
the market exposure and recognition of our products.

In the new year, the Company will strive to strengthen our corporate
management, continue to consolidate and enhance our core
competitiveness, uphold and develop our excellent corporate style and
culture, adhere to the concept of sustainable development, strengthen
innovation and creativity, stabilize our production and operation, and
achieve sustainable and high quality development!

21 April 2022
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AND FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MRRERTFUBHE

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=+—-HLEFE

2020 Change
—TTF 0]
Revenue (RMB million) WAANREEET) 493 }7.5%
Operating profit (RMB million) rEFNBAREBET) 81 | 53.8%
Adjusted EBITDA*(RMB million) TR STTE RE AT E *
(NR®BET) 162 132.3%
Profit attributable to owners RATHREAEGNE
of the Company (RMB million) (AR¥BET) 17 1176.6%
Farnings per share BB
— Basic and diluted (RMB cents) - EXREE(ARED) 0.68 1175.0%
Gross profit margin EFE 43.6% | 1.7% point
B
As at 31 December
R+=-A=+-—H
2021 2020
—E-—-F —TTHF
(RMB million) (RMB million) Change
(AR®BEERT) ONSCEEY 2E
Total assets BEBE 4,152 10.1%
Equity attributable
to owners of the Company RAREB ANEGER 2,722 14.0%

* Adjusted EBITDA is not accounting measures under International Financial * R BRI E R AT A I 3E B B A
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs") which should be read in conjunction with Note 6(b). REER (BT EREED NETHLA
RIEYEE - M T 6(b) —HERIE o
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For the year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=t-BLEE

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AND FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBEERDFHBEE

PROFITABILITY DATA
(RMB million)

Revenue

Gross profit

Operating profit

Profit/(loss) for the year

PROFITABILITY DATA (%)

Gross profit margin

Operating profit margin

Net profit margin

Return on total shareholders’ equity

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES DATA
(RMB million)

Non-current assets

Current assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Equity attributable to owners of
the Company

ASSETS AND WORKING

CAPITAL DATA
Current assets ratios
Gearing ratios

BNEE
(AR®EER)

LN

E7

BN

EENE/ (BR)

RFIBE (%)
£

GEFIEE
BRI
RERRREE SRR

BERAREE
(AR®EER)
FRBEE
MEBEE
mEAR
FRBEE
Z/NCIE 2 DN
il 5

EEHEELESHE

MEBEELE
BARELE

note:

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

2020 2019 2018 2017
—E-%F —E-NF —T-N\FE —T—+F
493 721 881 932
215 404 480 551
81 133 342 393

17 (745) 318 368
43.6% 56.0% 54.5% 59.2%
16.4% 18.4% 38.8% 42.1%
3.4% N/ATEH 36.1% 39.5%
0.6% N/ATEH 9.2% 11.6%
2,115 2,305 3,278 2,907
2,037 1,958 1,635 1,642
1,280 1,376 1,177 901
150 184 276 473
2,722 2,702 3,459 3,174
49.1% 45.9% 33.3% 36.1%
25.1% 27.1% 25.1% 21.4%

GER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2021, the Group continued to be committed to the development of
Tibet's water resources industry and beer industry, strived to enhance
customer experience and optimized channel construction so that Tibet's
unique and quality products could reach more consumers and potential
consumers.

In 2021, as viruses such as Delta and Omicron continued to spread globally,
the sales of the Group's water products in key market channels such as
airlines, cinemas, hotels, entertainment and restaurants were significantly
affected. Regional controls in Mainland China and poor logistics due to
border shutdown between Hong Kong and Mainland China have not only
increased costs but also made the timely supply of the Group's products
more challenging. The Group’s beer business mainly conducts sales in the
Tibetan region. Although the pandemic in Tibet was under better control,
the decline in the number of tourists entering Tibet also caused the sales
and development of the Group's beer industry to fall short of the expected
growth targets, with the sales volume and sales amount of beer in 2021
being almost the same as the previous year.

In 2021, the scale of the Group’s bank financing in Tibet remained
basically stable. In the face of the challenges posed by the impact of the
pandemic, the Group also actively explored more financing channels and
methods, such as the Group's successful issuance of convertible bonds
with a principal amount of approximately HK$380 million (equivalent to
RMB318 million) at an annual interest rate of 5%; on the other hand,
the Group is also actively negotiating with potential strategic partners
to bring in new channel resources based on the Group’s premium water
resources to generate new revenue and cash flow for the Group's water
business and beer business, and the relevant work is currently in progress.
The management of the Group believes that although the impact of the
pandemic has caused great disturbance, we will be able to cope with the
challenges and usher in new development by consolidating our resources
and making efforts to adjust.
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£ 400

E-T_—F AKEEBEZNRARKE
REXREBEXNERE  BHIRARFHE
B BLEREER BERARNSEEEEMR
BERZNHERENELHRES -

R —F - HEEERE (Delta)r BRER
K (Omicron) SRS 2R EEEFE -
AEEKEREMELR  BERE B
B RENBERSTEMBRENHEETS
RIEAMTE - PEAEMNEGEEMF
AREHEERNYR TS - TMEEMT A
BEAREERRFHESSE LREM -
AEENRBEBIEEARRENEE
AT MR IEEHIR A - BB AR IR
ANETRE - i AEESREEENIHEME
BAAENBHERER G- =-—F&
EHHE RHEEE FFIRTRE -

—To—F AREERRENRITRERE
REBEART  AHRBYEOLS - K&
EhERRREZORAERENIA - WA
SERNETASBRO/ISERT(HER
ARE3I8ET)FREER5% M AR E
% A—hE ARE RS R E B
AEBHAH  UWAKERENEEKER
RER  SPEFMREER  RAKEKE
HMEEEB SR NBRANMBREERT - B A
METHELEETH AREEEEME
BARBEEEXTRANKE - BRFBE
BERER BNRAE  —EBEHH
B ODAHHBRE o



FINANCIAL REVIEW
REVENUE ANALYSIS

In 2021, due to the reasons mentioned in the “Business Review" section
above, the total revenue of the Group amounted to RMB456 million,
representing a decrease of 7.5% in comparison with 2020.

The revenue generated from our water business segment was RMB148
million, representing a decrease of 18.0% in comparison with 2020. As
mentioned above, due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the
important sales channels of the water business segment, the sales of water
products have dropped, and the average selling price has dropped due to
changes in the customer structure.

For the beer business segment, the year over year change is as follow:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENRR AT

Bt Bl B
WA 7 #
E-T-—F R L[ X OE] SR

EHEE  AEENBRIBAESARK 456
BT HE—F-FFTRET75%

IKEBHBHBRABARE 14887 - L
—EZZFERDT18.0% c WA AR
COVID-19RBREBRKEBHNHNERHE
EE KERNEETR UREFEEE
L BHFHEE TR -

EREBEEHE > B mT

Volume (hectoliter) #HE ()
Revenue (RMB'000) WA (AREFT)
Adjusted EBITDA* (RMB'000) HERESTMEK
BRI
(AR®BTT)
* Adjusted EBITDA is not an accounting measure under IFRSs which should be read

in conjunction with Note 6(b).

In 2021, the overall gross profit margin of the Group was 41.9%, which
decreased by 1.7 percentage points when compared to 2020. The gross
profit margin of the water business segment was 41.5%, which decreased
by 5.8 percentage points when compared to 2020, mainly due to the
increase in the fixed cost allocated due to the decrease in sales volume
leading to the increase in the average cost, and as mentioned above, the
change in the customer structure leading to the decrease in the average
selling price. The gross profit margin of the beer business segment was
42.0% in 2021, which increased by 0.7 percentage points when compared
to 2020.

2021 2020 % change
—_T_TF % &

422,217 447,370 | 5.6%

308,557 311,503 | 1.0%

142,420 143,542 | 1.0%

* HEESBITE REHEA %‘foﬁliflwﬁﬁﬁ
MEENBETOGTRBIOE  BEME
6(b)—FERIFE ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERENWR AT

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION COSTS AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

In 2021, the selling and distribution costs decreased by approximately
49.5% to RMB53 million from RMB105 million in 2020, mainly due to the
decrease in water sales, the corresponding reduction in transportation costs
and promotion fees, and also part of the intangible assets having been
fully amortized during the year, resulting in a corresponding decrease in
the amortization expense of intangible assets. The administrative expenses
increased by 5.9% from RMB68 million in 2020 to RMB72 million in 2021,
mainly due to the increase in new product development fees of beer
product.

ALLOWANCE FOR ECL ON FINANCIAL ASSETS

Allowance for ECL on financial assets mainly included the allowance for
ECL on trade receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost. The
allowance for ECL on trade receivables was RMB31 million in 2021 (the
reversal of allowance for ECL on trade receivables in 2020: RMB19 million).
The allowance for ECL on other financial assets at amortised cost was
RMB23 million in 2021 (2020: RMB3 million). The increase was due to the
slowdown in the collection of receivables from customers that have been
more affected by the pandemic.

OTHER GAINS, NET

Other gains, net increased from net gains of RMB22 million in 2020
to RMB26 million in 2021,
government grants of RMB18 million; offset by (ii) the decrease in fair

which was mainly due to (i) the increase in

value changes on FVTPL of RMB10 million; (iii) the decrease in gain on
disposal of financial assets at FVTPL of RMB3 million; and (iv) the decrease
in other gains of RMB1 million.
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FINANCE INCOME, NET

In 2021, the Group incurred finance costs of approximately RMB36 million
and gained finance income of RMB56 million. Finance costs decreased
by RMB10 million compared with 2020 mainly due to (i) the decrease
of RMB13 million in interest costs on borrowings from banks; and (ii)
the repayment of borrowings to third parties leading to the decrease of
approximately RMB17 million in related interest costs; which were offset
by (iii) the decrease of RMB3 million in amount capitalised; and (iv) the
issuance of the Convertible Bonds by the Company leading to the increase
of RMB17 million in related interest costs. Finance income increased by
RMB56 million mainly because interest income from interest-bearing loans
to third parties was fully waived as a result of the pandemic impact in
last year, but only half of the interest income was waived for this year,
resulting in the increase in interest income of RMB55 million compared to
last year.

SHARE OF RESULT ON INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD

The share of result on investments accounted for using the equity method
was mainly the share of result of Tibet Highland Natural Water Limited
("Highland Natural Water”) whose ultimate controlling shareholder is
China Petroleum & Chemical Co., Ltd. (“Sinopec”). The sales volume of
Highland Natural Water in 2021 was 100,192 tonnes, decreased by 15.9%
from last year, and its revenue was RMB349 million which represents an
increase of 15.9% from last year. The Group's 43.981% equity interests
in Highland Natural Water generated share of Highland Natural Water's
net loss of RMB4 million (2020: net loss RMB5 million), offset by the net
share of profits of other associate companies of RMB4 million, the total of
share of result on investments accounted for using the equity method was
RMB8,000 (share of loss on investments accounted for using the equity
method in 2020: RMB2 million).
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE

In 2021, the income tax expense was RMB11 million which decreased by
RMB7 million when compared to RMB18 million in 2020, mainly due to the
decrease in profit of water business segment.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Due to the reasons mentioned above, in 2021, the profit for the year was
RMB47 million, which increased by RMB30 million when compared to
RMB17 million in 2020.

OTHER FINANCIAL POSITIONS

As at 31 December 2021,
method of the Group amounted to RMB1,416 million compared to

investments accounted for using the equity

RMB651 million as at 31 December 2020. The increase was mainly due
to the following reasons. First, the Group acquired 31% equity interests
in Shannan Yalaxiangbu, at a consideration of RMB465 million in April
2021. Prior to the acquisition, the Group already held 9% equity interests
in Shannan Yalaxiangbu, which was accounted for as financial assets
at FVTOCI.
aggregate of 40% equity interests in Shannan Yalaxiangbu, and transferred

Upon completion of the acquisition, the Group owned an

the aggregate fair value of approximately RMB190 million from financial
assets at FVTOCI to investments accounted for using the equity method
in the consolidated statement of financial position. Second, in order to
further expand the sales channels of the Group’s water business, the
Group acquired 49% equity interests in Green Tiandi Marketing, at a
Third, the Group
acquired 20% equity interests in Tibet Life Water Marketing, at a

consideration of RMB50 million in December 2021.

consideration of RMB60 million in December 2021. After the acquisitions,
Green Tiandi Marketing and Tibet Life Water Marketing became associates
of the Group. Both Green Tiandi Marketing and Tibet Life Water Marketing
have good resources and advantages in e-commerce platform sales. Further
details of the acquisition of 31% equity interests in Shannan Yalaxiangbu
are set out in Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements on pages
232 to 245 of this Annual Report and the Company’s announcements
dated 30 March 2021 and 4 May 2021 respectively.
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As at 31 December 2021, financial assets at FVTOCI of the Group were nil
compared to RMB174 million as at 31 December 2020. The decrease was
due to the reason mentioned in the above paragraph.

As at 31 December 2021, financial assets at FVTPL of the Group amounted
to RMB2 million compared to RMB192 million as at 31 December 2020.
The decrease was mainly because the Group disposed of the investment
in structured financial products of RMB181 million and recognised the
unrealized fair value losses of unlisted equity investment of RMB9 million
in 2021.

As at 31 December 2021, net trade receivables of the Group amounted to
RMB255 million compared to RMB283 million as at 31 December 2020.
The decrease was mainly due to the increase in allowance for ECL of trade
receivables of RMB31 million.

The Group maintained regular contact with our major debtors through
meetings and telephone conversations and paid regular attention to public
information about our major debtors to understand the status of their
operations, their continuing business needs and the ways in which the
Group can improve its services. As at 31 December 2021, allowance for
ECL on trade receivables was RMB91 million (as at 31 December 2020:
RMB59 million).

As at 31 December 2021, prepayments of the Group amounted to
RMB138 million compared to RMB86 million as at 31 December 2020. The
increase was mainly due to the increase in prepayment for purchasing raw
materials.

As at 31 December 2021, other financial assets at amortised cost, net of
allowance for ECL of the Group amounted to RMB987 million compared
to RMB1,367 million as at 31 December 2020. As at 31 December 2021,
other financial assets at amortised cost mainly included the amounts due
from third parties amounting to RMB749 million, the amount due from an
associate company of RMB3 million, receivable on the proceeds on disposal
of structured financial assets of RMB190 million, which has been fully
settled as at the reporting date, and other receivables amounting to RMB73
million. As at 31 December 2021, allowance for ECL on other financial
assets at amortised cost amounted to approximately RMB28 million (as at
31 December 2020: RMB5 million).
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As at 31 December 2021,
million compared to RMB60 million as at 31 December 2020. The increase

inventories of the Group amounted to RMB91

was mainly attributable to an increase in raw materials inventories.

As at 31 December 2021, contract liabilities of the Group amounted to
RMB55 million compared to RMB17 million as at 31 December 2020.
The increase was mainly due to the increase in advances received from
customers of the sales of water and beer products of RMB38 million.

As at 31 December 2021, accruals and other payables of the Group
amounted to RMB167 million compared to RMB424 million as at 31
December 2020. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in
borrowings from a third party of RMB297 million, offset by the increase in
amount received from a third party of RMB31 million and the increase in
other payables of approximately RMB9 million.

As at 31 December 2021, the bank borrowings of the Group decreased by
RMB125 million, which was mainly because the repayment of principal of
bank borrowings amounting to RMB245 million in 2021 was offset by the
proceeds from bank borrowings amounting to RMB120 million in 2021.

As at 31 December 2021, the liability component of the Convertible Bonds
issued by the Company amounted to RMB276 million, and nil as at 31
December 2020, as the Company did not have any liability components
In March 2021,
Convertible Bonds with principal amount of approximately HK$380 million

of the Convertible Bonds. the Company issued the
(equivalent to RMB318 million) which borne an interest rate of 5.0% per
annum. Further details of the Convertible Bonds are set out in Note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements on pages 271 to 272 of this Annual
Report.
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EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2021, the total number of employees of the Group was
349 compared to 395 as at 31 December 2020. Relevant staff cost of the
Group was RMB64 million in 2021 (2020: RMB62 million).

The Group's remuneration policies are formulated according to the duty,
experience, ability and performance of individual employees and are
reviewed annually. In addition to basic salary, employees are entitled to
other benefits including social insurance contribution, employee provident
fund schemes and discretionary incentive. Other fringe benefits, training,
and share options, if applicable, are also considered by the Group to solicit/
retain loyal employees with the aim of forming a professional and united
staff and management team that can bring the Group to higher levels of
achievements.

The Group provided diversified on-the-job training in the production
plants based on the needs of the respective positions and talents of the
employees on a timely basis. The Group also encouraged the management
staff to participate in continuous professional development trainings
which are relevant to their professions. Apart from induction training,
the Company provides updates to the Directors and senior management
on the latest development regarding the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock (the “Listing Rules”) and other applicable
regulatory requirements from time to time, to ensure their compliance with
and to enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
These include attending in-house training, seminars, reading handouts,
newspapers, journals, the Group’s news, industry news, etc.

The Group adopted a share award scheme in 2017. Up to 31 December
2021, no share has been granted by the Group to any parties under the
share award scheme.

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio is calculated as borrowings (including bank borrowings,
liability component of convertible bonds and borrowings from third parties)
divided by total capital. The total capital is calculated as "equity” as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position plus borrowings
(including bank borrowings, liability component of convertible bonds and
borrowings from third parties). As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December
2020, the gearing ratios of the Group were 21.29% and 25.09%,

respectively.
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MERGER AND ACQUISITION

In 2021, the Group acquired 31% equity interests in Shannan Yalaxiangbu,
a company incorporated in the PRC with other limited liability, at a
consideration of RMB465 million. Prior to the acquisition, the Group
already held 9% equity interests in Shannan Yalaxiangbu. Upon completion
of the acquisition, the Group was interested in 40% equity interests in
Shannan Yalaxiangbu. The Group also acquired 49% equity interests
in Green Tiandi Marketing, a company incorporated in the PRC with
limited liability, at a consideration of RMB50 million and 20% equity
interests in Tibet Life Water Marketing, a company incorporated in the
PRC with limited liability, at a consideration of RMB60 million. After the
acquisitions, Shannan Yalaxiangbu, Green Tiandi Marketing and Tibet Life
Water Marketing became associates of the Group. Further details of the
acquisition of 31% equity interests in Shannan Yalaxiangbu are set out in
Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 232 to 245 of
this Annual Report and the Company’'s announcements dated 30 March
2021 and 4 May 2021 respectively.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

In 2021, the Group acquired PP&E of RMB6 million (2020: RMB9 million).
Regarding the future development and outlook of the Group, please refer
to the section headed “Outlook” in this “Management Discussion and
Analysis” section.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had committed to purchasing PP&E
of approximately RMB45 million (31 December 2020: RMB37 million), and
equity investment of RMB16 million (31 December 2020: RMB16 million).
The funding sources related to these commitments are expected to be
disbursed from the Group’s own capital.
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CHARGES (OR PLEDGES)

As at 31 December 2021,
RMB100 million and bank acceptance note of RMB75 million of the Group

(i) a bank loan with the principal amount of

were secured by the pledge of 35% of Tiandi Green's equity interest and
7% of Highland Natural Water's equity interests (31 December 2020: bank
loan with the principal amount of RMB290 million was secured by the
pledge of 35% of Tiandi Green's equity interest); (i) a bank loan with the
principal amount of RMB100 million (31 December 2020: RMB100 million)
of the Group was secured by the pledge of 15% of Highland Natural
Water's equity interests (31 December 2020: 15% of Highland Natural
Water's equity interest); (iii) a bank loan with the principal amount of
RMB150 million (31 December 2020: RMB150 million) of the Group was
secured by land use rights of a third party of the Group (31 December
2020: secured by land use rights of a third party of the Group); (iv) a bank
loan with the principal amount of RMB100 million (31 December 2020: nil)
of the Group was secured by the pledge of 20% of Shannan Yalaxiangbu's
equity interests; and (v) a bank loan with principal amount of RMB100
million (31 December 2020: RMB100 million) of the Group was secured
by the Group's factory plant with net book value of RMB49 million (31
December 2020: RMB62 million) and land use rights with net book value of
RMB12 million (31 December 2020: RMB27 million).

The bank acceptance notes amounting to RMB200 million (31 December
2020: RMB242 million) were guaranteed by bank deposits of RMB40
million (31 December 2020: RMB48 million).
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group provided financial guarantee net amounting to RMB280 million
to an associate as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: RMB170
million). The guarantee was provided for bank borrowings obtained by the
associate in the amount of RMB150 million and for bank acceptance note in
the net amount of RMB130 million as at 31 December 2021 (31 December
2020: RMB170 million bank borrowings). The period of the guarantee for
net amount RMB160 million is from 26 October 2021 to 25 October 2022.
The period of the remaining guarantee amounting to RMB120 million is
from 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2027.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group adopts a conservative approach to cash management and risk
control. The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of its business
transactions denominated in RMB. However, the Group is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from its cash exchange transactions, which
are primarily denominated in HKD. To mitigate the impact of exchange
rate fluctuations, the Group continually assesses and monitors its exposure
to foreign exchange risk. During 2021, management of the Group did not
consider it necessary to enter into any hedging transactions in order to
reduce the exposure to foreign exchange risk because the exposure, after
netting off the assets and liabilities subject to foreign exchange risk, was
not significant.

PRODUCTION CAPACITY

In 2021, the annual water production capacity and annual beer production
capacity are approximately 300,000 tonnes and 2,000,000 hectoliter
respectively, same as in 2020. The Group will assess its production capacity
periodically and consider increasing production capacity to meet the
demands of future development.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has adopted internal control measures to monitor the
continuous compliance with relevant laws and regulations such as the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the SFO, the Listing Rules and other rules
and regulations implemented in relevant jurisdictions. Also, as the Group’s
major subsidiaries are located in the PRC, relevant regulatory requirements
on the Group include PRC government policies and regulations towards
the mineral water industry, PRC laws and regulations on environmental
protection, PRC laws on regulation of manufacture and sales of general
food products, PRC taxes, regulation of foreign currency exchange and
dividend distribution, and other relevant PRC laws and regulations. During
the financial year ended 31 December 2021, as far as the Board is aware,
the Group has complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation
of the Group. The Group continues its commitment to comply with the
relevant laws and regulations.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

In order to maintain the quality and safety of our products, we have
established a “water protection zone” of 60 square kilometers around
our water source. No human activities are allowed in the most restricted
zone and the spring source has been secured in a fully enclosed facility to
prevent any potential contamination.

Our production facility generates and/or discharges wastes including waste
water, plastics, papers or air pollutants during the production activities.
We consider the protection of the environment to be of utmost importance
and have implemented procedures for waste storage, handling and/or
disposal. The Group aims to minimise the impact of our activities on the
environment and requires our staff to follow the same principle. We adhere
to the principles of low carbon emission, waste and emission reduction,
energy and cost saving and an overall environmentally friendly approach in
the way we operate.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Board believes in being people-oriented. The employees of the Group
are one of the most important assets of the Group and their contribution
and support are highly valued. The Group ensures staff are reasonably
remunerated with regular reviews on compensations and benefits policies
in accordance with the industry benchmark as well as the individual
performance of the employees. Other fringe benefits, training, employee
provident fund and share options, if applicable, are provided by the Group
to solicit/retain loyal employees with the aim of forming a professional and
united staff and management team that can bring the Group to higher
levels of achievements.

The Group seeks to maintain good relationship with its customers. The
Group maintains an after-sales call center to serve the end customers of
our products, and the sales personnel make regular visits and/or phone
calls to the regular distributors and sales outlets in the market. If there is
any complaint from customers, it will be reported to the management and
immediate remedial action will be taken. Thereafter, the cause of such
complaint will be studied, analysed and evaluated, and recommendations
will be made for future improvement.

The Group also seeks to maintain good relationship with its suppliers.
During the year, there was no dispute in debts or unsettled debts. In
addition, whenever the Group places orders, our suppliers are willing to
accept our orders.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Board is aware that the Group is exposed to various risks, including
some which are specific to the Group or the industry in which the Group
operates as well as others that are common to most businesses. The
Board has established a procedure to ensure that significant risks which
may adversely affect the Group’s performance and ability to deliver on its
strategies, as well as those which may present positive opportunities, are
identified, reported, monitored and managed on a continuous basis.

1. Risks relating to our industry

The Group could be affected by change in consumer preferences,
perception and spending patterns relating to bottled water and beer,
particularly premium bottled water and premium beer. The growth in
demand for bottled water products and beer products in the PRC has
been driven in part by the overall growth in the PRC economy and
disposable income of consumers. Any macroeconomic changes in the
PRC that adversely impact consumer consumption for the beverage
products could have a material adverse effect on our business and a
decline in the market share of our products.

The Group faces increasing competition from domestic and foreign
companies, which may affect our market share and profit margin. The
bottled water and beer industry in China is highly competitive, and
we expect competition to intensify. Our ability to compete is, to a
significant extent, dependent on our ability to distinguish our product
from those of our competitors by providing higher quality products
and services at reasonable prices that appeal to consumers’ tastes
and preferences. Some of our competitors may have longer operating
histories, may have substantially greater financial and other resources
and may be better established in certain markets.
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Risks relating to our Business

Our reliance on limited water source represents a risk to our business
if the mineral content and quality of the spring water from that
source are adversely affected due to changes in the surrounding
geological environment or contamination of the water source. In
order to maintain the quality and safety of our products, we have
established a “water protection zone” of 60 square kilometers
around our water source and also adhere to a strict quality control
system over all our operations.

As a premium products provider, we rely heavily on the product’s
brand names and our reputation to generate sales. Any event that
generates negative publicity for us could have an adverse effect on
the product’s brand names and our reputation, which in turn would
affect our ability to market and sell our products.

Our water products are bottled at water sources in Tibet, and our
beer products are also manufactured in Tibet. Our business may
be interrupted or otherwise affected if relevant transportation is
affected, and thus resulting in negative impact on our ability to
transport adequate raw materials to our production facilities and the
transportation of our products from Tibet.

Financial risks

The Group's activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk, cash flow and fair value interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the
Group's financial performance. Details are set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 30 June 2011 with net proceeds from the global offering of
approximately HKD1,472 million (including proceeds from the exercise of
over-allotment option and after deducting underwriting commissions and
related expenses). On 10 April 2013, the Company resolved to change the
usage of the net proceeds from the global offering. Please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 10 April 2013 for details. The revised
usage of the net proceeds has been allocated in the following manner:

As at As at

As at 31 December 31 December

31 December In 2021 2021 2021

Revised 2020 Utilized Utilized Unutilized
usage of Utilized net net net

net proceeds  net proceeds proceeds proceeds proceeds
i 2 B HW-BZ-F WoB--E

Fuke) T-R=t-H ZB2-% +ZA=t-B tZB=t-H
R EERN EERN EERN AEAN
FEAE  MEIERE ECECEE ) )t
HKD'Million GLOAVIIGAM ~ HKD'Million ~ HKD'Million  HKDMillion
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT

Expand our production capacity REREER R

by constructing additional REBMEREN

facilities and purchasing BREER

additional production equipment 133 133
Expand our distribution network REREAEHRER

and toward promotional activities SERERY 206 46
Mergers and acquisitions that RfEERARREERN

complement our existing BHENE

business 1,092 1,092
Working capital and other general AEEEELRAR-R

corporate purpose tERE 41 41

1,472 1,312
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As at 31 December 2021, the Group has utilized net proceeds amounting
to HKD133 million, HKD48 million, HKD 1,092 million and HKD41 million (i)
for expanding our production capacity, (ii) for expanding our distribution
network and toward promotional activities, (iii) for mergers and acquisitions
that complement our existing business, and (iv) as working capital and for
other general corporate purposes, respectively. The remaining net proceeds
were deposited in reputable financial institutions and are intended to be
applied towards expanding distribution network and towards promotional
activities in the coming financial years. The net proceeds were applied and
are to be applied according to the intentions disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 10 April 2013.

FINAL DIVIDEND

No dividend has been declared by the Company in respect of 2021 (2020:
nil).

OUTLOOK

Water Business Segment

The Group will continue to make full use of its existing advantages in
resources, sales channels and logistics network to solidify and strengthen
its important strategic position in the Tibetan water industry.

The Group will continue to invest significant resources to strengthen its
strategic cooperation efforts with Sinopec and PetroChina Company Limited
and leverage on the quality water sources and production advantages of
the two companies, Highland Natural Water and Shannan Yalaxiangbu, as
well as the brand influence and strong sales network of EASY JOY (%#E)
and uSmile Convenience Store (EmFEEFE), so that more customers
will be aware of and exposed to the Group's products.

The Group will strengthen its sales and logistics cooperation with different
key platforms such as JD.com to accelerate the development of the Group's
products in e-commerce channels, and the Group will also seek and
establish more strategic cooperation in emerging areas such as community
consumption to make the Group's sales model more diversified and enable
its products to reach more customers, so that good Tibetan water can
reach thousands of households and may more people drink better water.
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The Group will continue to maintain and develop the premium brand
positioning and brand advantages of “5100 Glacial Mineral Water”, and
continue to enhance its brand image and influence by combining marketing
and promotional activities with existing resources in key target channels
such as cinemas, hotels, airlines, e-commerce platforms, office and home
users.

Beer Business Segment

While stabilising and strengthening the development of the local Tibetan
market, the Group will increase its resources allocation in new product
research and development and channel development. The Group strives
to organically combine our specialty barley beers with Tibetan history and
culture, and take our products out of Tibet through cultural tourism and
the export of our specialty creative products to further enhance the market
exposure and recognition of our products. The Group believes that as the
impact of the pandemic subsides, our beer business segment will continue
to face strong market demand and bring new market opportunities for the
Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Please refer to Note 46 to the consolidated financial statements on page
292 of this Annual Report.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. YAN Qingjiang, aged 52, is an executive Director and the authorised
representative of the Company and was appointed to the Board on
27 May 2020. He is the chairman of the risk management committee
of the Company and a member of the nomination committee and the
remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Yan also serves as a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He was a director of Tibet
Galaxy Science & Technology Development Co., Ltd.* (FaiElif mRls R
e BBR AT, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock
code:000752.57) from March 2002 to September 2017, during which he
was the chairman of the board of directors from March 2002 to June 2017.

Mr. CHOW Wai Kit, aged 54, is an executive Director, the company
secretary and authorised representative of the Company and was appointed
to the Board with effect from 1 January 2022. He joined the Group in
February 2011.
of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Chow also serves as a director and company secretary

Mr. Chow has over thirty years of experience in corporate management,
corporate finance, financial management and accounting. Mr. Chow
began his career in the auditing profession and worked at Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu in Hong Kong from 1990 to 2000. After that, Mr. Chow was a
key financial officer of various listed companies for over seven years. From
2000 to 2002, Mr. Chow was registered with the Securities and Futures
Commission as an investment representative. From 2001 to 2002, he was
the qualified accountant and company secretary of International Capital
Network Holdings Limited (stock code: 8004). From 2003 to 2004, he was
the deputy general manager of Oriental Investment Corporation Limited
(stock code: 735, subsequently renamed as China Power New Energy
Development Company Limited). From 2005 to 2007, he was the qualified
accountant of Guangzhou Investment Company Limited (stock code: 123,
subsequently renamed as Yuexiu Property Company Limited). Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Chow was the project manager of Top Ease (H.K.)
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sociedade de Turismo e Diversdes de
Macau, S.A., from 2008 to 2011.
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Mr. Chow is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He
is also a fellow of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and
The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators). Mr. Chow obtained a master
degree in finance from the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology
University in 1999 and a professional diploma in company secretaryship

and administration from the Hong Kong Polytechnic in 1990.

Non-Executive Directors
Ms. JIANG Xiaohong, aged 64,
appointed to the Board on 1 March 2011.

is a non-executive Director and was
Ms. Jiang is also the legal
representative of our major subsidiary company, Tibet Glacier Mineral
Water Co. Ltd.,
equipment and production site management. She has over 31 years of

and is responsible for the operation, quality control,

experience in operational management. She graduated from Xinjiang
Vocational University (3188 T K&) with a diploma in Economic
Management, then from Jiangnan University (TEIAZ) (formerly known as
Wuxi University of Light Industry (588 T X&) with a diploma of Brewery
Engineering, and from Xinjiang University (¥738A2) with a diploma of
Analytical Chemistry.

Mr. XIE Kun, aged 43,
to the Board with effect from 1 January 2022. He obtained a bachelor’s
degree in economics from Chongging College of Commerce* (EEEZ
B%) (currently known as Chongging Technology and Business University) in
2000, and a master’'s degree in law from East China College of Political
Science and Law* (ZERBUEZZT) (currently known as East China University
of Political Science and Law) in 2003.

is a non-executive Director and was appointed
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Mr. Xie has served as the general manager of the legal and risk control
Ltd.
6806) since March 2020, and the general manager of the investment

department of Shenwan Hongyuan Group Co., (stock code:
management department of that company since May 2020. He has served
as a director of Xinjiang Tianshan Industrial Investment Fund Management
Co., Ltd.* (MBRILEXREEGERARLD
in the shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the

7)) (which has an interest

Company under Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance), since
June 2020, and a director of Hongyuan Huifu Capital Co., Ltd.* (RIRE
BRIERE AR A since July 2020. Prior to this, Mr. Xie worked in the
legal affairs department of the Shanghai management headquarter of
(ERBHFBEREER
to May 2007. He had served at different positions ranging from senior

Hengtai Securities Limited* A]) from January 2004
manager of the risk management department, senior manager of the
legal and compliance department, assistant to general manager of legal
and compliance headquarter to deputy general manager of the legal and
(RIREFBINB
fE A 7A]) from May 2007 to May 2015. He had also served as an employee

compliance department of Hongyuan Securities Co., Ltd.*

representative supervisor of Shenwan Hongyuan Group Co., Ltd. from May
2015 to May 2021, and the general manager of the legal and risk control
department of that company from May 2015 to February 2017. He had
served as the deputy director (headquarter general manager level) of the
compliance and risk management center cum general manager of the legal
and compliance headquarter, and the general manager of the internal
review and appraisal headquarter cum manager of the review and appraisal
department of Shenwan Hongyuan Securities Co., Ltd.* (E&ZREHFAR
7~ 7)) from February 2017 to March 2020.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. TANG Zeping, aged 64, joined the Group and was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 March 2020. He is a member of
the audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration committee
of the Company.

He obtained a bachelor degree in engineering from XiZang Agriculture
and Animal Husbandry College* (FEigl 42 Ft) in 1983. He completed the
Advanced Training Course for Modern Entrepreneurs* CGERM¥R SRk
FI3E) at the Graduate School of Chinese Academy of Social Sciences (F El
HERIERME L) through distance learning in 1992 and the Advanced
Studies Course for New Era Bankers* ("#TERMIETR" = HIHEH)
at Tsinghua University in 2017. Mr. Tang was qualified as an assistant
mechanical engineer in the PRC in 1986 and a mechanical engineer in
1988 in Qamdo, Tibet Autonomous Region, the PRC. He was qualified as
a certified assets manager in the PRC in 2010 and an affiliate member of
the Association of International Accountants in 2012. In addition, Mr. Tang
had previously served as an arbitrator at the Lhasa Arbitration Commission*
(NEFHZ B E) and was selected by the SME Administration of the
Economic Commission for the Tibet Autonomous Region* (Fajl B 8 RAEER
/) in 2008 as an expert for the SME Development Project Expert
Database* (F/NEEBERBEEFEERE).
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Mr. Tang was (i) the chairman of the board of directors of Tibet
Autonomous Region State-owned Asset Management Company* (FajEi 58
BE B EELZE DA, (i) the chairman of the board of supervisors of Tibet
Pearl Star Co., Ltd.* (FEEAKMDERZAF]) (currently known as Meihua
Holdings Group Co., Ltd.* (HEEEWRIHEEBRHBERAF)), a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600873.5H), from April
2000 to 2004, (iii) a director of Sichuan Youli Investment Holding Co.,
Ltd.* (PR A% & R 4 B R A 8) (currently known as Jiangsu Hagong
Intelligent Robot Co., Ltd.* (T&iM T & scies ARRD AR A)), a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000584.5Z), from
June 2002 to June 2014, (iv) a director of Tibet Urban Development and
Investment Co., Ltd.* (AEMTERRERMER LT, a company listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600773.SH), from July 2009
to July 2012, (v) the vice chairman of the board of supervisors of Bank
of Tibet Co., Ltd.* (FERITIRMHBRAF]), from May 2012 to December
2017, and (vi) a director of Tibet Tourism Co., Ltd.* (FERBERMNDER
A7), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600749.5H), from June 2013 to May 2018.

Currently, Mr. Tang is the chairman of the supervisory board of Tianfu
Mercantile Exchange Co., Ltd.* (KIS RR ZFBER A A, the chairman of
the board of supervisors of Tibet Treasure of Plateau Yak Dairy Co., Ltd*
(EERZEREFIAERMARAR) and a director of each of Lianzhong
Peer Health Technology Co., Ltd.* (BRETRERERHBERAF) and
Shenzhen Soft Magnetic Technology Co., Ltd.* (FIITTREHERIMAR L
Al).
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. DAl Yang, aged 53, joined the Group and was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 27 May 2020. He is the chairman
of the remuneration committee of the Company and a member of the
audit committee, nomination committee and risk management committee
of the Company. Mr. Dai has successively served as deputy chief officer,
chief officer, deputy division director, deputy director and director of
the Supervision Department of Listed Companies of the Tibet Securities
Regulatory Bureau of the China Securities Regulatory Commission during
the period of October 2000 to December 2008. Further, Mr. Dai was (i) a
general manager of Tibet Mineral Development Co.,Ltd.* (FEE%EER
AR AF) (stock code: 000762.5Z) from January 2009 to February 2015;
(i) director of Tibet Mineral Development Co.,Ltd.* (FERBEEERN AR
2 d]) (stock code: 000762.5Z) from June 2009 to September 2017, during
which he was the vice-chairman and chairman of the board of directors
from July 2009 to February 2015 and from February 2015 to September
2017 respectively; and (iii) a director of Hainan Haide Industry Co.,Ltd.* (/&
MAEEERMABERAR) (stock code: 000567.5Z) from May 2018 to March
2019, during which he was the chairman and vice-chairman of the board
of directors from May 2018 to October 2018 and from October 2018 to
March 2019 respectively. Since August 2019, Mr. Dai is an independent
director of Yunnan Baiyao Group Co., Ltd* (EE@HZEEERMNERELD
A]) (stock code: 000538.57). Since April 2021, Mr. Dai is an independent
director of Wondershare Technology Co., Ltd (BER K EBIRMH AR A R)
(stock code: 300624.57).

Mr. Lo Wai Hung, aged 62, joined the Group and was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 28 September 2021. He is
the chairman of the audit committee and nomination committee of
the Company and a member of the remuneration committee and risk
management committee of the Company. He obtained a bachelor’s degree
in Commerce from James Cook University of North Queensland, Australia in
1985. Mr. Lo is an associate member of Chartered Accountants in Australia
and New Zealand and a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Lo has over 25 years of experience in auditing,
finance and management.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. Lo is an independent non-executive director of Talent Property Group
Limited (stock code: 760), Shandong Weigao Group Medical Polymer
Company Limited (stock code: 1066), C Cheng Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1486), and China New Town Development Company Limited (stock
code: 1278), and is a non-executive director of SY Holdings Group Limited
(formerly known as Sheng Ye Capital Limited) (stock code: 6069). Mr.
Lo was an independent non-executive director of Lerthai Group Limited
(formerly known as LT Commercial Real Estate Limited) (stock code: 112)
during March 2017 to November 2018. All the aforementioned companies
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
Mr. Lo was also an independent director of China Merchant Property
Development Co. Ltd.* since 2011 and the shares of which were ceased
from listing on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 30 December 2015.

Chief Executive Officer

Mr. WANG Dong, aged 56, was appointed as executive Director on 29 May
2017 and further appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company
on 18 August 2017. He retired as an executive Director on 30 June 2020.
Mr. Wang graduated with a bachelor of laws degree at Xinjiang University.
He obtained a master degree in engineering at Wuhan University and an
EMBA degree at the South China University of Technology.

Mr. Wang is qualified as a lawyer of the PRC since 1989, a senior
economist of the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China since 2001 and
a practitioner of the Asset Management Association of China since 2016.
He also received the "Qualification as an independent director of listed
companies” from the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in 2016.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

From 1987 to 2012, Mr. Wang worked in the provincial branch office as
well as the case management department of the headquarters and the
regional branch office of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited.
During the aforesaid period, he served as the department head of the case
management department of the headquarters, general manager of the
legal affairs department of the provincial branch office, general manager of
the risk management department of the provincial branch office, general
manager of the regional branch office, as well as the president of the
regional urban finance society and regional banking industry association.
In August 2012, Mr. Wang served as the head of the legal compliance
department at the headquarters of Guangdong Nanyue Bank and a
member of the law committee of the Banking Association of Guangdong.
From September 2016 to August 2018, Mr. Wang was the director and
chief executive officer of Xinjiang Tianshan Industrial Investment Fund
Management Co., Ltd..

So far as the Company is aware, none of the Directors and the chief
executive officer of the Company has any relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship) with each other.

* for identification purpose only
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The Board now presents this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s
annual report for the year under review.,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is firmly committed to achieving and maintaining high standards
of corporate governance practices to enhance shareholders’ value and
safequard shareholders’ interests. Accordingly, the Board has considered
carefully the requirements of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code"”) set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules and as described
below, has taken actions to further enhance corporate transparency and
accountability.

The Board believes good corporate governance is one of the critical factors
for achieving sustainable long-term success. The corporate governance
principles of the Company emphasize on the importance of a quality
Board and its accountability to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). The Board regularly reviews the corporate governance
practices to ensure compliance with the principles and code provisions as
set out from time to time in the CG Code and strive to maintain the long-
term healthy development of the Company.

No incident of non-compliance with the code provisions of the CG Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2021 has been noted by the
Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board leads and supervises the overall direction and development
of the Group’s business and affairs, with the objective of enhancing
Shareholders’ value including making and approving the Company's
strategic implementation, considering substantial investments, reviewing
the Group’s financial performance and developing and reviewing the
Group's policies and practices on corporate governance. The Directors
are responsible for, and has also delegated to the chief executive officer
the authority and responsibility to oversee the day-to-day management
and operation of the Group. In addition, the Board has established four
Board committees and has delegated to these Board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of references.

Board Composition and Diversity

The Board currently comprises of seven Directors, comprising two executive
Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors. The Board is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising the Group’s affairs.
The Board has a balance of appropriate skill, experience and diversity of
perspectives to meet the requirements of the Group’s business.

Executive Directors
Mr. YAN Qingjiang
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit

Non-executive Directors
Ms. JIANG Xiaohong
Mr. XIE Kun

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. TANG Zeping

Mr. DAI Yang

Mr. LO Wai Hung
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There are four Board committees in the Company. The table below provides
the current constituents of each of the committees.

AREEEERIMNMEEES - TREHS
EZeNERREELZERMEENRE
fi o

Risk

Audit Nomination Remuneration  Management

Committee Committee Committee Committee

ENEES REEEE FMZEE REREEZES

Mr. YAN Qingjiang BETEE = Member Member Chairman

(executive Director) (RTEE) = 28 B

Mr. TANG Zeping EEYEE Member Member Member —
(independent non-executive Director) (BAFTES) 25 =) 25

Mr. DAl Yang FHEE Member Member Chairman Member

(independent non-executive Director) (BMNFERTES) = =) *E =

Mr. LO Wai Hung ERELE Chairman Chairman Member Member

(independent non-executive Director) (B IEHTER) e ES 28 28

The list of Directors and their role and function is available at the
Company's and the Stock Exchange's websites. Their profiles are set out in
the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” which is
on pages 36 to 45 of this Annual Report.

The Company has seven Directors, of which three are independent non-
executive Directors, in compliance with the requirements under Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules.

On 30 June 2021, the Board noted that following the retirement of Mr.
HUNG Ka Hai Clement as an independent non-executive Director with
effect from the conclusion of the 2021 annual general meeting, the
number of independent non-executive Directors has fallen below the
minimum number required under Rule 3.10(1). Following the appointment
of Mr. LO Wai hung as an independent non-executive Director and a
member (now the chairman) of the audit committee of the Company on
28 September 2021, the Board includes at least three independent non-
executive Directors, at least one of whom has appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise (the
“Qualification”), and the audit committee of the Company comprises
three members, at least one of whom is an independent non-executive
Director with the Qualification. Therefore, the Company has met the
requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.
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The Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy in 2013 which sets out the
approach to diversify the Board. Under the said Policy, the Nomination
Committee of the Company reviews and assesses Board composition on
behalf of the Board and recommends the appointment of a new Director
when necessary. In suggesting the Board's composition, the Nomination
Committee of the Company considers a number of aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
Nomination Committee of the Company will also consider factors based
on the Group's business model and specific needs from time to time in
determining the optimum composition of the Board.

The profile of our current Board members are as follows:
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Chairman and Chief Executive

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. Following his retirement as a non-
executive Director on 30 June 2021, Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI ceased to be
the chairman of the Board. The office of Chief Executive of the Company
is assumed by Mr. Wang Dong. Although the office of the Chairman is
temporarily vacant, the Chairman’s primary responsibilities, including
deciding on the meeting schedule and agenda, formulating Board policies,
ensuring Board effectiveness, promoting the Company and upholding the
Company's corporate governance standards, were basically assumed by
the executive Director(s) temporarily. The Chief Executive has delegated
authority from the Board and is responsible for managing the Group's
business, including the implementation of the strategies and initiatives
adopted by the Board.

TERITHRAR
ELEERTAEA2ITIEXT » £/F
RITBBHENACEZTE2SRNTEAER
—EAABIT - RZE=-—FA=1HEMFE
FATEEE BEREETERETESZS
FE o ARRTHASHBEREELE - #
AEF—BERET BEXFIZNEES
BATEZRERLERE HEEFTENE
R BREFGHRN  EERAARRFA
AR CEE R HEDERHANTES
TRRIT - THRBEESSREASTER
SEEY  BEHNTEZTSRMOEEKLE
Bt

BHKERARAF | FH 2021

[N

>



=D

Y

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

Operation of the Board

All the executive Directors are responsible for dealing with the business
of the Group in accordance with all applicable rules and regulations,
including, but not limited to, the Listing Rules. All Directors (including non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors) have been
consulted on major and material matters of the Group.

The Board supervises the management of the business and affairs of the
Group, including convening Shareholders’ meetings, reporting their work
in the Shareholders’ meeting, implementing the Shareholders’ resolutions,
determining the Group's business plans and strategies, formulating the
Group’s annual budget and final accounts, formulating proposals for
dividend and bonus distribution, and determining duties as conferred
to it by the Articles of Association of the Company. In discharging its
responsibilities, the Board meets and communicates regularly and acts in
good faith, with due diligence and care.

The Board meets regularly to review financial information, material
investments in new projects, dividend policy, major financings, treasury
policies and changes in accounting policies, where applicable. All Directors
have access to Board papers and related materials which are provided in a
timely manner. Directors have access to the advice and services provided
by the legal consultants of the Company and/or the company secretary of
the Company (the “"Company Secretary”) with a view to ensuring that
the procedures applicable to Board meetings, and all applicable rules and
regulations, are followed. Draft and final versions of the minutes of Board
meetings and Board committee meetings, drafted in sufficient detail by
the secretary of the meetings, would be circulated to the Directors for
their comments and record. Originals of such minutes, being kept by the
Company Secretary, are open for inspection at any time upon a reasonable
notice period given by any Director.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the
Board which the Board determines to be material, the relevant Director will
abstain from voting on the relevant Board resolution in which he/she or
any of his/her associates have a material interest and that he/she shall not
be counted in the quorum present at the Board meeting.
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Under the respective appointment letters, the current non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a
period of three years unless terminated in accordance with the terms of the
appointment letters. Their appointment may be terminated either by the
Company or by the Director by giving three months’ written notice to the
other party. All the current non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the coming annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with
the Articles of Association of the Company. The Company has received
from each independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation of
his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of its independent non-executive Directors independent.

At each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) will retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years.

The Board believes that the balance between executive and non-executive
Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide sufficient checks and
balances that safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and the
Group. The non-executive Directors provide the Group with diversified
knowledge, expertise and experience. Their views and participation in
Board bring independent judgement and advice on issues relating to the
Group's strategies, performance, conflicts of interest and management
process, and ensure that the interests of all Shareholders are taken into
account. One of the independent non-executive Directors possess the
appropriate professional accounting qualifications or related financial
management expertise, which meets the requirements under the Listing
Rules. The opinions raised by the independent non-executive Directors in
Board meetings facilitate the maintenance of good corporate governance
practices.
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Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional Development

On appointment to the Board, each newly appointed Director will receive a
comprehensive induction package and training provided by the Company’s
external legal advisor, covering business operations, policy and procedures
of the Company as well as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations
of being a Director to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/
her responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory

requirements.

The Company updates Directors on the latest development regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from time
to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices. The Directors are regularly briefed on the
amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In
addition, the Company and the Company Secretary have been encouraging
the Directors and other management to enroll in a wide range of
professional development courses and seminars relating to the Listing
Rules, Companies Ordinance/laws and corporate governance practices
organized by professional bodies, independent auditor and/or chambers in
Hong Kong so that they can continuously update and further improve their
relevant knowledge and skills.

From time to time, Directors are provided with written materials to
develop and refresh their professional skills. The Company Secretary also
coordinates, organizes and arranges materials/seminars on the latest
development of applicable laws, rules and regulations for the Directors to
assist them in discharging their duties. During the year, seminar materials,
articles and updates relating to the latest development of the Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements have been provided to
Directors.

In addition, all Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Group's
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and
each Director to discharge their duties.
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According to the information provided by Directors and records
maintained by the Company, the Directors have each received training
with an emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a director of a
listed company in compliance with the requirement of the CG Code on

continuous professional development during the year:
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Types of training

IR
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. YAN Qingjiang BEILE A, B
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit BREERE €
(appointed with effect from 1 January 2022) (*&Q:%::E—ﬂ —HBER)
Mr. YUE Zhigiang (retired on 30 June 2021) EEREE(RZT—FHA=THRMT) A B
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. JIANG Xiaohong R L+ A B
Mr. XIE Kun HEETE €
(appointed with effect from 1 January 2022) (EEA-ZE-—F—F—Bi4E%)
Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI (retired on 30 June 2021)  BIREE(RZZT=—FA=+HREE) A B
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. TANG Zeping BT A, B
Mr. DAl Yang BHEE A, B
Mr. LO Wai Hung ERELE A B, C
(appointed on 28 September 2021) (RZEZ—FNAZT\BEZME)
Mr. HUNG Kai Hai Clement HEELE A B

(retired on 30 June 2021)

(RZTBZ—FRA=1+HEMH)

A: attending training and/or seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

B: reading seminar handouts, newspapers, journals, the Group’s news, industry news

and updates relating to the ongoing compliance obligations, corporate governance

and other related topics, etc.

C: a comprehensive induction package and training provided by the Company's

external legal advisor

A HEEIRRBER/ XEER LinE

B: HEWHENY B®E- BT AKENE
A TEEARERSEAREL  0XE
AREMERRENSNEES

C: WA-DE2EZARENRAARRFINEEL
REREEMNE
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Delegation by the Board

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to the
management of the Company. The Board and the management have their
clearly defined authorities and responsibilities under various internal control
and check and balance mechanisms. The Board delegates matters to the
Board committee(s), executive Directors or management to the extent that
the ability of the Board as a whole to perform its functions would not be
significantly hindered or reduced.

There is a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the Board
for its consideration and delegation. The Board has given clear directions
to management as to matters that must be approved by the Board before
decisions can be made on behalf of the Company.

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties and to facilitate effective
management, certain functions of the Board have been delegated by the
Board to the Audit Committee (the “Audit Committee”), Nomination
Committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and Remuneration Committee
(the "Remuneration Committee”) of the Company which were
established with written terms of references in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The adopted terms of references comply with the code provisions as
set out from time to time in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. Furthermore,
the Board has also set up a Risk Management Committee (the “Risk
Management Committee”) for the main purpose of formulating policies
and making recommendations to improve the Company’s internal control
and risk management systems.

Each board committee is required to report to the Board on its decisions
and recommendations, where appropriate. Each board committee is also
provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access to
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense according to
the Company’s policy, if necessary.
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee meets at least twice per annum, according to its

terms of reference. Its key responsibilities include:

a)

to make a recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and
where applicable, to handle any questions relating to the resignation
or dismissal of the external auditor;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standard;

to monitor the integrity of financial statements of the Company and
the Company's annual report, interim report and related financial
results (if prepared for publication), and to review significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them; and

to review the Company’s financial control, internal control and risk
management system.

All three Audit Committee members (including the Chairman) are

independent non-executive Directors. The Chairman of the Audit

Committee possesses the relevant financial management expertise and

experience. The committee members, together with our external auditor,

met four times during 2021 and discharged their principal responsibilities

by:

a)

reviewing the interim results and final results of the Group and the
relevant financial statements and reports and significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them prior to the approval by
the Board and reviewing the external auditor's report and findings
relating to the work that has been performed;

making a recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment
of the external auditor, approving the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, and where applicable, handling
any questions relating to the retirement of the external auditor;
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c)  reviewing the external auditor’s audit plan and terms of engagement
for the work performed,;

d)  reviewing the independence and objectivity of the external auditor,
and the service fee payable to the external auditor; and

e) reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control systems of the
Group including financial control, operational control, compliance
control and risk management.

Nomination Committee
Its key responsibilities include:

a)  to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board
on a regular basis and make recommendations to the Board on any
proposed changes;

b) to recommend to the Board on matters relating to the selection,
appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors;

c)  to ensure sufficient biographical details of the nominated candidates
are provided to the Board and Shareholders (when necessary) for
them to make decisions regarding the selection of Board members;
and

d) to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.

All Board appointment will be based on meritocracy and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
the diversity of the Board. The Board has adopted a board diversity policy
which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. Accordingly,
selection of candidates to the Board will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience and qualifications, skills,
knowledge and length of service, having due regard to the Company’s own
business model and specific needs from time to time. Taking into account
the Company's corporate strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity needed in the future, the Nomination Committee
is comfortable with the existing structure, size, composition and diversity
of the Board.
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The Nomination Committee will ask proposed candidates to submit the
necessary personal information in a prescribed form. The Nomination
Committee may request candidates to provide additional information and
documents, if considered necessary. The appointment of any proposed
candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any existing members of the
Board shall be made in accordance with the Articles of Association of the
Company and other applicable rules and regulations.

Two meetings have been held by the Nomination Committee during 2021
and the following work has been satisfactorily concluded:

a)  reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board;

b) assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;

c)  ensuring sufficient biographical details of the nominated candidates
are provided to the Board for them to make decisions regarding the
selection of Board members; and

d) recommending the Board on matters relating to the selection,
appointment or reappointment of Directors.

Remuneration Committee
Its key responsibilities include:

a) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s overall
policy and structure on the remuneration of Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing such remuneration policy;

b)  to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors
and senior management for any loss of office or appointment to
ensure that such compensation is consistent with the contractual
terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive; and

c)  to review and approve performance-based remuneration by reference
to the corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time
to time.
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TEERES
During 2021, the Remuneration Committee has met two times and
considered, reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the

remuneration package of all the Directors (including the nominated
candidates) and senior management.

Risk Management Committee
Its key responsibilities include:

a) to review and assess the effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management systems, and propose changes thereto, to identify,
measure, manage and/or control risks;

b)  to discuss the risk management system with management to ensure
that management has performed its duty to maintain an effective risk
management system;

c)  to consider major investigation findings on risk management matters
as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and management'’s
response to these findings; and

d) to formulate policies and make recommendations to improve the
Company'’s internal control and risk management systems.

During 2021,
consider and review the existing internal control system. Management’s

the Risk Management Committee has met once to

recommendations on financial management function were discussed,
considered and adopted to improve the effectiveness of the internal control
and risk management systems.
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The composition of the Board and the Board members’ respective
attendance in Board meetings, general meeting, the Audit Committee
meetings, the Nomination Committee meetings, the Remuneration
Committee meetings and the Risk Management Committee meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2021 were as follows:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERHE
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No. of meetings attended/held

BitE/BrEdYE

General
Board Meeting

Risk

Management

Audit ~ Nomination Remuneration ~ Committee
Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee BREE

gzg REAE& EHZEE REZEE  HMZEE zE8

Executive Directors UnES
Mr. YAN Qingjiang BRILE 1010 22 = - - 10
Mr. YUE Zhigiang b

(retired on 30 June 2021) (RZB_-£RA=TREM) 33 o - - - -
Non-executive Directors FTES
Ms. JIANG Xiaohong ZEILT 1010 0n - - - -
Mr. Kevin Cheng WE| i

(retired on 30 June 2021) (R=B--FExA=tHEL) 3f3 1 — — - -
Independent Non-executive Directors B EH7EE
Mr. TANG Zeping BETLA 6/10 W1l 4/4 17 17 -
Mr. DAI Yang gkt 10110 22 4/4 22 22 1
Mr. LO Wai Hung ERETE

(appointed on 28 September 2021) (RZEZ-ENAZT\BEZf) 4/4 - - i i -
Mr. HUNG Ka Hai Clement ARERE

(retired on 30 June 2021) (RZE--FxR=THRA) 33 17 W) — — 111
Average attendance rate THHEE 92.4% 72.7% 100% 80% 80% 100%

During the year under review, the Chairman of the Company has held a
meeting with independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
other Directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board has undertaken and adopted the responsibility for performing
the corporate governance duties pursuant to the CG Code and is
committed to ensuring that an effective governance structure is in place
to continuously review, monitor and improve the corporate governance
practices within the Group with regard to the prevailing legal and
regulatory requirements.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the policies and practices on the
Group's corporate governance, developed a code of conduct applicable
to the Directors and employees, monitored the Company's legal and
regulatory compliance, organized training and continuing professional
development for Directors and management and reviewed the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and the disclosures in this Annual Report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board in
discharge of its corporate governance function.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound, adequate
and effective internal control system of the Group. Our internal control
system includes a well-defined management structure with limits of
authority which is designed for the achievement of business objectives,
safeqguarding assets against unauthorized use or disposition, ensuring
proper maintenance of books and records for the provision of reliable and
timely financial information for internal use or publication, and ensuring
compliance with relevant laws and regulations. In addition, the Group has
established risk management procedures to identify and prioritize risks for
the business to be addressed by management.

The systems of internal control are designed to manage, rather than
eliminate, business risk; to help safeguard the Group's assets against
fraud and other irregularities; and to give reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material financial misstatement or loss. In addition, it
should provide a basis for the maintenance of proper and fair accounting
records and assist in the compliance with relevant rules and regulations.

During the year, no incident of serious fraud or misconduct was reported
from employees that had a material effect on the Company’s financial
position and overall operations.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board has supervised and
engaged an independent professional to carry out an annual review of the
effectiveness of the internal control system and has received a confirmation
from management on the effectiveness and adequacy of the system during
the Reporting Period.

The Company has no internal audit function because the Company
has maintained an internal control system. The Audit Committee, Risk
Management Committee and the Board understood and reviewed the
implementation of the system and considered that it is effective. The Audit
Committee has communicated with external auditor of the Company to
understand if there any material internal control deficiency noted during
the audit process. Nevertheless, the Company will review the need for an
internal audit function on an annual basis.

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information: (i) the Company conducts its affairs
with close regard to the "Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information”
issued by the Securities and Futures Commission; (ii) the Board and
senior management are responsible for identifying and assessing inside
information; (iii) the Board, senior management and any relevant persons
who might have access to inside information must take reasonable due care
for safeguarding the confidentiality of unpublished inside information; and
(iv) the Board is responsible for ensuring timely, fair and comprehensive
dissemination of inside information and may seek independent professional
advice if and when appropriate to ensure that the Company can timely
comply with the disclosure requirements.

MANAGEMENT FUNCTION

The management team of the Company meets reqularly to review and
discuss with the executive Directors on day-to-day operational matters,
financial and operating performance as well as to monitor and ensure that
the management is properly carrying out the directions and strategies pre-
determined by the Board.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, all
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the requirements set out
in the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for keeping proper
accounting books and records and overseeing the preparation of accounts
for each financial year/period which give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group as at the end of the financial
year/period and the profit and loss for the year/period. The Directors
have adopted applicable International Financial Reporting Standards in
all material respects, selected appropriate accounting policies and then
applied them consistently, and have made judgments and estimates that
they believe to be fair and reasonable. The Directors use a going concern
basis in preparing the accounts unless it is not applicable.

The Board acknowledges that a clear, balanced and timely presentation
of financial information is crucial in maintaining the confidence of
Shareholders in the Company. Reasonable disclosure of the Company's
financial position and prospects are provided in the reports. Annual and
interim results are published within three and two months after the end of
the relevant financial year/period, respectively.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the
section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” on pages 91 to 99 of this

Annual Report.

DIRECTORS' AND OFFICERS' LIABILITY INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY
PROVISION

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
Insurance for its Directors and officers covering the costs, losses, expenses
and liabilities arising from the performance of their duties. The insurance
policy is reviewed on an annual basis ensuring adequate covers on potential
legal action against its Directors and officers arising from the performance
of their duties and to comply with the requirement of the CG Code. During
the year, no claim was made against the Directors and officers of the
Company.
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Article 164(1) of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that
the Directors or other officers of the Company shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any
of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty provided
that the indemnity shall not be extended to any matter in respect of any
fraud or dishonesty which may be attached to the relevant Director or
officer of the Company.

SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for effective
communication with Shareholders. The Chairman of the Board and
the Board Committees, or in his absence, fellow Directors and other
management members will be made available to answer questions at the
general meetings.

Extensive information about the Group's activities is provided in this Annual
Report, the interim report and circulars which are sent to Shareholders in
a timely manner and are made available on the Company’s website (www.
twr1115.net). Our website serves as a communication platform where
company information including corporate profile, corporate governance
materials, announcements, circulars, business news and financial reports
are made available to the public. All Shareholders are encouraged to attend
the annual general meeting of the Company to understand the business
of the Group from the Directors and senior management in the general
meeting.

The forthcoming annual general meeting (“2022 AGM") would be
convened at later time because of the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic in
Hong Kong. The Board would monitor how the current situation develops
in order to better suggest how to manage the potential health risks of
a physical meeting and also to decide the appropriate time schedule to
convene the 2022 AGM. Once the situation allows, the notice of the 2022
AGM will then be dispatched to all Shareholders not less than twenty
clear business days beforehand. At the 2022 AGM, the Board will demand
for a poll and the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar will be
appointed as the scrutineer for the vote-taking.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, an extraordinary general
meeting shall be convened on the written requisition of any one or more
members of the Company deposited at the registered office specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by such Shareholders, provided that
such Shareholders held at the date of deposit of the written requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company as at the
date of deposit which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the
date of deposit of the requisition duly proceed to convene the meeting,
the Shareholders themselves may convene the general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as those meetings which may be convened
by the Directors, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the Shareholders
as a result of the failure of the Directors in convening the said meeting
shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to move new resolutions
at general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law or the
Articles of Association of the Company. Shareholders who wish to move
a resolution may request the Company to convene a general meeting
following the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph. As regards
the nomination of a person as a Director, please refer to the procedures
available on the website of the Company.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board by mail in writing to the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Unit D, 23" Floor, United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty,
Hong Kong.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall consider a
number of conditions and factors and maintain adequate cash reserves for
meeting its working capital requirements and future business development.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year, there had been no change to the Company’s constitutional
documents.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chow Wai Kit is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and was appointed on a full-time basis as the
Company Secretary. During the year ended 31 December 2021, Mr. Chow
has taken not less than 15 hours of appropriate professional training to
update his skills and knowledge as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules. Mr. Chow reports to the Chairman/Board on Board governance
matters and is responsible for ensuring that Board policies and procedures
are followed. All Board members have access to the Company’s legal
consultant’s and his advice and services. He arranges the comprehensive
and tailored induction program for new Directors prior to their
appointment and provides timely updates to the Directors on relevant new
legislation or regulatory requirements. Director training has been organized
on a regular basis by the Company Secretary to assist Directors’ continuous
professional development.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

Following the retirement of HLB as auditor of the Company at the
conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company on 30 June
2021, HLB has been re-appointed as the auditor of the Company with
effect from the conclusion of the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 11 August 2021 to hold office until the conclusion of
the next annual general meeting of the Company. The Audit Committee
is mandated to review and monitor the independence of the auditor
to ensure objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process of the
financial statements in accordance with applicable standards. Members of
the Audit Committee were of the view that the Company’s auditor, HLB,
is independent and recommended to the Board to re-appoint it as the
Company's auditor at the 2022 AGM. For the year, the fees paid/payable
to the Company’s auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided to the Group are set out below:

SN LM

EEBN T —FXA=ZTRAREKRRE
BAERGERERERDRZEENEL - BEE
EEBRAZERRATGZEM BT ——
FNAT—BARRABRRENIAGERKEL
Mo EHEEARE TERREAFAGH

Rt - BERZEQERERBERTERRN
REBZEMO BT - UHERETBES
PBBENEBIERBRE - BEREZ B G
BRR ARAREMBGEBELAL I
RMEFSELESE R_T__FRRAF
RE LERBEA/ARAGEE - FA - A2
AR AR ERHE c EZLIFEZR
BHOEN,/ BN BREAFIMT -

ERRG
FEZR

Audit services
Non-audit services

2021 2020
—B=-F —ZT_TF
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARETTT
1,779

1,779
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

To ensure investors have a better understanding of the Group, our
management is pro-active in its investor relations initiatives. Our Directors,
management team and the investor relations officers communicate with
research analysts and institutional investors on an on-going basis after
our results announcements and participate in non-deal roadshows to
communicate the Company's financial performance and business strategy.

Disclaimer

The contents of this section headed “Shareholders’ Rights” are for
reference and disclosure compliance purposes only. The information does
not represent and should not be regarded as legal or other professional
advice from the Company to the Shareholders. Shareholders should seek
their own independent legal or other professional advice as to their rights
as Shareholders. The Company disclaims all liabilities and losses incurred
by its Shareholders in reliance on any contents of this section headed
“Shareholders’ Rights”.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

The Directors are delighted to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements on page 108 of this Annual Report. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the financial
year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 is
set out in the sections headed “Letter to Shareholders” and “Management
Discussion & Analysis” on pages 8 to 13 and pages 16 to 35 of this Annual
Report respectively. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties
faced by the Group are set out in the “Management Discussion & Analysis”
section and Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements on page 31 to
32 and pages 184 to 204 of this Annual Report, respectively.

In addition, discussions on the Group's environmental policies and
performance, compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have
a significant impact on the Group and an account of the Group's key
relationships with its employees, customers and suppliers are set out in the
“Management Discussion & Analysis” section on pages 29 to 30 of this

Annual Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement
of comprehensive income on pages 100 to 101 of this Annual Report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year 2021.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 15 of this Annual Report.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements during the year in the land use rights and PP&E
of the Group are set out in Notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively on pages 223 to 227 of this Annual Report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 272 of this Annual Report.

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of bank borrowings as at 31 December 2021 are set out in Note
33 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 266 to 270 of this
Annual Report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme"”) on 7 September 2012. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme
is to enable the Board, at its discretion, to grant options to selected
eligible participants to motivate them and to optimise their performance

and efficiency for the benefit of the Group.
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The Board may, at its discretion, grant options pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme to directors (including independent non-executive directors)
of the Group, employees of the Group and other persons the Board
considers have contributed or will contribute to the Group. In general, the
maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the adoption date of the Share
Option Scheme, unless otherwise approved by the Shareholders in general
meeting and/or other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules. The
maximum number of shares available in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme is 256,889,300 shares. The Share
Option Scheme shall remain effective within a period of 10 years from the
adoption date.

The Company granted 25,200,000 share options for the subscription of
25,200,000 shares of the Company on 16 December 2015. However, these
share options had lapsed on 31 December 2018.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options under the Share Option Scheme to each eligible participant in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company, unless with the prior approval from the Shareholders and with
such participant and his associates abstaining from voting. Options granted
to any Director or substantial Shareholder, or any of their respective
associates, shall be subject to the prior approval of the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent non-executive Director who
is the grantee). Where any option granted to a substantial Shareholder
or an independent non-executive Director, or any of their respective
associates, would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options already granted and to be granted to such person in the 12
month period up to and including the date of such grant, (i) representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue at the date of such grant;
and (i) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares, in excess of HKD5 million, such grant of options shall be subject to
prior approval of the Shareholders in general meeting by way of poll.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2021

EZeRBEEREFIINBERENALE
EX(BRABLUFNMTES) AKEEEK
EZeRRYAKECFHASELERA
H ALRIBBERE - — RN E - REBER
T B R R L B RIE AT S R R B B
FREATSHEERMBIREEERARD
AR BITIRAN10% ERRERFE KRS
ERTHAR /K ETRAUFEMREER
Sh o SAF]BER B RB AR AT S K MY AR 17 X
B /256,889,300 fix i f7 - B Rt 81 B &
MBS 10 FHEDBEAN -

AARRZZE-—AF+ZAT+RARNE
25,200,00017 B Bz # - AT R B A QA
25,200,000 (&% 15 - BZLBREEHR =T
—NFE+-_A=+—B%kH-

PER+ ZEASE - REBRETSITTE
BRERDBIASETTRAERSES
BB LR EBEARREHITRA
H1% - HERRFERREAHAEBRABL A
ENEABEARERR - AENESHEE
BRIAEMRESBNBEARLBRER
BEUFATEZ(PBEEFAAERADN
BUFNTER)EAIE - WALTERR
FBUFNTEFHEARSSENBEA
REEABRESESHRBERBREEA
M _EANHEEAERL AR(EREZ
ARTEEETHABETAEBALHZER
BREMDBTRSTEIORD  ()AHR
BAREHEELAHEBTRNMN0.1%
E (i) m WmEENREREBSAER
T AIRNERBREAKRRINBERAS
MEREHAZRIE



An offer of a grant of an option under the Share Option Scheme shall
remain open for acceptance for no more than 14 days from the offer
date. Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HKD1 to the
Company as consideration for the grant. Options may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during
a period determined by the Board which shall not exceed 10 years from
the date of grant. Though there is no general requirement on the minimum
period for which an option must be held or the performance targets which
must be achieved before an option can be exercised under the terms of the
Share Option Scheme, the Board may offer to grant any options subject to
such terms and conditions in relation to the minimum period of the options
to be held and/or the performance targets to be achieved before such
option can be exercised and/or any other terms as the Board may determine
in its absolute discretion. The subscription price shall be determined by
the Board in its absolute discretion, and in any event shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange on the offer date, (ii) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the offer
date, and (iii) the nominal value of a share. No option may be granted
more than ten years after the adoption date of the Share Option Scheme
(i.e. 7 September 2012). Subject to earlier termination by the Company in
general meeting or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a period of ten years from the adoption date.

There was no share option granted, exercised, lapsed, cancelled or
outstanding under the Share Option Scheme during the year.

No share options were granted under the Share Option Scheme after 31
December 2021 and up to and including the date of this report. Therefore,
a total of 256,889,300 shares, representing 9.88% of the issued shares of
the Company as at the date of this report, were available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme as at the date of this report.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Group adopted a share award scheme in 2017 (the “Share Award
Scheme”). Up to 31 December 2021, no share has been granted by the
Group to any parties under the share award scheme.

The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are to (i) encourage or facilitate
the holding of shares by the selected participants; (ii) encourage and retain
certain individuals to work with the Group; and (iii) provide incentive for
the selected participants to achieve performance goals.
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The Board may at its absolute discretion select any eligible participant
(including directors (including independent non-executive directors) of the
Group, employees of the Group and other persons the Board considers
have contributed or will contribute to the Group) to be a selected
participant and (a) grant new shares to be issued and allotted by the
Company under its available general mandate to such selected participant
or (b) grant existing shares to be purchased by the Company from the
market to such selected participant.

In any financial year during the scheme period, the maximum number of
shares to be subscribed for and/or purchased by the trustee appointed
for the administration of the Share Award Scheme pursuant to the Share
Award Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the beginning of such relevant financial year. Where any
award of grant to a selected participant would result in the aggregate of
(a) the number of grant shares underlying all grants (whether vested or
not) and (b) the number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
options (whether exercised or outstanding) under any share option scheme
adopted by the Company from time to time, granted to such selected
participant in the 12-month period up to and including the date of award
of such grant exceeding 1% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of award of such grant, the grant shall be subject to approval
by the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting. Where any
grant is proposed to be made to a selected participant who is a director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their
respective associates or any other connected person, such grant must first
be approved by the independent non-executive directors of the Company
(excluding any independent non-executive director to whom the grant is
proposed to be made).

The Board may from time to time while the Share Award Scheme is in force
determine any vesting criteria or periods for the grant shares to be vested
or credited, and such other restrictions or conditions in respect thereof as
the Board may in its discretion determine to be appropriate.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board, the
Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on the adoption date being 18 August 2017.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles
of Association or the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, the Company’s place of
incorporation.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2021, the accumulated deficits of the Company
amounted to RMB178 million (31 December 2020: RMB147 million). As
at 31 December 2021, the share premium of the Company, amounted to
RMB1,244 million (31 December 2020: RMB1,225 million), is distributable
to Shareholders subject to the solvency test and the sanction of an ordinary
resolution.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

During the year ended 31 December 2021, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
shares.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. YAN Qingjiang
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit
(appointed with effect form 1 January 2022)
Mr. YUE Zhigiang
(retired as Director on 30 June 2021)

Non-executive Directors
Ms. JIANG Xiaohong
Mr. XIE Kun
(appointed with effect form 1 January 2022)
Mr. Kevin Cheng WEI
(retired and ceased to be Chairman on 30 June 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. TANG Zeping
Mr. DAI Yang
Mr. LO Wai Hung

(appointed on 28 September 2021)
Mr. HUNG Ka Hai Clement

(retired on 30 June 2021)

Details of the retiring Directors to be re-elected at the 2022 AGM will be
set out in the circular to the Shareholders to be dispatched before the

2022 AGM.
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DIRECTORS' PROFILES

The profiles of the Directors are set out on pages 36 to 45 of this Annual
Report.

CHANGES OF DIRECTORS' INFORMATION UNDER RULE 13.51B(1) OF
THE LISTING RULES

The changes of directors’ information required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since the date of the interim report of
the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2021 are set out below:

Mr. LO Wai Hung (B2 5 4) (“"Mr. Lo"), an independent non-executive
Director, has been appointed as the chairman of the audit committee and
nomination committee of the Company with effect from 16 December
2021. Mr. TANG Zeping (B}Z2F % 4) (“Mr. Tang”), an independent non-
executive Director, is a member but ceased to be the chairman of the
audit committee and nomination committee of the Company with effect
from 16 December 2021. Following such changes in the composition of
the Board committees, Mr. Lo's remuneration will comprise a director’s
fee of HK$537,600 per annum under his letter of appointment and fees of
HK$40,000 per annum and HK$20,000 per annum as the chairman of the
audit committee and nomination committee of the Company respectively
and Mr. Tang will no longer be entitled to the fees of the chairman of
the audit committee and nomination committee of the Company. Please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 16 December 2021 for
details.

Mr. Lo has been appointed as a non-executive director of SY Holdings
Group Limited (formerly known as Sheng Ye Capital Limited) (stock code:
6069) on 10 December 2021 and an independent non-executive director of
China New Town Development Company Limited (stock code: 1278) on 30
December 2021.

Save as disclosed above or elsewhere in this report, there is no other
information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming 2022 AGM has a
service contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which are required to be recorded in
the register maintained by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code were as follows:

ESHRBEL
BREE-T-—EREAFASLBEN
EEREETEAERE—FATAET TR
EORERERINOBERTRIEORE S
4 o

EERTIETBRAERROPHER
RZZBE-—F+-A=+—8 BEERAEAR
AEETHRABRARRAREBE ZE (&
FHELHEROIEXVIRNEE)ORM - 8
Mk REEZEPEAREES LBAERD
FIKEMTEERNARRFE 2 ERMAR
BKIRIBIEETRIANE AR B R
BERARMT

Long positions in shares of the Company: ARATRDEITE

Approximate

percentage of

No. of ordinary shareholding

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest shares held (Note)

BREHAT D

BEpE g5 EEtE S EREE (ByaE)

Mr. DAl Yang Beneficial owner 16,000 0.0006
Lo bile EnEAA

Note: Based on 2,599,493,000 shares in issue as at 31 December 2021.
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DISCLOSEABLE INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS UNDER THE

SECURITIES AND FUTURES ORDINANCE

As at 31 December 2021, the following persons had an interest or short

position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which were

recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section

336 of the SFO:
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BRERSRBERFIBRRNETHER
=

R-ZE-—F+-A=+—8"  TIALR
REEFRBEEHEIB6 KR TEALD
BB MBS AR AR S AR R i
DRBEERRIKE

Name

e/ £8

Long/short
position

B/ KA

Capacity

5t

Approximate

Tianshan Industry Investment Limited
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited

Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment

Fund Limited Partnership (Note 2)
ERRMRL-—FEXREELERAY
E(ME2)

MERLIERREEEEREBRAA
(Notes 2 & 3)

MBALEFREZEEEARAA
(Fi5t2 &3)

METRMREARLDA (Notes 2, 3 & 4)

MESRREBRAR(ME2 384)
HEEERE R ARBNEEEELE

EELZES (Notes 2, 3 &4)
NERTRBAEARBIBEREEEE
EBZEg(ME2 384)

HELREEREEREREAARA
(Notes 2, 3 & 5)

HELRREERAERBRAMRH
(ff7E2+38&5)

HERRSERNERLDA
(Notes 2, 3,5 & 6)

HERREERNHERAF
(ff2-3:58&6)

Long position
3}

Long position

e

Long position

R

Long position

e

Long position

R

Long position

iR

Long position

R

Beneficial owner

ESHAA

Interest of controlled
corporation

REEE NS

Interest of controlled
corporation

XEEEN R

Interest of controlled
corporation

REEE NS

Interest of controlled
corporation

e ik B

Interest of controlled
corporation

REAENER

Interest of controlled
corporation

e ik B

Number of  percentage of
shares/ shareholding
underlying shares (Note 1)
REBNEIL
Bt/ HERGHEE (MEE1)
462,400,740 17.78%
462,400,740 17.78%
462,400,740 17.78%
462,400,740 17.78%
462,400,740 17.78%
462,400,740 17.78%
462,400,740 17.78%
462,400,740 17.78%
462,400,740 17.78%
462,400,740 17.78%
462,400,740 17.78%
462,400,740 17.78%
462,400,740 17.78%
462,400,740 17.78%
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Approximate

Number of  percentage of
Long/short shares/ shareholding
Name position Capacity underlying shares (Note 1)
REBNEIL
#E/ 8 HE/ KR 54 B4,/ HERHNEE GERD)
FREGEREBEREERF Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 17.78%
(Notes 2, 3,5 & 6) corporation
PRESREFREELA HE REEENES 462,400,740 17.78%
(H&2-3-58&6)
Tibet Water Resources Limited (Note 7) Long position Beneficial owner 437,410,960 16.82%
EKEREBRAR (M) HE ERBEAA 437,410,960 16.82%
Maple Essence Investments Limited (Note 8)  Long position Interest of controlled 437,410,960 16.82%
corporation
MEREBBR AR (FFES) HE REEENES 437,410,960 16.82%
True Asset Holdings Limited (Note 9) Long position Interest of controlled 437,410,960 16.82%
corporation
True Asset Holdings Limited (Fi#z£9) e REEENER 437,410,960 16.82%
Mr. WANG Peter Jian (also known as Long position Interest of controlled 437,410,960 16.82%
Mr. WANG Jian Peter) (Notes 9 & 10) corporation
FREA(FIFI & 10) e REEENER 437,410,960 16.82%
Wholeking Holdings Limited (Note 11) Long position Beneficial owner 205,000,000 7.88%
Wholeking Holdings Limited (Pfi& 11) e ExBEA
Hope Empire Limited (Note 12) Long position Interest of controlled 205,000,000 7.88%
corporation
Hope Empire Limited (Fff512) e XHEENRER 205,000,000 7.88%
HSBC International Trustee Limited (Note 13) Long position Trustee 232,957,000 8.96%
HSBC International Trustee Limited ({3 13)  #f#& EEITN 232,957,000 8.96%

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.
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Approximate
Number of  percentage of

Long/short shares/ shareholding
Name position Capacity underlying shares (Note 1)
REBNEIL
“E/ 8 HE/ KR 56 B4,/ HERHNEE (Y1)
Cai Kui (Note 13) Long position Founder of a 232,957,000 8.96%
discretionary trust
who can influence
how the trustee
exercises its
discretion
g2 (ME13) HE AR ERTAM 232,957,000 8.96%
TEEBEED
BIBETEMILA

Based on 2,599,493,000 shares in issue as at 31 December 2021.

Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership holds 100%
equity interest in Tianshan Industry Investment Limited and is therefore deemed to
be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by Tianshan Industry
Investment Limited.

Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership is held as
to 0.66% by and is accustomed to act in accordance with the directions of #7i&
RILEXEEESEEBRAA). Therefore, MBAILEXBREESEEFRAA
is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.

BER-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HEZTR
1% 2,599,493,000 fx 2t & o

ERRARL-—REXREEEARSE
% 1> % # ATianshan Industry Investment
Limited 100% A% #& - [ #18 25 Tianshan
Industry Investment Limited P& H) A AR
462,400,740 R RR 7 b B 1% -

ERROIRU-—REEREESARERD
EETBRUEERAEZCERARARR
BF066% RENRBEFTERLEXERAE
CEBRERARMNESTE Bk 8
AUEEREECEEARAABRAR
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited fT45 4

B RN 7 462,400,740 FRAR D RS s
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(4)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

FIESRIREARRAF holds 46.36% equity interest in Khorgos Tianshan No.1
Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership. ¥4 &R EER 27 also holds
30% equity interest in FTEXRILEXBREESEEBRAT. Therefore, FEBEFIE
EAMRAT is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company
held by Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.

MEATAERRARBNEEAELEEEEZEE wholly owns STEBERITEER
A Therefore, MBHERECRARBNESEEEEEREZEE is deemed to
be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by Tianshan Industry
Investment Limited.

HERREEREERARITAA holds 30% equity interest in FiE K ILIEERE
HEEEEAR AT and is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the
Company held by Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.

HERBREERM AR DA holds 33.11% equity interest in Khorgos Tianshan No.1
Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership. Further, BEEREEBERHER QA
wholly owns BERFEFXZEERFRETLA. Therefore, BERREERMNA
fR/2 7] is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company held
by Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.

MRESHEBREMEAT, directly and indirectly through its subsidiaries, holds
51.17% equity interest in BERREBRRBERAF. Therefore, FRESIRER
[REE2AA is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company
held by Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.

Tibet Water Resources Limited is held as to 100% by Maple Essence Investments
Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by True Asset Holdings Limited. Tibet
Water Resources Limited holds 437,410,960 shares in the Company. For
200,000,000 shares out of these 437,410,960 shares in the Company, please refer
to the Company's announcement dated 14 November 2019.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

(@)

MECRREBRARBEEBRIRIL—
REFREESAREBLH46.36% RHE -
FECRREARRARNMBENBRUES
REESEEBMRAAI0%KRE - Bt
MES K EBR R AWEE AR Tanshan
Industry Investment Limited FT#5 &R A A7)
462,400,740 fi% i {7 A 2 o

FRETHEARARBNEBEEEER
EEZEGREREYESRREARD
Ao Bt MEATBRARRARKNE
BEEEEEEZ B 2®E AR Tianshan
Industry Investment Limited Fri & HI A AR
462,400,740 AR R 15 R #E A #E 4 o

RERREXREEEERETARREN
BRLUEEREESERARLA30%K
1% K 4% AR Tianshan Industry Investment
Limited BT #5 & #9745 2 & 462,400,740 f& R 17
A ER -

RELRESERNARARBAERRNX
W—REXREESERABLE3Z1I%R
Boltih BERREERNMAERRBZE
BERBELREXREAEEBEREALA -
At - ABRREERNARABREAR
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited fri5 74
()22 B] 462,400,740 BR AR 13 R A #E 2

FREGREERETAR(ERELEBIE
RAME)RERERREERNERAA
51.17% R - At FRESIKREBREE
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Maple Essence Investments Limited holds 100% equity interest in Tibet Water
Resources Limited and is therefore deemed to be interested in the 437,410,960
shares in the Company in which Tibet Water Resources Limited is interested
in. Maple Essence Investments Limited is wholly-owned by True Asset Holdings
Limited.

True Asset Holdings Limited holds 100% equity interest in Maple Essence
Investments Limited, which in turn wholly-owns Tibet Water Resources Limited.
Therefore, True Asset Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in 437,410,960
shares in the Company in which Tibet Water Resources Limited is interested in.

True Asset Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. WANG Peter Jian. Therefore,
Mr. WANG Peter Jian is deemed to be interested in 437,410,960 shares in the
Company in which Tibet Water Resources Limited is interested. For the purpose of
the SFO, the spouse of Mr. WANG Peter Jian is taken to have a duty of disclosure
in relation to the said 437,410,960 shares in the Company. The interest disclosed
by the spouse of Mr. WANG Peter Jian is that of Mr. WANG Peter Jian which
is deemed to be attributed to her pursuant to the SFO for disclosure purposes.
Nevertheless, she has no interest, legal or beneficial, in those shares in the
Company.

Wholeking Holdings Limited is interested in 205,000,000 underlying shares in the
Company through holding convertible bonds issued by the Company which are
convertible into 205,000,000 shares in the Company upon full conversion at the

initial conversion price.

Hope Empire Limited wholly owns Wholeking Holdings Limited and is therefore
deemed to be interested in the 205,000,000 underlying shares in the Company in
which Wholeking Holdings Limited is interested.

HSBC International Trustee Limited as trustee of a discretionary trust of which Cai
Kui is the founder wholly owns Silverland Assets Limited, which in turn wholly
owns (a) Hope Empire Limited, which is deemed to be interested in 205,000,000
underlying shares in the Company and (b) Junson Development International
Limited, which is interested in 27,957,000 shares in the Company. Therefore, both
HSBC International Trustee Limited and Cai Kui are deemed to be interested in an
aggregate of 232,957,000 shares/ underlying shares in the Company.

(8)

(10)

(13)
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company were not aware of any other person
(other than the Directors and the chief executive of the Company) who
had, or was deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director
or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

No contracts of significance between the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries, and a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

No contracts of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the financial year or at the end of the financial year
has the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries been a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of
whose objects is, to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate, except for the Share Option Scheme and the Share Award
Scheme. No share options or share awards were granted to any Director
under the Share Option Scheme and the Share Award Scheme respectively.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Other than operating a Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
participating in the state managed retirement benefit scheme in the PRC,
the Group has not operated any other retirement benefits schemes for the
Group's employees.

Details of the defined contribution pension scheme are set out in Note 12
of the consolidated financial statements on page 219 to 221 of this Annual
Report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up by the
Board on the basis of their merit, qualification and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Group's operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

During the financial year and up to the date of this report, no Director is
considered to have interests in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, as
defined in the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company existed during the
year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the financial year, sales to the Group's five largest customers and
purchases from the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
70.8% and 100% of the total sales and total purchases for the year,
respectively. The Group's largest customer and supplier accounted for
approximately 31.4% and 100% of the total sales and total purchases
for the financial year, respectively. Starting from 2021, the Group has
centralized procurement through its associate Tibet Fudi Natural Beverage
Packaging Ltd. (“Fudi Packaging”), in order to enhance the procurement
efficiency and reduce costs.

During the financial year, none of (i) the Directors or any of their close
associates, or (ii) any Shareholders (who, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, owned more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital),
had any interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights
in relation to, the shares of the Company, they are advised to consult their
professional advisors.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent of the Company pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY'S INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The utilisation status of the net proceeds from the Company's initial public
offering is set out on pages 33 to 34 of this Annual Report.
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ISSUANCE OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND USE OF PROCEEDS

On 2 February 2021, the Company entered into subscription agreements
(as amended by the supplemental agreements dated 23 February 2021)
with six corporate and individual investors, whereby the investors agreed
to subscribe for and the Company agreed to issue the Convertible Bonds
at a total cash consideration of HK$379,620,000. Assuming full conversion
of the Convertible Bonds at the initial conversion price of HK$0.74, the
Convertible Bonds will be convertible into 513,000,000 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 19.97% of the then issued share
capital of the Company and approximately 16.65% of the then issued
share capital of the Company as enlarged by the issue of the conversion
shares. The initial conversion price of HK$0.74 per conversion share
represents the closing price of the shares of the Company of HK$0.74 per
share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 2 February 2021, being the
date of the subscription agreements. The Convertible Bonds were issued by
the Company to the investors in March 2021. The gross and net proceeds
(after deducting expenses) from the issue of the Convertible Bonds were
approximately HK$379,620,000 and HK$377,620,000, respectively and
were used for the repayment of the Group’ s borrowings according to the
intentions previously disclosed in the Company’ s announcement dated 2
February 2021. For details, please refer to the Company’ s announcements
dated 2 February 2021, 23 February 2021 and 29 March 2021.

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEERE

BROUBRRESREMESRERRE

RZB-—F-A-R0 AQATHEIEA
AREAAREETVURERZ(KEBHAZ
Z- - -_A-+=-HOBERBZEET)
Bl REERERBMAQARIRERT
BHeREBEA=ZRBELtTLEATZ8R T
MR RRES - BREVBRESFEVRE
REO74B T EHER - A RRESH G
8 1 5513,000,000 8 A AR & fn - HE
RARAEREHETRAL19.97% kA
NAERERBTERRMDEBEANEETR
K#)16.65% - VIR EGRER K H
0.74BTLHERARBRODR =T =—F
Z“RAZR(BREHZ B ) Ei TR
WHESR074ETL  ARBIR T =—
FZARREERTINRRES - TRRK
BHFETHETIRLE RFEKRAS
BIDAINB=ZBLtTLAEATZEATLK
ZRETEEANT=Z8E T EREARQA
HHA-_T - —F - A-HHAEHMEERN
E AREEAKEER - FEHLEA
AAEBMAR-E-_—F-_HAZH -Z%F=—
F-A-+=ZBR-_ZE-_—F=ZF=-+A1H

HAHE o

BHKERARAF | FH 2021

&

@



P

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEERE

The Company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the production
and sales of premium bottled mineral water products and beer products
in the PRC. The Company sought to capitalize on the then market
environment for convertible bond issues to raise capital for the repayment
of the Group’ s borrowings. The Board had considered other alternative
fund-raising methods such as bank loan, rights issue or open offer. The
Board considered that bank loan may incur security pledging on the Group’
s assets and may be subject to lengthy due diligence and negotiations
with the banks with reference to the Group’ s financial position and the
then financial market condition and it may be relatively uncertain and
time-consuming. On the other hand, rights issue or open offer would
involve the issue of prospectus with other application and administrative
procedures (such as arrangements for nil-paid rights shares) which may
lead to relatively longer time and additional administrative cost to complete
as compared to the issue of Convertible Bonds.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Convertible Bonds in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$22,644,000 has been converted into a
total of 30,600,000 shares of the Company. No Convertible Bonds have
been redeemed, purchased or cancelled.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the reasonable knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of its shares in the hands of
the public in accordance with the Listing Rules as at the latest practicable
date of the issue of this Annual Report (i.e. 21 April 2022).
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting to
approximately RMB160,000 (2020: RMBO.2 million).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group’s annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2021 and provided advice and comments thereon.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC") resigned as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 21 December 2020. HLB was appointed as the new
auditor of the Company with effect from 21 December 2020 to fill the
casual vacancy following the resignation of PwC and to hold office
until the conclusion of the then next annual general meeting of the
Company. Following the retirement of HLB as auditor of the Company
at the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company on 30
June 2021,
with effect from the conclusion of the extraordinary general meeting of

HLB has been re-appointed as the auditor of the Company

the Company held on 11 August 2021 to hold office until the conclusion
of the next annual general meeting of the Company. The consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 were audited
by HLB, who will retire at the conclusion of the forthcoming 2022 AGM
and, being eligible, will offer itself for re-appointment as external auditor
of the Company.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions summarized in note 45 to the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 did not
constituted connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2022 AGM would be convened at a later time because of the outbreak
of COVID-19 pandemic in Hong Kong. The Board would monitor how
the current situation develops in order to better suggest how to manage
the potential health risks of a physical meeting and also to decide the
appropriate time schedule to convene the 2022 AGM. Further information
will be advised in due course.

By order of the Board

YAN Qingjiang
Executive Director

21 April 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

31/F, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark
11 Pedder Street

HLB B M7 &<t F 5 A RN A
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

Central
Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tibet Water
Resources Ltd. (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 100 to 292, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2021 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Boards (“IASB") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of goodwill and investments accounted for using

the equity method

Refer to Notes 19 and 20 in the consolidated financial statements

RRETER

R FERRERMNERAE 2R
HAMG RV BHRRNBAR/ERNS
B GURHERAERMEAEBRANBR
REBABRFETREN - RATEHE
LEREHEBOER -

HEREFERERRREARNEE

H2MRA BRI 19K20

The key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill
arising on acquisition of businesses through acquisition
of subsidiaries and investments accounted for using
the equity method as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the balance to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, combined with the significant
degree of judgments made by the management of
the Group associated with the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated and investments accounted for using the equity
method.

Management concluded that there is no impairment on
goodwill and investments accounted for using the equity
method. This conclusion was based on a value-in-use
model that required significant management judgement
with respect to the discount rate and the underlying
cash flows, in particular future revenue growth. An
independent external valuation was obtained in respect of
the impairment assessment on goodwill and investments
accounted for using the equity method in order to support
management'’s estimates.
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Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of goodwill and investments accounted for
using the equity method included:

* Evaluating the independent external valuers’
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

e Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
methodology, key assumptions and estimates used
base on our knowledge of the relevant industry and
using our valuation experts;

e Challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions
based on our knowledge of business and industry;
and

e  (Checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

We found that the management judgment and estimates
used to assess the recoverable amount of cash-generating
units and investments accounted for using the equity
method and determine the impairment provision were
supportable by available evidence.
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Allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables and other

financial assets at amortised cost

Refer to Notes 23 and 25 in the consolidated financial statements

BUREZRKABSGEATTENEREER
HMEEEBR
F2MRA BB RRM 2325

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

As at 31 December 2021, the Group recorded the trade
receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost of
approximately RMB345,380,000 and RMB1,014,305,000
respectively before the loss allowance amounting to
approximately RMB90,723,000 and RMB27,418,000 has
been made on trade receivables and other financial assets
at amortised cost respectively.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and other financial
assets at amortised cost are based on management’s
estimate of the lifetime or 12-month expected credit
losses to be incurred, which is estimated by taking into
account the credit loss experience, ageing of overdue
trade receivables, customers’ and debtors’ repayment
history, collaterals and financial position and the
assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions, all of which involve significant
degree of management judgement and estimation.

We focused on this area due to the use of significant
management judgements and estimates included in the
allowance for expected credit losses assessment of trade
receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost
under the expected credit losses model involved.
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Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment
on provision for allowance for expected credit losses of
trade receivables and other financial assets at amortised
cost included:

®  Assessing whether items in the trade receivables
ageing report were classified within the appropriate
ageing bracket by comparing, on a sample basis,
individual items in the report with the relevant sales
invoices and credit terms;

e Assessing the reasonableness of management’s loss
allowance estimates on trade receivables and other
financial assets at amortised cost by examining the
information used by management to form such
judgements, including on a sample basis, testing the
accuracy of the historical default data, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current conditions and forward-
looking information and examining the actual
losses recorded during the current financial year
and assessing whether there was an indication of
management bias when recognising loss allowances;
and

* Assessing the reasonableness of recoverability
of trade receivables and other financial assets at
amortised cost with reference to historical utilisation
pattern and credit history of trade debtors including
default or delay in payments, settlement records,
subsequent settlements and ageing analysis

We found that the management judgment and estimates
used to assess the recoverability of the trade receivables
and other financial assets at amortised cost and determine
the allowance for expected credit losses provision were
supportable by available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to

report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.
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e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Shek Lui.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Shek Lui
Practising Certificate Number: P05895

Hong Kong, 21 April 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

SRBEER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZT-_—F+-A=T—HILFE

Notes 2021 2020
Fiax —B--F e Sk 35
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARET T
Revenue WA 7 456,128 492,879
Cost of sales HEMAR (265,175) (277,743)
Gross profit EF 190,953 215,136
Selling and distribution costs HERDHER (53,476) (104,842)
Administrative expenses THEHR (72,366) (67,776)
(Allowance for)/reversal of allowance CREERNMEEEE
for expected credit loss (“ECL") ((AHEERE])
on financial assets (Bf%) /BEER 16,012
Other gains, net HEfplzs - 558 8 22,407
Operating profit S PN 37,366 80,937
Finance income/(cost), net BB/ (BR) 38 9 20,499 (44,117)
Share of result on investments accounted FE(R{E ARz A ABRRIR B T
for using the equity method 20 (2,097)
Profit before income tax B AT B 85 A1 7 34,723
Income tax expense FisHiE A 10 (17,805)
Profit for the year FEFE 11 16,918
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: EEEERE/(BE) :
— Owners of the Company VNG Y =UN 16,973
- Non-controlling interests — RS (55)
46,954 16,918
Earnings per share attributable to AREHEAELEERER
owners of the Company
- basic and diluted (RMB cents) -EXREBE(AR%ESD) 13 0.68
The above consolidated statement of profit or loss should be read in  Filt4Ra B85 FE ERRE R P 5T — GFBIE o

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

&

GeEHtZEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZE=T-—F+-A=T—BILFE

Note 2021 2020
Fir —B--F —E_TF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTT
Profit for the year FEFE A 16,918
Other comprehensive income (loss): Htr2EWA(BX)
Item that will not be reclassified BT AR EFT A
subsequently to profit or loss: FEmEA -
Exchange differences on translation B EERERZIEEN
from functional currency to bE N =R
presentation currency 14,191
Fair value change on financial assets at UNARBEEEHEE
fair value through other comprehensive SFAEMREKER
income (“FVTOCI") ((A2AnEEFERHE
BEGTAHMEERE])
MeRmEEAAEES 22 (10,999)
Other comprehensive income FEEM2ERA - NKRBE
for the year, net of tax 3,192
Total comprehensive income for the year FERZHEURALE 20,110
Total comprehensive income IR EB AR :
attributable to:
- Owners of the Company —AREEBA 20,165
- Non-controlling interests — RS (55)
Total comprehensive income for the year FRZ2EURALE 20,110

The above consolidated statement of other comprehensive income should

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

meEBRRR

As at 31 December 2021 HMZZ=—%#+-A=+—H

Note
B aE

2021

RMB'000
AR® TR

27,077

422,544
31,120
IPAREE)

1,416,403
5,000
8,130

2,631,413

90,591
254,657
129,580

986,887

2,000
53,818

1,517,533

277,923
2,374
54,955
32,382
150,889
410,000

Non-current assets FRBEE
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15
Property, plant and equipment (“PP&E") #1% - M= N & &
(% BEREE] 16
Investment properties REHREHE 17
Intangible assets BEEE 18
Goodwill EES 19
Investments accounted for using FRREDEANRNRE
the equity method 20
Deferred tax assets EENIEEE 21
Prepayments FERRIA 24
Financial assets at fair value through IAREBEFEBEZSTA
other comprehensive income Hth 2 E e
("FVTOCI") ([UAREEFERR
BETAHMEZEKE )W
THEE 22
Financial assets at fair value through UAREBEFEREEEHFTA
profit or loss (“FVTPL") Ea((UAREEFEEHEE
FABRBEDNERMEE 27
Total non-current assets FRBEELR
Current assets REBEE
Inventories & 26
Trade receivables FEWE S 5K 23
Prepayments TR FIE 24
Tax recoverable EEEE S
Other financial assets at amortised cost ~ ABSR AT EMNEMEMEE 25
Financial assets at FVTPL IAREEFEBEEESTA
BamerEE 27
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEEM 28
Total current assets REBEEARE
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and notes payables ERE SR RENRE 29
Deferred revenue EEWA 30
Contract liabilities EREE 31
Tax payable FERT IR
Accruals and other payables HRERAREMERN T 32
Bank borrowings RITIER 33
Lease liabilities HEERE 15
Total current liabilities REBEERAE

928,523

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

2020
—E-TF
RMB’000

ARETTT

27,942

469,984
4,445
44,285
721,139

650,697
4,277
6,067

174,482

11,517
2,114,835

60,266
283,274
79,678
627
1,367,268

180,811
64,752

2,036,676

324,150
2,374
16,854
28,588
407,777
500,000
147

1,279,890



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FEMBRRE

RZZEZ—F+-A=1+—H Asat31 December 2021

Note 2021 2020
= —E--F —E-TF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBET T
Net current assets REEETHE 589,010 756,786
Total assets less current liabilities HEERARBAE 3,220,423 2,871,621
Non-current liabilities *rBEE
Bank borrowings RITIER 33 110,000
Other payables Hofth B 5K 32 16,000
Deferred revenue RIEWA 30 16,142
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFEEE 21 7,371
Convertible bonds - liability component  AJ# & EH - B &L 34 —
Total non-current liabilities FnBaBERE 388,991 149,513
Net assets FEE 2,831,432 2,722,108
Capital and reserves EARREE
Share capital LR 35 21,618 21,363
Reserves i 2,809,814 2,700,745
Total equity attributable to owners ~ AAREEAELEZEE
of the Company 2,831,432 2,722,108
The consolidated financial statements on pages 100 to 292 are approved FI0E2NEMKREVBKRREN T

and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 April 2022 and

are signed on its behalf by:

YUE Zhigiang &%

Director %

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

TCHENAZt-REERSHERRESR

5

WERATEERREE

JIANG Xiaohong EE4T

&

Director E%&

AR & B T A 0 3R B B B PR B 5 — 5 B
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

MEEDRBER

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-ZT--F+-A=1+-HLEFE

Share

capital

kx

Attributable to the owners of the Company
ADAHRAEL

Shares held

for share
award scheme
RRHER
RERE HHEENRE
RMB'000 RMB'000
\REFTE  ABBTR

Other
reserves
(Note 37)
At
(&37)
RMB'000
ARETT

Share
premium

Retained
earnings
Brka
RMB'000
ARMT T

Sub-total
/J\E-f
RMB'000

Non-
controlling
interests
FERER
RMB'000
AREFT

Total equity
BRiE
RMB'000

T

Balance at 1 January 2020 RZE-EE-F-RiNks 21,363 1,225,214 (173,037) 147,304 1,481,099 2,701,943 96 2,702,039
Profit for the year FRfE - - - - 16,973 16,973 (55) 16,918
Other comprehensive incomel(loss): £t 2E4A/(B#8):
Exchange differences on translation & EHBE ASHIEHR
from functional currency to EXZS
presentation currency - - - 14,191 - 14,191 - 14,191
Fair value change on financial HAREBHEEABDHALY
assets at FVTOC FERANSRAELARES = = = (10,999) - (10,999) - (10,999)
Total comprehensive ERRERA/(EB)4E
income/(loss) for the year - - - 3192 16,973 20,165 (55) 20,110
Transfer of reserve upon disposal of ~ HENAREEFERERG ALY
financial assets at FVTOCI FENGNEBEERNEREY - - - 11,600 (11,600) - - -
Capital injection from non-controlling ~ FBAEZHERER A
interests of a subsidiary = = = = = = 2 20

Dividend paid to non-controlling
interests by a subsidiary

MELFN FabERORE

Balance at 31 December 2020

R-B-8E+ZAZ1-AR

and 1 January 2021 ZRC-E-B-AKEH 21,363
Profit for the year QA
Other comprehensive income: Af2EMA -

Fair value change on financial
assets at FVTOCI

Exchange differences on translation
from functional currency to
presentation currency

VIR SRyt
SENENSRAEDAEERD

mEERAE RS8R
EXZE

Total comprehensive
income for the year

FREEUALE

Release upon derecognition of
financial assets at FVTOC
Convertible bonds - equity
component
Deferred tax arising from
the Convertible Bonds
Shares issued upon
conversion of the Convertible Bonds

BB BRI B B AR A
EEENESBRERER
TERES- RS

TARBFELNETRE

FETAREFRCEANED

Balance at 31 December 2021

R=Bz-E+ZA=t-BNER 21,618

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.
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1,225,214 (173,037) 162,096

= 25427

(16,817)
22,848
(3,770)
(1,161)

1,243,985

(173,037)

188,623

A=

1,486,472

46,954

46,954

16,817

1,550,243

2,722,108

46,954

16,216

9,211

72,381

2,831,432

bthR A s B B R e B BE FY MY

2,722,108

46,954

16,216

9,211

22,848
(3770)
17,865

2,831,432

— B 5l
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BZE=T-_—F+-A=T—BILFE

Note 2021 2020
P & it tl2 —T_%
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREFTT
Cash flow from operating activities RETHRER
Profit before income tax BrETIS AT R 57,873 34,723
Adjustments for: HE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 11 865 868
Depreciation of PP&E ME - BEREENE 11 57,926 59,560
Depreciation of investment properties REMMENE 11 — 234
Amortisation of intangible assets mEESH 11 13,165 22,118
Amortisation of deferred income BT 5 8 (2,374) (2,374)
Finance income IR TN 9 (56,154) (1,261)
Finance cost B ER 9 35,655 45,378
Share of result of investments FEIG 0 AR A ARRHY
accounted for using the equity method REME 20 ) 2,097
Loss on disposal of PP&E HEWE - BE L& EEBE 11 24 89
Gain on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL HEUNAABEFEEEE
AAHMEBEREREED
Wega 8 (12,482)
Fair value changes of financial assets at FVTPL AR BEFEEHEEHHFA
HtEENEREELR
BEZH 8 (811)
Allowance for/(reversal of allowance for) CREERDEEHRRE/
ECL on financial assets (BmEm) 11 (16,012)
Write-down of inventories FEMR 8 94
Operating cash flows before EEESRBANCERER
movement in working capital 162,148 132,221
Increase in inventories TFEEM (30,937) (7,644)
Increase in trade receivables e E 5 38 0 (49,879) (5,769)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments and BRFIER ARG ER
other financial assets at amortised cost HitrSmEECEMm),/ B (386,844) 39,456
(Decrease)/increase in trade and BNESRRENER
notes payable CRL),/ 381 (33,703) 269
Increase/(decrease) in accruals and HERERREMENK
other payables g,/ ORd) 238,910 (13,876)
Increase/(decrease) in deferred revenue and  EEWARAREE
contract liabilities B,/ CRd) 150,730 (12,555)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FREDRER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE=Z=—F+=-A=+—HIFE

Note
ik
Cash generated from operations RETHELENRS
Interest received BUFE
Interest paid BERFIE
Income taxes paid ERTFTEE
Net cash flows generated from RETHELNRERETHE
operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities RETHRER
Purchases of PP&E BEWE  BFERSR
Proceeds from disposal of of financial HEURRABEFEEEEHH
assets at FVTOC| At z2ERENERHEE
PSSR 22
Purchases of financial assets at FVTPL BEULAEEMELHED
TABRRNEREE 27
Proceeds from disposal of financial HEUNAABEA;ZAEE
assets at FVTPL FABENEREEMERE 27

Loans granted to third parties

Repayments received from loans to third parties

Amounts advanced to third parties
Payments received from third parties
Loans granted to related parties
Repayments received from

loans to a related party

EFE=F70E
BRE=HER
BERE=A8R
BERE=FHIE
& TR

B U B 7 &

Net cash flows generated
from/(used in) investing activities

REFHEE /(AN
REREFE

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.
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2021
—E-—F
RMB'000
ARBT T

2020
—E-TF
RMB’000

ARET T

132,102
1,261

(28,256)

(18,429)

86,678

(6,105)

46,400

(180,000)

198,112
(1,054,330)
400,577
(29,275)
29,222
(34,445)

189,800

(440,044)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GEBRERER
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZE=T-—F+-A=+—HALFE

Note 2021 2020
ik —E--F —T-TF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFT

Cash flows from financing activities METHRER

Proceeds from bank borrowings RITERERE 41 400,000 425,000
Repayments of bank borrowings BERITER 41 (525,000) (531,000)
Loans from third parties BRE=ZFEXR 41 6,391 12,068
Repayment of loans to third parties BEZE=HEX 41 (303,072) (3,292)
Payments of lease liabilities HERBEMK 41 (150) (150)
Proceeds from issuance of the Convertible Bonds 2%/TRI#REH TS ZUA 317,702 —
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests SR FIEERERNRE = (61)

Capital injections from non-controlling interests B2 a1 JFEM g /Iéf

of a subsidiary 20
Net cash flows used in financing activities  BEZEBMANRSREFE (104,129) (97,415)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents HERBELZEBYHL FE (450,781)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year F#34 KL ZEY 515,510
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EXSETE TR 23
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year EXRBEERBELEEY 28 64,752

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in LR AN E T2 R IE RN T —HE
conjunction with the accompanying notes. & e
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GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law as an exempted company with limited liability on 8
November 2010. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
engaged in production and sales of water products and beer products
in PRC and provision of lending services to third parties in Hong Kong
with relevant license.

The Company's shares have been listed on the Stock Exchange since
30 June 2011.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Reminbi
("RMB"), which is different from the Company's functional
currency Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD"). The Directors adopted RMB as
presentation currency as the operational entities are located in the
PRC.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PBmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-Z-—F+-A=t-HILFE

—RER
ARNARZZE—EF+—AN\BRE
RAVERRAESHESTMA L RER
SERDA - FMPEEA MU R
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P. O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands ©

ARAR—HRERKRIR - XEE
ERENEEEREEKERLEH
EmYERBHEBME =T REREK
FRASEHBE R AR -

AAANRBA-F-——FRAZT
REAER S L -

HEMBERRDUARBITARE])
25 BRIRARARNNEEEET
([Bx])  EFRAARBERET
HER - HARNEEERURTE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs")

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to IFRSs issued by the International Accounting Standard Board
(the "IASB") for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for
the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2021 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to IFRS 16 Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions
Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39,

IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the IFRS
Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”) of the International
Accounting Standards Board issued in June 2021 which clarified the
costs an entity should include as “estimated costs necessary to make
the sale” when determining the net realisable value of inventories.

The application of the amendments to IFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

FER R RAEET BB BRESRE
Al B B E 2R )
FEERAERNERSBHREER
(LHEN

AEE  AREERRGE VB REK
B BERARABEKSENEES
((EREENESRS )EMN T
BIfR M S EAET A ZFEF
ARZZE-_—F—-A-Ak 2R
HO 5 B SR B A 2K

BB B 75 3R 5 2 Covid-19 48R
ERIRACTIE ez
BRI RERERE9 FIREERE
% - BB ERE
£39% - BRI
WEERETH
BB B 7 3R 5 2 R
F 4% R ERE %
WELERIE 16555

BES

peoh e AEBEAERE T EAIEER
SERTEREENREZEG(( &
EEDR T —FXAEMNER
RE - ZREBFEBRETHFEN
AR FERERRERETHEN
(CEIPZY JDZNIL:0) N

N

EAFREEABERYBREERER
REAEENEE RIAEFEORE
RAREEANR, RZEEE A BR
RAENRBELEEATE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-B--Ft-AZt-ALSE

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

FE R ET R ARG RT B PR B B SR 5 2
AT BB REER D) (&)
ERMENRERNHTRESTE
BREH R 22 Al
AEEYERAERATEBMEN
REMIF T LB TRRIM B RE

IFRS 17

Amendment to IFRS 3

Amendments to IFRS 10 and
IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1 and

[FRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS 16

Amendments to IAS 37

Amendments to IFRSs

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

Insurance Contracts and
the related Amendments?
Reference to the
Conceptual Framework?
Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture*
Covid-19-Related Rent,
Concession beyond
30 June 2021"
Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current?
Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting
Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to
IFRSs Standards 2018-2020?
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28

BBt R 5 2R
F17%

Gl sl
FIRETA

Bl B RS R
F10FREBR e
ERE 28R BATA

Gl Sprst=p ]l
£16%

Bl e ERE 15
EHE

Bl e ERE 15
BT AR BRI
HEABHES
%25

Bl g BRI 8%

EHE

Bl e R E 125

EHE

Bllf et efZ 165
BRI

Bl e ERE375%
EHES
Bl BT RS 4l
[EETAR

R A O RABEET

RSER R

REEHAMENT
qaehERANEE
ﬁ&¢&A4
ZEZ-FRA=T
B # Covid-194 B
R
BEAEANEI
i
RESHER

EQRCREE %

EXBE-RHM
EERARREN
EREHE:

nE - BERE
-BRERBAAME
IR

BREAH-ENA

P AR

BB B R
“2-\E%
e 3
EREME?



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRSs") (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

The Directors anticipate that the application of all new and
amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs (which include all International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards (“l1ASs"”)
and Interpretations) issued by IASB. For the purpose of preparation
of the consolidated financial statements, information is considered
material if such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for the financial assets at FVTPL and the
financial assets at FVTOCI, as explained in the accounting policies
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

FE P 37 5] I B 5T BIBR B FE R 5 2

BI([EFRE R EZR ) (&)

EEMAEMNRERNFTRLBITE

BRI EREER ()

' R-ZZE-—FNA—BZ2BREN
FREBMAER -

2 R-Z-—F—A—HRIZBHABE
FREBRER -

3 RZEZ=F—F—By2EHABRD
FEHRAR -

4 R—ESEHRHRZEABRNEE
AR AR -

EERY RAUBEEMNKREK  EBAM
BHE] R ERT BRI s A
TEUGAMBRRELEATE -

g

I

GREMBRRNEREERTES
TR

GEMBHRRNEREE
FEMBHRRDREBERR G ERE
EERMMBERABRE ER(REM
BAREBRE B RELE - B ER
([EIRREETER ) RRE)RE - 5
RFRMBHREAME - WEMENA
ERAGYETIBRPIERIRE
AIARENBA/EKN - 1IN &R
PHBRBRERMESF LTRA
(TEWHRA ) REE R BHEDIR TR
ERWE -

TN I-EE 3:ET TEDNF
HEREEREALEEHEAY
EHHARBREUNNEBEE
h 2 B T R R R I S LA R
B R T RRHRE -
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miETORENAEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (continued)
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share
based payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRSs 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of IFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2
Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

* level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

*  has the power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

*  has the ability to use its power to affects its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control
of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in profit or loss from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the Company
ceases to control the subsidiary.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

GEUPBBERNEREERTES
TR (E)

meR%E
AHMBBRREFARARERARR
HMBAREZEHEROFBRE - 10
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between the members of the Group are
eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately
from the Group's equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Separate financial statements (continued)

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon
receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in
the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements of the investee's net assets
including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the steering committee that makes strategic
decisions.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquire
and the equity interest issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition
date, except that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related
to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based payment at the acquisition
date (see the accounting policy below);

*  assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discounted Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

e lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in IFRS
16 Leases) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) the lease
term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are
recognised and measured at the same amount as the relevant
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at their
fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-B--Ft-AZt-ALSE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from
additional information obtained during the 'measurement period’
(which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Other contingent
consideration is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
and measured under IFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as
established at the date of acquisition of the business less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group's cash-generating units (or group of cash
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management purposes and not larger than
an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill (continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the cash-
generating unit within the group of cash-generating units, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of
the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of
an operation within the cash-generating unit (or a cash- generating
unit within a group of cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative values of the
operation (or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion
of the cash generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units)
retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-B--Ft-AZt-ALSE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures
are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity
method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as
held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with
IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discounted Operations.
The financial statements of associates and joint ventures used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, the investment is
initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group's
share of the acquisition-date fair values of the investee's identifiable
net assets over the cost of the investment (if any). The cost of the
investment includes purchase price, other costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment into
the associate or joint venture that forms part of the Group’s equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the post
acquisition change in the Group's share of the investee's net assets
and any impairment loss relating to the investment. At each reporting
date, the Group assesses whether there is any objective evidence
that the investment is impaired. Any acquisition-date excess over
cost, the Group's share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of
the investees and any impairment losses for the year are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group's
share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other
comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated statement of
other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost
of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
investment in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with 1AS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount
of the investment subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. FEVBBRNGEREERTIES
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES TR (&)
(CONTINUED)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued) REENEREELENRE(E)
When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate HMARETEYHBEAREREAY
or joint control over or joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal EhHInaehERA LREE
of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss AL ERZWIRE T 2 2R A
being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest EE TEX WG HBEENEBRR
in the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is cMAEBERBRABEARNE
a financial asset within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial instrument, the MA%Z%&HE%% 1 o 45 BBR B
Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and BHREENFIRERIABHEN 2
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The EREE  MAEEERNZBELR
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint BETERBER MZAABER
venture and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds BRARVTBRAR 2 AREBE - BE
from disposing of a part interest in the associate or joint venture is ARHAEEREZREERTMRE
included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the BalbEBMERAREGELE 2
associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all DREMEFAEALEERCEZRE
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in ERETLEZBERAREERE
relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would ZWEHEEBEARK - BE - A&E
be required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of SRBEAEEMEEKEPREE R
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously AREELERERCMBEBARK
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or joint EREZHEARIAECEERED
venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the EER EERBEMRATE 2EEM
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss Fe @it BEEEMEEK T E
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon REZMERRREELEZBRER
disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture. BN BILEEHEELBBZE

@ RHE /By HERERER
ARAELER  ARERREXE
BHESENBRIBEANEENH

= o
The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment NBEARICIRERARGEDREL
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or an REINEELEZREK B
investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate. REZRAER AEBEERAER
There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in EoRERERBER g8
ownership interests. HEtELAREE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a
joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method, the
Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or
joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers and other income

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying
the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers and other income (continued)
Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

ii. the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

iii. the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers and other income (continued)
(a) Sales of goods — wholesale

The Group manufactures and sells a range of water products and
beer products in the wholesale market. The Group also sells raw
materials and consumables to associates and third parties. Sales
are recognised at a point in time when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to the customers,
the customers have full discretion over the channel and price to sell
the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the customers’ acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when the
products have been shipped to the specified location; the risks of
obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customers.

(b)  Sales of goods — water cards

Sales of water products to certain distributors or end customers are
made in form of water cards (“Water Cards Sales Arrangement”).
Under the Water Cards Sales Arrangement with the distributors, the
distributors sell the water cards to the end customers and use the
logistics network, which is designed by the Group with the Group's
long-term cooperative logistics suppliers, to deliver water products to
the designated locations at the request of the end customers when
the water cards are redeemed before the expiry dates; and relevant
logistics expenses are charged to the Group. Sales of goods under
the Water Cards Sales Arrangement are deferred as the Group has
ultimate obligations towards the card holders. Sales of goods under
the Water Cards Sales Arrangement are recognised at a point in time
when the water cards are redeemed by the end customers and the
water products are delivered, or when the water cards are expired,
whichever is earlier.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers and other income (continued)
(c) Interest income

The Group provides money lending services to third parties in Hong
Kong with relevant license and earns interest as revenue. Related
interest income is recognised in a time proportion basis using
effective interest method.

(d) Rental income

Rental income from leasing of production lines and a plant is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application or arising from business combinations, the Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under IFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms
and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a single
lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of premises and office equipments that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease
of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

* any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received,

* any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

*  an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease
liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the
useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on straight-
line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease
term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable;

* variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

* amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

*  payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of- use assets) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

* the lease payments change due to changes in market rental
rates following a market rent review/expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using the initial discount rate.

Lease liabilities
The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease
modification as a separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

* the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand- alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand- alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities and
lease incentives from lessor by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative standalone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as a
result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments
as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, the Group applies the
practical expedient to remeasure the lease liabilities by discounting
the revised lease payments using the unchanged discount rate, unless
the change in lease payments results from a change in floating
interest rates. In that case, the Group uses the revised discount rate
that reflects change in the interest rate and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets. A lease modification is
required by interest rate benchmark reform if, and only if, both of
these conditions are met:

e the modification is necessary as a direct consequence of interest
rate benchmark reform; and

e the new basis for determining the lease payments is
economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the basis
immediately preceding the modification).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence
of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has elected to apply the
practical expedient not to assess whether the change is a lease
modification if all of the following conditions are met:

e the change in lease payments results in revised consideration
for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the
consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

e any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally
due on or before 30 June 2021; and

e there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of
the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in
lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same way it
would account for the changes applying IFRS 16 if the changes are
not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments
are accounted for as variable lease payments. The related lease
liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with
a corresponding adjustment recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which the event occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance

lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under IFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part
of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications, including lease incentives provided through forgiveness

or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease

as part of the lease payments for the new lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entities,
transactions in currencies other than functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group's interests in associates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-B--Ft-AZt-ALSE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. FEVBBRNGEREERTIES
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES TR (&)
(CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies (continued) N ()
For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the 2IFaMBmRE - KEBBINE
assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are translated %%Zﬁ?éﬁiﬁtj BEBHRZEXRR
into the presentation currency of the Group using exchange rates RAEEZZ2HREY - WARRFAX
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income and expense Iéﬂifz HEHERRE - A
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, X AEKE - BIRARS BB ZE
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, Tﬂ*ﬁ‘% cFEACZERZB(E)R
in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are TEHE KR ﬁ&wlﬁf‘fﬁﬁ@ S
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other Wf%;ﬁr(ﬁzﬂﬂ%\ 5B T IR IR
comprehensive income and accumulated in a currency translation ) °

reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's HEBNEEEEAEBREINE
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of ENEHREREEIRERHBE
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation or a partial BINEBRMB AR MNESEXE D
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that HERBIEBINE BN G & TP
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes ERRMED  HRENEGKAS
a financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in a %ﬂﬁ?)ﬁ% C AN EER AEIERZ
currency translation reserve in respect of that operation attributable ENEERERBENRANAARE
to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss. R%%Ei%ﬁ YREER ©

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that AN BEREE TSI BMAREELY
includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group losing BB A RIERI A EINEBKHE S H
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated EME  RABAEENEILNE
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests E‘EEA%T Pt R AN EB R AR
and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals RegABEEEHEANETSIHAE
(i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do I%E%EK%@?JQE £ [R) 122 1 42 0 Bk
not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control), ERESHALHNLEIHE)ME -
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is ZtEREZENADLNBEEN IR
reclassified to profit or loss. EH% o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continuead)

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the Group’s net
assets in HKD to the Group's presentation currency (i.e. RMB) are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in currency translation reserve. Such exchange differences
accumulated in the currency translation reserve are not reclassified to
profit or loss subsequently.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general
borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F--FtoAST-ALFE

GEVBBERNERELERTES
ATBCR(E)

N (E)
ﬁ@ﬁ$$lm%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ$%ﬁ
RASEZIEE(AVARE)HE
R%ﬁﬁ?ﬁ@iﬁ% E&ﬁm’
REBREREZR:  E¥RER
ﬁ#%%ﬁﬁ@ﬁ%%%$@ﬁué
EFfEEER o

WBBIEBELEZCHRERBRE
EREBRAREBEAR WRASZLE

NEBZBEERAE YREHRED
ReEXBE - AUELZELZR

REM 2 E S R -

BB

REBE BESEESEREEAS
E-BREREEREEZSHBRTAR
HHEZEE ) BEREZEBHARAN
AEREBEZHRA  BEEREZEE
EABAHEBERENHEZER
_U:o

EHEEEAHBTERERHERD
REEZEMEERR - Dt AER
—RIEEF > AR E-—RERZER
E® - RERNAEREEHLZ
BERRZERUREMBNIRE
WATI B & BRIFBEA .2 ERMK
ARHRR

PR EME R AR EEEHRNE
ﬁnwﬁgwu °

BHKERARAF | FH 2021

&

<



~D

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets (including property, plant and equipment) are recognised as
deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants relate to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under
“other gains, net” line item.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Termination benefit costs

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of
when the Group entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the
termination benefit and when it recognises any related restructuring
costs.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another IFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid. Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-
term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the
estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group
in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting
date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from
service cost, interest and remeasurements are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that another IFRS requires or permits their
inclusion in the cost of an asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits

The employee benefit expenses mainly include salary, bonus,
allowances and other expenditures incurred in exchange for the
employee services. All employee benefit obligations are recognised
during the period when the services are provided, and charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss or included in the cost of the
related assets.

(a)  Pension obligations - defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no
legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits
relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

The Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered
pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary
basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expenses when they are due. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (continued)
(b)  Housing funds, medical insurances and other social insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to participate in
various government-supervised housing funds, medical insurance
and other employee social insurance plan. The Group contributes on
a monthly basis to these funds based on certain percentages of the
salaries of the employees, subject to certain ceilings. The Group's
liability in respect of these funds is limited to the contributions
payable in each period.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and other
providing similar services are measured at fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date.

Th fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined
at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is
expensed to profit or loss on a straight line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that
will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
held for share award scheme). At the end of the reporting period,
the Group revises its estimates of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share held for share award
scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payments (continued)

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in the share held for share award scheme will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in the share held for share award scheme will
be transferred to retained earnings.

Taxation
The income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. FEVBBRNGEREERTIES
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES TR (&)
(CONTINUED)
Taxation (continued) BIE(E)
Deferred tax (continued) EEHEE)
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each EEHBEEENREETERSBARE
reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable TR YR T BB EARRY
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of i F AT AR DA #8581 &) 2 BB 3k B
the asset to be recovered. BEREL AR
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that EXRBEERBEDNBRERRESR
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or REEBETHERBETHRHE(RR
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been %) BREEZEESERZEESNR
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. FEHERNRESE -
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax BELERBEENREENERRASE
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group EEmEHAREAKESEERLEE
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the REBEREEMAAXATEERAN
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. BHER -
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions FEASERACAELEERERAMA
in which the Group recognises the right- of-use assets and the EREZHERINELERER &
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax SEEAEEREBENREEHERANE
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease AEEEHERE -
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the
lease terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.
Temporary differences arising from subsequent revision to the
carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, resulting
from remeasurement of lease liabilities and lease modifications, that
are not subject to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the
date of remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current tax and deferred tax for the year
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss during the financial period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost less accumulated impairment losses of each asset to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 12-40 years
Machinery 51to 15 years
Vehicles 3 to 8 years
Furniture and equipment 3 to 5 years
Others 10 to 20 years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within “Other
gains, net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Construction-in-progress (“CIP") represents buildings, plant and
machinery under construction or pending installation and is stated
at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost includes the
costs of construction and acquisition and capitalised borrowing costs.
No provision for depreciation is made on CIP until such time as the
relevant assets are completed and ready for intended use. When the
assets concerned are available for use, the costs are transferred to
property, plant and equipment and depreciated in accordance with
the policy as stated above.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

GEVBBERNERELERTES
ATBCR(E)

NE - BERREE)
BEMMSREERERFHAREER
MRtes - YEEERER MEHAR -

fWEEREESN G TKRE SR
B ZREENRBENERREA
WEIEEE

REMWE MBRRASRIELEERE
EMERET  TAGABERAIHE
RIS - R PR o

ERIR(ERIR)EERZPK
FRENBT  BERESR  ZRK
BEBFRERR(ME) AR KAE
RRERMEAAR A K E A B X
Ko BHEEEKRAEREREZ
Al ERTIREMEFERE - E6H
BERREEARARLAMRER - 5K
AANBAME - BE LR BLE L
BERITE -

BHKERARAF | FH 2021

&

@



~D

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for

capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of investment
properties over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account of their estimated residual values using the straight-line

method.

Investment property is transferred to owner-occupied property
when there is a change in use as evidenced by the commencement
of owner occupation. Owner-occupied property is transferred to
investment property when there is a change in use as evidenced by

end of owner-occupation.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no future
economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the item is

derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised
separately from goodwill are recognise initially at their fair value at
the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the
same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Trade name

Trade name acquired in a business combination is recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. Trade name has a finite useful life
and is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of trade
name over their estimated useful lives of 18.2 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination (continued)
Distribution network

Distribution network acquired in a business combination is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. The distribution network has a
finite useful life of 8 years and is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method over the expected life of the distribution network.

Information system

Information system acquired in a business combination is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. The information system has a
finite useful life of 5 years and is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method over the expected life of the information system.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses
arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset
is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets excluding goodwill

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of
its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent
from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets excluding goodwill (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined using the weighted average method. The cost of
finished goods comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct
costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating
capacity). Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group's ordinary course
of business are presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HEC T

FrZA=T-RALHFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at FVTOCI:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except

that at the date of initial application/initial recognition of a financial

asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes

in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income

if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent

consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to

which IFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Classification _and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term; or

* on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and has
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

() Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination that the asset is
no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification _and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)
(i) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised on other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserves; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments,

and will be transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included

in the “other gains, net” line item in profit or loss.

(iii)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured at

FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is

included in the “other gains, net” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
financial assets which are subject to impairment assessment under
IFRS 9 (including trade receivables, other financial asset at amortised
cost, restricted bank deposits and cash at bank). The amount of ECL
is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component. The ECL on trade
receivables with significant balances or credit impaired are assessed
individually and the remaining trade receivables are assessed
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate age groupings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-B--Ft-AZt-ALSE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. HAUBRRNGEREERTES
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES TR (&)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued) ERMIAE)
Financial assets (continued) THEEE)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) THEE)AE(E)

RAMEEMIAMS  AEEHEN
ERBBEER2EABHEREEE
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the MM B Mia R UREERREEE
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime m-AAEERREHERCEES
BT ERREHENEEE

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant

ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the

likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

* an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. HEAMBBRNGEREERTES
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES TR (&)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued) ERMIAE)
Financial assets (continued) THEEE)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) EHEEZHEE)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued) () EERRBEZELIE)

RHBEREAOME  AEERST
AT RHAYE — 7 89 B IR R R E
AHEET SR B MR EE
FERRBMBERSONIERL
REBBELNE  AEEZEEE
EHARORRNESD -

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes
a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date
of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial
instrument for impairment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a
financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes in the
risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

AEETHERAUIPEERRE
BARBBLAZBREZRY - LREE
B IR E B RT - e AR A B1RERL
ST SR IR 8 B A R (5 B AL R KR &

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the

amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default
for internal credit risk management purposes as historical experience
indicates that financial assets that meet either of the following

criteria are generally not recoverable:

H o

(ii) BRIHIEE
AKBERB/ATERLABEERR
ERAMMEBAENEN  BRB
ERBRRBFSE—TIGRENESR
BE—REZRE

e when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or o BEBAERMBEL:
e information developed internally or obtained from external o ABELIERBINERRENHE

HRB - EEATKATBERERE
ANEBREASHE)2EER(TE
BASBEFAENEMERR) -

sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collateral held by the Group).

Twmbtdot X&EERR EN
ERESREERRAIER 180 KA
£ RAEERAEENIHENER
BRHERFENBARETREZR
appropriate. AN o

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 180 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(iif) ~ Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following events:

*  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event (see (ii)
above);

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

*  itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation; or

e the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. FEVBBRNGEREERTIES
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES TR (&)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued) EMIAE)
Financial assets (continued) THEEE)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) EREEZHEE)
(iv)  Write-off policy (iv) W #5180 %
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information BEEMETEBABAERGA -
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there B I m EER U e AT g8 (HI B A B
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been BERNEARERF  ABERES
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, RME - REBDHBEBIBOK - UR
or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over 180 RERE) AEESWHEHEE -
days past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written EMEzemEENAIRERAEE
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group's W EIRFHETERTY  EEERR
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where TREREIVEEREZ - AMKORIES
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss. REBRPER
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL () BEEEERZ1ERER
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, EHEEEBZEREAMNE - &
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) HNEBREIZEABEENDN) RENR
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of B g - BEUBERENEBRE F
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by 1l Ty E A 52 SR AR A BE 1 & RHE R
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased B BHEEBENEADEREE
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the MEFHEE UEBELEEZNNE
respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses PRRRERTE ARERERAEERE
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables using fEET A E SR B BREEEER
a provision matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss FRATRERE ZRELEEE
experience, adjusted for forward looking information that is available BERIUBBERENVERNRLE
without undue cost or effort. NEIATEGRRIIE M ERHE L -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the expected losses is the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts
that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any
other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the effective
interest rate cannot be determined, the Group will apply a discount
rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if,
and to the extent that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting
the discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where
evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be available,

the financial instruments are grouped on the below basis:
*  Nature of financial instruments;

*  Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk

characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on the amortised cost

of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are recognised
at the higher of the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with IFRS 9; and the amount initially recognised less,
where appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognised over the

guarantee period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve
is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained
earnings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-B--Ft-AZt-ALSE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a

financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds

received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s

own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost

using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and notes payables, accruals and
other payables, bank borrowings and lease liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial quarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to
make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their
fair values and measured subsequently at the higher of:

o the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with IFRS 9; and

* the amount recognised initially less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.

Convertible loan notes

The component parts of the convertible loan notes are classified
separately as financial liability and equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument. A conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the Company's own equity
instruments is an equity instrument.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

GEVBBERNERELERTES
ATBCR(E)

SRMIAE)

THEEREZ (&)
BEHAAG B2 A E
BRENEIRNRENRE  EtE
BRAEMENT RITERLEESR
EMERAELRERBERNELER
SN

Y B EREL
FBEREANR—BABRKBTAIN
EENFABERAEAREEEBA
RZREH T AM BRI 2 HR0E
BAREEANAH

PBEREVABMHREZAERTFES
g HEBRUTERERAE

s REERNBHRELEINFEIRE
EREBERERSE R

o IRERMEERE(WER)E
REINER R R HHER -

AR BRI
ABMEEREENRESIRESD
ZHMABTAREBAEREETA
NEEBBLNBEREREERERAK -
KUABEERREI A —RERMEE
BHREFHENARRAGERTA
MARER 2R ERERTA -

BHKERARAF | FH 2021

&

<



~D

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Convertible loan notes (continued)

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
(including any embedded non-equity derivatives features) is estimated
by measuring the fair value of similar liability that does not have an
associated equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by deducting
the amount of the liability component from the fair value of the
compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included in
equity, net of income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured.
In addition, the conversion option classified as equity will remain in
equity until the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the
balance recognised in equity will be transferred to share premium.
Where the conversion option remains unexercised at the maturity
date of the convertible note, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. No gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss upon conversion or expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible loan notes
are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion
to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating
to the equity component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in the carrying
amount of the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible loan notes using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

When the Group exchanges with the existing lender one debt
instrument into another one with the substantially different terms,
such exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original
financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.
Similarly, the Group accounts for substantial modification of terms of
an existing liability or part of it as an extinguishment of the original
financial liability and the recognition of a new liability. It is assumed
that the terms are substantially different if the discounted present
value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid
net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective
rate is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. If
the modification is not substantial, the difference between: (1) the
carrying amount of the liability before the modification; and (2) the
present value of the cash flows after modification is recognised in
profit or loss as the modification gain or loss within other gains and
losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable

estimate can be made by the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of

the time value of money is material).

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent
liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. When a change in the probability
of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be

recognised as a provision.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and
other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of

three months or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share capital and shares held for share award scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where the Company’s shares are acquired from the market by the
Bank of Communications Trust Limited for share option scheme, the
total consideration of shares acquired from the market (including
directly attributable incremental costs) is presented as shares held for
share award scheme.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group if:

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to
the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the Group
or the Company's parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Related parties (continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(i)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(iii) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(iv) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(v)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when
there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of
accounting estimates, which, by definition, will seldom equal the
actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in
applying the Group's accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom
equal the actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

(a) Depreciation

The Group's management determines the residual value, useful
lives and related depreciation charges for its property, plant and
equipment and investment properties. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual residual value and useful lives of
property, plant and equipment as well as investment properties of
similar nature and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations and competitor actions in response to severe
industry cycles. Management will increase the depreciation charge
where residual value or useful lives are less than previous estimates,
or it will write-off technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold. The current estimated useful lives are
stated in Note 3.

4.

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-E-—%+-A=t-HIFE

R EER M
RAVBHRRFREMRGHEF R
BEE CROGEERERMES -
EHEAERAAEESHBRE TS
fE i -

it AH BB R G - EFERE
SREBMAMEAR  SRHRKEMN
WEH ELEAFEZBRTHRAR
RAIEH o

REEHRRELGETRBR - BA
BE - SHGARIZAEBERE
W Nl ] RE S B EN T EM K
FERAHEENBBZRABRELE
ARBZERER Bt RRER

(a) #E
AEEEREBETENE  BEKR
BURKEERHENFIGER £
REHREBTEER - FI{EMETIA
BOUMERDENYE  BEREE
UREENEHENERFSREEBERK
FRFHNBELRALE - AR
B RBGFERRILAITEE R
B1TE) - AT ERNEES - &
FHEESFERFHONERGET
EEEKRSMEERR - SMiiHM
AN EBRRKEERAR L ENIER
BMEE - BRIfhEt Al EAFEHER
BzE3 -

BHKERARAF | FH 2021

&

@



~D

&

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax
assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is
made.

Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact on the recognition of deferred tax assets and
taxation in the periods in which such estimates are changed.

Dividends derived from the Company's subsidiaries in the PRC earned
after 1 January 2008 are subject to withholding tax at the rate of
5%-10%. The Group reassessed its needs to make distributions out
of its subsidiaries in the PRC. As a result, withholding income tax has
been provided for the undistributed profits to the extent they are
expected to be distributed in future.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences are
recognised as management considers it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

(¢) Impairment review
(i) Gooawill arising from acquisition of a subsidiary —-Tiandi Green
(Note 19)
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated, which
is the higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal.
The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit (or a
group of cash-generating units) and a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value. Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected, or change in facts and circumstances which
results in downward revision of future cash flows or upward revision
of discount rate, a material impairment loss or further impairment
loss may arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

() Impairment review (continued)

(i) Gooawill arising from acquisition of a subsidiary —-Tiandi Green
(Note 19) (continued)

The table below summarised the key assumptions used in the

goodwill impairment review and the impacts on the value-in-use

calculations upon unfavourable movements of the key assumptions:

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2021
Bz-2--F+-A=+-HIFE

Rt EERNEE)

() WESEHE)

(i) WEBHELE - XBREBELEY
BE (M 19) (%)

TREFIE R E R FTR AR R R

SMBERNERBREEINEGR

HEREEFEERNTE

Decrease in Impairment

Assumption Movement value-in-use loss
Items used of key assumption RMB'000 RMB’000
EREE
D BERX
HE P AR =% TERREH ARBTT AR®TrR
Annual revenue growth rate 0.5%-17.1% Decreased by 1% 38,407 —
FPALRE B 1%
Long-term growth rate 3.0% Decreased by 1% 66,524 —
REERE B 1%
Gross margin 44.7%-49.8% Decreased by 1% 32,486 —
EHE B 1%
Pre-tax discount rate 14.5% Increased to 15.5% 77,038 —
BATALIR & EINZE15.5%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Impairment review (continued)
(i) Gooawill arising from acquisition of a subsidiary —-Tiandi Green
(Note 19) (continued)

Based on management’s analysis, negative movements of the above
key assumptions are unlikely to happen given prudent assumptions
had been used in the goodwill impairment analysis. As such, no
impairment loss had been recognised for the goodwill arising from
acquisition of Tiandi Green for the year ended 31 December 2021.

(i) Investment in an associate — Highland Natural Water

As at 31 December 2021, in view of the operating performance of
the associate — High Natural Water, the Group performed impairment
assessment on the associate — High Natural Water. Determining
whether impairment loss should be recognised requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the relevant associate which is the
higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal.

This valuation uses cash flow projections based on financial
estimates covering a five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of
approximately 12.6% (2020: approximately 12.5%). The cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a steady 3.0%
(2020: 3.0%) growth rate. In cases where the actual cash flows are
less or more than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future cash flows estimation or discount
rate, a material reversal or further recognition of impairment may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in
which such a reversal or further recognition takes place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Impairment review (continued)
(i) Investment in an associate — Highland Natural Water (continued)

The table below summarised the key assumptions used in the
impairment review for investment in Highland Natural Water and
the impacts on the value-in-use calculations upon unfavourable
movements of the key assumptions:

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F--FtoAST-ALFE

BRETEER A2

() HWEERE)

(i) RBEERET-BRARKHEE
(%)

TREFIRENBRRAKBEEH

FIAR B RBRRME RN AR ERE

IR B e 418 B E R E R

Decrease in Impairment

Assumption Movement value-in-use loss
Items used of key assumption RMB’000 RMB’000
EREE

D REE X

HE Fr AR TERREH AREBTRT AR¥TrR

Annual revenue growth rate 7.4%-40.0% Decreased by 1% 67,768 —
FPAERE 1%

Long-term growth rate 3.0% Decreased by 1% 62,559 —
FPAERE 1%

Gross margin 51.5%-51.6% Decreased by 1% 39,512 —
EFE B 1%

Pre-tax discount rate 12.6% Increased to 13.6% 64,923 —

BATRRIR &

Based on management’s analysis, negative movements of the above
key assumptions are unlikely to happen given prudent assumptions
had been used in the impairment analysis. As such, no impairment
loss had been recognised for the investment in Highland Natural
Water for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Impairment review (continued)
(i) Investment in an associate — Highland Natural Water (continued)

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of the associate -
High Natural Water amounted to approximately RMB437,282,000
(2020: RMB441,390,000).

(iii) Investment in an associate — Shannan Yalaxiangbu

As at 31 December 2021, in view of the operating performance of the
associate — Shannan Yalaxiangbu, the Group performed impairment
assessment on the associate — Shannan Yalaxiangbu. Determining
whether impairment loss should be recognised requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the relevant associate which is the
higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal.

This valuation uses cash flow projections based on financial
estimates covering a five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of
approximately 12.4%. The cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated using a steady 3.0% growth rate. In cases where
the actual cash flows are less or more than expected, or change in
facts and circumstances which result in revision of future cash flows
estimation or discount rate, a material reversal or further recognition
of impairment may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss
for the period in which such a reversal or further recognition takes
place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Impairment review (continued)
(ifi)  Investment in an associate — Shannan Yalaxiangbu (continued)

The table below summarised the key assumptions used in the
impairment review for investment in Shannan Yalaxiangbu and
the impacts on the value-in-use calculations upon unfavourable
movements of the key assumptions:

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F--FtoAST-ALFE

BEestERNEE)

(0 REEHNE)

(i) REELRE - ILERNERHR
- {C-)

TREINRENLERERERRESR

BRI MBS R 2 RN B Rk

BETINESREEREEAESAR

WEE

Decrease in Impairment

Assumption Movement value-in-use loss
Items used of key assumption RMB’000 RMB’000
EREE

D REE X

HE Fr AR TERREH AREBTRT AR¥TrR

Annual revenue growth rate 23.7%-186.9% Decreased by 1% 69,749 —
FPAERE 1%

Long-term growth rate 3.0% Decreased by 1% 72,738 —
REPERE R 1%

Gross margin 50.4%-52.4% Decreased by 1% 39,826 —
EFE B 1%

Pre-tax discount rate 12.4% Increased to 13.4% 95,895 10,852

BATRRIR &

Based on management’s analysis, negative movements of the above
key assumptions are unlikely to happen given prudent assumptions
had been used in the impairment analysis. As such, no impairment
loss had been recognised for the investment in Shannan Yalaxiangbu
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of the associate —
Shannan Yalaxiangbu amounted to approximately RMB654,905,000.

EINE13.4%

ERNEEBNAN  ERNEESNE
EREERR LRAETERVLAT
RELEMEH Al BE-F
T—H+-A=t-HLEFE #E
SIRERILE R F D E LR
BERX

RZE-—F+-A=+—H B2
RA-IIBBENEAREENAAR
654,905,000 7T °

BHKERARAF | FH 2021

&

@



~D

&

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Impairment review (continued)
(iv) Trade receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables and other financial assets
at amortised cost are based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well
as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.

Allowance of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. Due to greater
financial uncertainty triggered by the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group
has increased the expected loss rates in the current year as there is
higher risk that a prolonged pandemic could led to increased credit
default rates. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are
disclosed in the tables in Note 5.1(b).

(d) Fair value measurement of financial instruments

As at 31 December 2021, certain of the Group's unquoted equity
investment and structured financial products amounting to
approximately RMB2,000,000 (2020: RMB366,810,000) are measured
at fair value with fair value being determined based on unobserved
inputs using valuation techniques. Judgment and estimation are
required in establishing the relevant valuation techniques and the
relevant inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these
factors could affect the reported fair values of these instruments.
Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in the
tables in Note 5.3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(e) Provision for financial guarantee contracts

The Group makes estimate on costs required to fulfil the relevant
obligation of guarantee contracts when the guaranteed amount
is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Such estimation
is based on the available information as at reporting date and is
determined by the Group’s practical experience, the default history,
the collateral held and financial position of relevant customers
assessed on an individual basis in the industry and taking into
consideration of industry information and market data. Where the
actual obligation the Group requires to fulfill is more than expected,
a material provision may arise. Amount of corporate guarantee
provided by the Group is disclosed in Note 44(b).

(f)  Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible asset

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment,
if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has
to exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use,
the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the assets belong.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including the discount
rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially
affect the recoverable amounts.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
are approximately RMB422,544,000, RMB27,077,000 and
RMB31,120,000 respectively.
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TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market
risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise and monitor potential adverse effects on the
Group'’s financial performance in a timely and effective manner.

5.1 Financial risk factors

(a) Market risk

(i) Currency risk

The functional currency of a majority of the entities within the Group
is RMB and most of the transactions are settled in RMB. However, the
Group is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from its transactions,
which are primarily denominated in HKD.

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging
policy. However, the management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and may consider hedging significant foreign
exchange exposure should the need arises.

As at 31 December 2021, if RMB had weakened/strengthened by
5% against HKD with all other variables held constant, the total net
assets of the Group would have been approximately RMB14,917,000
(2020: RMB16,369,000) lower/higher respectively, mainly as a
result of foreign exchange translation of the consolidated financial
statements for the Company and its Hong Kong subsidiary whose
functional currency is HKD; the post-tax profit for the year would
have been approximately RMB2,029,000 (2020: RMB2,273,000)
lower/higher.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(ir)  Interest rate risk

The Group currently does not have interest rate hedging policy.
However, management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need
arise.

The Group's borrowings obtained at variable rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to bank and cash balances
and borrowings which is partially offset by cash held at variable rates.
During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group's
borrowings at variable rates were mainly denominated in RMB. At
31 December 2021, if interest rates on floating-rate borrowings had
been 5% higher/lower with all other variables held constant, post
tax profit for the year would have been approximately RMB296,000
(2020: RMB839,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/lower
interest expense on floating-rate borrowings.

At 31 December 2021, the Group has bank borrowings amounting
to approximately RMB285,000,000 (2020: RMB275,000,000)
and borrowings from third parties amounting to approximately
RMB5,175,000 (2020: RMB301,825,000) at fixed interest rates
and these expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. As at
31 December 2021,
borrowings from third parties with fixed interest rates approximated

the carrying amounts of bank borrowings,

their fair value due to their short tenures and the influence of fair

value interest rate risk is marginal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(ifi) ~ Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments
in equity securities measured at FVTPL and FVTOCI. The Group
invested in certain unquoted equity securities for investees operating
in beverage and information technology industry sectors for long
term strategic purposes which had been designated as FVTOCI. The
Group has appointed a special team to monitor the price risk and will
consider hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

Details of sensitivity analysis are disclosed in Note 5.3(a).
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(b) Credit risk (b) EEEME
Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk arises from cash FERBEREGFAEE - FER

at bank, restricted bank deposits, trade receivables, other financial
assets at amortised cost and certain financial assets at FVTPL (i.e.

BARBRTRE  RRHBITHER
BWE S - NEHAATENH M

investment in structured financial products). The carrying amounts CRMEERNAABEAZEAHESD
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation SFAERNETeREE(BIRERE
to those financial assets. The Group does not hold any collateral or ERMEMNKE) - REERLASER

other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its
financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) cash at bank and restricted bank deposits and investment in

structured financial products

Substantially all of the Group’s cash at bank and restricted bank
deposits and structured financial products are held in major financial
institutions located in the PRC and Hong Kong, which management
believes are of high credit quality. There was no recent history of
default of cash at bank and restricted bank deposits and structured
financial products from such financial institutions/authorities. The
management considers the credit risk is insignificant and no loss
allowance was recognised.

(ii)  Trade receivables

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an internal
credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality
and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed
to customers are reviewed twice a year. Other monitoring procedures
are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In this regard, the management considers that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as nil (2020: nil) and 20%
(2020: 17%) of the total trade receivables was due from the Group's
largest customer and the five largest customers, respectively. In
order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits and
credit approvals.

5.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F--FtoAST-ALFE

B RBERE)

51 HERBEZE)
(b) EEREEE)
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LF:$:3) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
:f\éﬂjﬁﬁ% Fﬁ%?

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Trade receivables (continued)

The Group has trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer
products and trade receivables arising from loans to third parties. For
the trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer products,
the Group perform impairment assessment under ECL model which
uses a lifetime expected loss allowance. And the Group uses two
categories which reflect their credit risk, and how the receivables loss
allowance is determined for each of those categories. For customers
suffered financial difficulties, the Group recognised as Category 1,
and for the other customers, the Group recognised as Category 2. For
the trade receivables arising from loans to third parties, the Group
uses three categories which reflect their credit risk and how the loan
loss allowance is determined for each of those categories.

The summary of the assumptions underpinning the Group's ECL
model for loans receivables from third parties is the same as the ECL
model used for other receivables, which are set out below.

For trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer products,
the expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales
over the past years and the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
The Group has identified the GDP and the unemployment rate to be
the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss
rates based on expected changes in these factors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. MBEBRERE)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 5.1 BB¥EABEZEE)

(b)  Credit risk (continued) (b) EEREEE)

(i) Trade receivables (continued) (i) EREZ(E)

On that basis, the loss allowance for trade receivables due from third FHERE R -—FR_T
parties as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 was determined as follows: ZFE+ZA=+—H BRE=ZAH

RAE SR BRBEEENT -

Category 2
it |

VCRUEN

Within 1 year  1-2 years 2 years
31 December 2021 ZEC-FtZAZT-H Category 1 Current past due past due past due Total
-8 HE  BE-Fh BH-ZRE AMEEWE h
RMB'000  RMB‘000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

ARRTR  ARRTR  ARRTR  ARRTR  ARRTn  ARETR

Expected loss rate BRI A E 100% 4.34% 9.35% 25.28% 41.35%
Gross carrying amount FEERE 28,672 94,249 37,329 137,408 47,122 345,380

Loss allowance BREE 28,672 34,736

Category 2
ot |

More than
Within 1 year 1-2 years 2 years
31 December 2020 ZECEETCA=T-H Category 1 Current past due past due past due Total
28 8 BE-5A PH-ZRF RHEAME @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT ARETr ARMTR ARETR ARETR  ARETR

Expected loss rate TEEEA R 100% 0.18% 1.15% 6.49% 51.02%
Gross carrying amount REMBRE 19,094 33377 86,995 144,868 58175 342,509
Loss allowance BRBE 19,094 59 997 9,404 29,681 59,235
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(if)  Trade receivables (continued)

The movement of loss allowances for trade receivables is as follows:

5. MBEREEE)

5.1 MBEBRREE)

(b) FEmEEE)

(i)  EWEZFH(E)
FBRESFOBRBEZESNT

RMB’000
AR®TR

Balance at 1 January 2020
Reversal of impairment loss during the year

RZE-ZF—A—BN&EH
FRREBEHED

77,749
(18,514)

Balance at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021

Provision of impairment loss during the year

R_EB-_EF+-_A=1+—HK
T —F—fF—HOEH
FNREEBENEE

Balance at 31 December 2021

90,723

R-B-Z-F+ZA=1t-HMNER

Trade receivables are written off where there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a
debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a failure
to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 180 days

past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(iif) ~ Other financial assets at amortised cost
The
recognition of an asset and whether there has been a significant

Group considers the probability of default upon initial

increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit
risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition by considering available reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information and the following indicators:

- actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations;

- actual or expected significant changes in the operating results
of the borrower; and

- significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour
of the borrower, including changes in the payment status of
borrowers in the group and changes in the operating results of
the borrower.

Other financial assets at amortised cost are written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a borrower failing to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group. The Group categorises
a loan or receivable for write off when a debtor fails to make
contractual payments more than 180 days past due. Where loans or
receivables have been written off, the Group continues to engage in
enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. Where
recoveries are made, these are recognised in profit or loss.

5.

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-E-—%+-A=t-HIFE

B RBERE)

5.1 MERBRERE)

(b) FEREEE)

(iii) LBSRAAAENE M T HEE
AEEEHEEETIRERRZRE
BAOMREN  YREHEREREN
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REHHBEZONERETLE I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(iii)  Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

The Group uses three categories for those receivables which reflect

their credit risk and how the loss allowance is determined for each

of those categories. A summary of the assumptions underpinning the

Group's ECL model is as follows:

5. HMBEBRERE)

5.1 MERBRERE)

(b) FEREEE)

(iii) BRI ENEMEBEE
(%)

AEE LS RYGKIAR B =E%

[ B EL (= P L B DA e 4 fe] e 72 38 =

BRIMBRER -  XBARERME

EEEENNRREANT

Category Company definition of category Basis for recognition of loss allowance
5l BRINARARRE BRBRBENERE
Performing Receivables whose credit risk is in line with 12 month expected losses. Where the
original expectations expected lifetime of an asset is less than
12 months, expected losses are measured
at its lifetime ECL (stage 1)
E% EE R ERIE S — B Rk EIE NREARREX - HRERFESRE 120

Underperforming

2)ad

Non-performing
(credit impaired)

TRUEERIE)

Write-off

35

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

Receivables for which a significant
increase has occurred compared to original
expectations; a significant increase in credit
risk is presumed if interest and/or principal
repayments are 30 days past due

R TE B AR b 5 B B B R E I N A R IR
WA SR/ AAEEFTALHI0R - HHEEEE
e B R 2 SR N

Interest and/or principal repayments are
90 days past due or it becomes probable a
customer will enter bankruptcy

FIE R/ SALEHAHIOAKES AL
ABERFF

Interest and/or principal repayments are 180
days past due and there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery

FIER/ A& EHBH1800 - ESERHRE
EWE

ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(iii)  Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

Over the term of the other financial assets at amortised cost, the
Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately providing for ECL
on a timely basis. In calculating the ECL rates, the Group considers
historical loss rates for each category of customers. No significant
changes to estimation techniques or assumptions were made during
the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, all the other financial assets
at amortised cost were within their contractual credit period. The
loss allowance for other financial assets at amortised cost as at 31
December 2021 and 2020 was determined as follows:

5.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F--FtoAST-ALFE

B RBERE)

5.1 MERBRERE)

(b) FEMEEE)

(iii) BRI ENEMEBEE

(%)

EABBRK AT ENEMEREEN
HRA - AKEEZELEHEREE
BREELEEREREAGERRA
o B EBEBEEBARE AR
EeZREBAEPNELBAE -
Fﬁ¢%WMﬁﬁ&m&¢ﬁMP“

RZEZ—FRZT=FTF+=A
=t+—H FBENEBRRAFENE
HMEMEEYEREANEESRR -
RZEZ—FRZZF-_FTF+=A
=+—B - UESKAENEMLS
MEENBABEETHT

Performing Total
EE st
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARBTTT

2.70%
1,014,305 1,014,305

31 December 2021 —E-—%+ZA=+—H
Expected loss rate JEEAIE kK

Gross carrying amount REERRE

Loss allowance BREE

27,418
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. MBREREEE)
5.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 51 B¥EREZE)
(b)  Credit risk (continued) (b) EEREEE)
(ifi)  Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued) (i) HEBHEAGTEMAEM2HEE
(#)
31 December 2020 —ETFE+A=+—H Performing Total

E% st
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T R N

Expected loss rate EEE R XK 0.34%
Gross carrying amount REEAE 1,371,938 1,371,938
Loss allowance BREE 4,670
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, no other financial assets at RZE-_—4FR-_ZFE-_ZTF+_-A
amortised cost with a contractual amount written off during the =+—B - AN R AR
period. The gross carrying amount of other financial assets at ENEMSREE DESRKAHE
amortised cost, and thus the maximum exposure to loss, is as follows: MEMEHEENERERENEH
BROSEARBRAEDT
2021 2020
—E-—-F —ECFTF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARET T
Performing N 1,014,305 1,371,938
Written off 58 — —
Total gross other financial NES A ENEh R EELRE
assets at amortised cost 1,014,305 1,371,938
Less: Loss allowance O IBREE (27,418) (4,670)
Less: Written off B HsE — —

986,887 1,367,268
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(iii)  Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

The movement of loss allowance for other financial assets at
amortised cost is as follows:

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

B RBERE)

5.1 BBEREEE)

(b) ERERE)

(i) WBHATH BN R 2 HEE
()

MR B RS AR

SBEBDNT

RMB’000
AR®TR

Balance at 1 January 2020
Impairment loss recognised during the year

FNERHRERK

RZE-ZF—A—BN&EH 2,168
2,502

Balance at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 R-T-TF+-_F=+—HNF

—T-F-H-HO&ER 4,670

Impairment loss recognised during the year

FRERHRERK

22,748

Balance at 31 December 2021

R-B--F+ZA=1t-HMNER

27,418

There was no other financial asset carrying a significant exposure to
credit risk.

(c) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient
cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount
of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market
positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses,
the Group’s treasury function allows flexibility in funding by
maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalents.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity
position based on the expected cash flows.

HemEEYERRENEERR
HHE o

(c) FEttEE
FEENRBURAREEBRARTR
MR e REARANEREERE N
HFARBRES  RRTHTEN
BN ARNAKEHEBEEHNDE
W TAEENEBRNREBRBERTR
WREMREEEMNREESNE
BN o

EEERBESRSREEELE
RBESHRNRE TR

Je]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-Z-—F+-B=+-HI%E

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. MBEBRERE)
5.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 5.1 BB¥EABEZEE)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) FEMEEE)
(i) Financing arrangements () BEZH
The Group has the following undrawn bank borrowing facilities: AEEEBATHARRERORITER
BE -

As at 31 December
R+=BA=+—8H

2021 2020
—E--F —T-FTF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTTT

Fixed rate: B EF &
— expiring within one year —R—FRNEm

40,000
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)  Liquidity risk (continued)

(i) Maturities of financial liabilities

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities in relevant

maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the end of

the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The amounts

disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

At 31 December 2021

5.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

B RBERE)

5.1 MERBRERE)

(c) mEMmEE)

(i) EMREZHH
TEROMBRBERREANIHER
AR B D AKAE R B B AR B AR
EREBAE  RTARENHED
REDHNENARTRRERE -

R-B--5+-A=1+—H

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Bank borrowings

Trade and notes payables
Convertible Bonds

Other financial liabilities

FiTECHAR
RIER
EHESHRENRE
A RES
At e RARE

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
ik S5
ERA=

%

Within
1 year

—E0R
RMB'000
ARBTR

419,901
277,923

144,244

842,068

Undiscounted cash flows

AFRRER

Total

Between 1 Over carrying

and 5 years 5 years Total amount

25 BENL it REEAE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTRL  ARBTR ARMTR ARETR

76,811 496,712 485,000

= 277,923 277,923

324,698 324,698 275,684

= 144,244 144,244

401,509 1,243,577
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

@ GANBREN

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-Z-—F+-B=+-HI%E

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)  Liquidity risk (continued)

(i) Maturities of financial liabilities (continued)

At 31 December 2020

5.

MHEERERZ)

5.1 MERBRERE)
(c) mEMmEE)
(i) ZHREFHHE)

RZZE-_ZEF+-_A=+—H

Undiscounted cash flows

ATRRER

Weighted
average Total
effective Within -~ Between 1 QOver carrying
interest rate Tyear and 5 years 5 years Total amount

IETH
BRI —FIAR —E0f RENE &t  REELE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BAlk ARETT  ARETR ARETR  ARETRT  ARETR

Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ ¥{T4&MEE

Bank borrowings BITER 3.56 517,791 113,914 - 631,705 610,000
Trade and notes payables ENESFRENRE — 324,150 - — 324,150 324,150
Lease liabilities HERR 3.74 150 — — 150 147
Other financial liabilities EheRAE — 403,536 — — 403536 403,536
1,245,627 113,914 — 1,359,541 1,337,833

The Group provided a financial guarantee amounting to
approximately RMB280,000,000 (2020: RMB170,000,000) to one
of its associate for obtaining bank borrowings as at 31 December

2021. Given the financial position and earning ability of the associate

company, management believe that the risk of default for the

associate for the loan repayment is very low and thus management

believes that there is no material liquidity risk arising from the

financial guarantee provided by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends to be paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group's capital is mainly from equity funding and borrowings for
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on
the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as borrowings
divided by total capital. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position plus
borrowings.

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

5.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

B RBERE)

52 EBEFXERER
AEEERBANBERRRELAEE
BEKZENREN KM ARREHED
o REAMAEEREE R SR
REREENRBURHEESKA -

e

REFNHEEARE  AKET
BHXHTFRERORE  MEREER
BAR  BTHBIHEEENRE -

[
5]

HE_E-_—FRK-_ZT-FF+-A
Z+—RIEFE AEEMNELREE
KABRAE S RIER -

BENHGORE -8 AEEUEE
BEL RERERER o RIBH RIR
ERBRNERBEAFE - BERBER
e B AROR R TR S | 018 FRE

B o
Ean

RZBE-—FR-_Z-_FTF+-A
—t-—HHNEEERBLENT :

As at 31 December
R+=HA=+—8

2021 2020
—E--F —TCFTF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTTT

Bank borrowings (Note 33) RITREF(MIEE33) 610,000
Borrowings from third parties (Note 32) B=FEFH(IE32) 301,825
Convertible Bonds (Note 34) AR ES (M 34) =
Total borrowings ERE 765,859 911,825
Total equity R 2,831,432 2,722,108
Total capital BERAE 3,597,291 3,633,933
Gearing ratio BEEABHLE 25.09%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FERBERRME
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5.

5.3 Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in

determining the fair values of the financial instruments that are

recognised and measured at fair value in the consolidated financial

statements.

(a)  Fair value hierarchy

To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in

determining fair value, the Group classifies its financial instruments

into the three levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An

explanation of each level follows underneath the table.

The following table presents the Group's financial assets measured

and recognised at fair value at 31 December 2021 and 2020 on a

recurring basis:

B RBERE)

53 EMIANDABMETE
AR EER AN BERNG UMK
BEAEZANGENSRTANAR
(B R PTIEAY BT R fh 5T -

(a) AAEEER
REHEEARBERREAZEN
AERERSR AEERESER
REREERIADRZE - BER
ZBREHIRWT -

TREIAEER-_Z-_—FK-F
TEREFEF AT HEBREFEEN
AREBEFEREIANCREE

Level 3
%38
2021 2020
—E--F —T-FF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Recurring fair value measurements REMAARBETE M AR T ARETT
Financial assets ﬁﬂﬁﬁ
FVTPL RiEEGERRE
quJKTE T EREE
- Investment in structured —RERGBIEENEMD
financial products 27 180,811
— Investment in GT Express (Beijing) *?xﬁﬁ’\éj_?: Iy
Information Technology Co., Ltd. ERMERAF
("GT Express”) ((aﬁéﬁﬁj) 27 11,517
192,328
FVTOCI WAREEAEEEE
AR M EERER
EREE
— Investment in Shannan Yalaxiangbu —RER IR EM 22 174,482
174,482

Total financial assets

F

366,810

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.3  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(a)  Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The table above analyses the Group's financial instruments carried at
fair value as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 by level of the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs are
categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and equity securities) is
based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period.
The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group

is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3. This is

the case for unlisted equity securities.

5.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F--FtoAST-ALFE

B RBERE)

53 EMIANAABETESE)
(a) AAEEERE)
FREHAERARBEZEERMAA
BARBNES  IMAKER_-Z
k- FT-_FF+-_A=1+—H
BRAREBEIGZERTIA - BHE
ABEDE TR BREARR
BEREAN=ERAL :

F1E: NERTHEENERTAE
(MARBEZTETARERES)
MARBERREORAMBMEE
o ARBMBEREERMBAZTS
REAEREAEB -ZEIAGIIA
F1E-

BB N EBRTMZEEN SR
TABIWSIMIETR)NAAE
@Bﬁ%%gﬂ%Tﬁﬁﬁ%%%&
BEVEBEENEEMNBER
MET - MatE-—EHIANOAERE
MENMBERBASBEATERY
B AZIAIAR2E -

FIE: M—BERFTBEAGAZE
WIRBEABETEZHEEMNTE - A
THIAFIE - LTEREFN
BitiE R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-B--Ft-AZt-ALSE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. MBEBREREE)
5.3  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued) 53 $BMIBNAARBENEE)
(a)  Fair value hierarchy (continued) (a) RXAEBEERE)
Financial Fair value  Valuation Significant
assets/financial liabilities Fair value as at hierarchy  technique unobservable input
SHEE/LRARE RATBEENALER RAEEER HERE EXTURRRARE

31 December 31 December
2021 2020
“E--F “E-EE
+ZA=t-H +-A=t-H
RMB000 RMB'000
ARBTTT AREFT

Financial assets at FVTPL
WAREEHEREEY
SABENEREE

- Structured financial 180,811 2021: N/A 2021: N/A 2021: N/A
(2020: Level 3)  (2020: Market approach) (2020: Discount rate per
products annum)
—GELENER T ZZC-FTER % ER
TER  (ZR2RF:wmE)  (CECRE FEBRE)
(Z3=%F:
F3E)
- GT Express 11,517 2021: Level 2 2021: Quoted price 2021: N/A
(2020: Level 3)  (2020: Discounted cash  (2020: Discount rate per
flow method) annum)
-EREH “ERo-E: % 3E “E--F:1ER
F2E (ZB-TE: (Z222F : ERE)
(—7—7$ Iﬁéﬁ/ﬂb?ﬁiﬁ/ﬁ)
%3E)
Financial assets at FVTOC|
L/(Qﬁﬁ@ﬁiﬂﬁn u*/\
A2 EMENERERE
- Shannan Yalaxiangbu 174,482 2021: N/A - 2021: N/A 2021: N/A
(2020: Level 3)  (2020: Discounted cash  (2020: Discount rate per
flow method) annum)
- IEEERD “BRo-Fr CBRO-F @R —B--FTER
TER (ZZ2-Z2F: (Z222F : ERE)
(—7—7$ Iﬁéﬁ/ﬂb?ﬁiﬁ/ﬁ)
%38)
% Those financial assets were disposed during the year ended 31 December * BHSREERBE-_T-_—F+=
2021. A=Z+—HLEFEALE -
# Those financial assets were transferred to “investment accounted for using # FHASREERBEZE-_ZT-_—F1+=
the equity method” during the year ended 31 December 2021. A=+—BLEFEEA[FEREREA
BRIIRE ]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. MERREEE)

53 EMIANAABETESE)
(b) ZEIELAAEBETEZHK

5.3 Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)
(b) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

Financial Financial
assets assets
at FVTOCI at FVTPL
UAREESE
BHSBHFA NAAEBEFTE
Hth 2 E s BHESBETA
HNeMEE BENEREE @5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET R AREBT R
At 1 January 2020 RZZ-TF—A—A 231,881 197,147 429,028
Additions BE — 180,000 180,000
Net gains recognised upon HE R R A F i Es (P EE8)
disposal (Note 8) — 12,482 12,482
Fair value changes (Note 8) NABEZEH(HES) (10,999) 811 (10,188)
Disposal HE (46,400) (198,112) (244,512)
At 31 December 2020 and RZZEZTE+-A=+—H
1 January 2021 k—F-—F—H—H 174,482 192,328 366,810
Net gains recognised upon H SRR F s (M EE8)
disposal (Note 8) — 9,189 9,189
Fair value changes (Note 8) NAEEZH(HES) 16,216 (9,517) 6,699
Transfer to investments BREFRAEREARNEE
accounted for using
the equity method (190,698) — (190,698)
Disposal HE = (190,000) (190,000
Transfer out of Level 3 EHIZE3 — (2,000) (2,000)

At 31 December 2021

w=v=—s1=n=+-0 [
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TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.3  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(c)  Group’s valuation processes

The Group's finance department performs the valuation of the
financial assets during the financial reporting process, including
level 3 fair value. Management engages external valuation experts
to facilitate the fair value evaluation as and when necessary. During
the valuation, management considers the business performance of
the investee in comparison with competitors in the same industry, as
well as the external valuation report if any. Risk adjustments specific
to the counterparties (including assumptions about credit default
rates) are derived from credit risk ratings determined by the Group's
internal credit risk management group. Discussion of valuation
process and results are held between chief financial officer, the
finance team and qualified external valuers that are responsible for
the valuation.

(d)  Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The management considers that the carrying amounts of financial

assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost recognised in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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B RBERE)

53 EMIANAABETESE)
(c) FEEBZEHEEF
AEBPHHRPIRABERREFLHS
BREEETHEBREEIBEAALE
#) EEERNERERSEFINDME
BERETANEENE - BEER
RERPEZEINERTERFHTFUR
ZHREN EHRBUARIMEEER
HWE) XY F R ERRFE
(BREBERENTNRR)IEA
SENBERARRER/EETHNE
RRREREGEHL BERVBGRE &
BERMENTEER LG EBIINEMGE
M YhERF MERETHS

(d) THEEEEEULAEETE
HWEBEERTHBEBZANE
]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on the
reports regularly reviewed by the executive Directors, being the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM"), that are used to make strategic
decisions.

(@) Description of segments and principal activities

(i)  Water business segment

The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and selling
a range of water products through wholesales in the PRC, selling
raw materials and consumables to associates and third parties, and
leasing production lines and a plant to associates.

(i) Beer business segment
The Group manufactures and sells a range of beer products mainly in
the PRC through wholesales.

(b) Segment information disclosures

Sales between segments are based on the agreed terms between both
segments. The revenue from external parties reported to the CODM
is measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

The amounts provided to the CODM with respect of total assets and
total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with that of the
consolidated financial statements.

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2021
e

EREREHTER DEBEERE
E((EREEAKE ) AR (LB
REMEBERNBERETLE D
-

(a) AVREFEEKHM

(i)  KEBZE

AEENEEZEH RN ERE R
BEKBKRIER  RABEEARF

ﬂ%fﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬂ&%ﬁ K 1) B

ENRILREEGR—HBE o

(i) BBFEESZ
REBETENHEHEERBEEEER
FIER(BBHLE) -

(b) AHBEREE

HEEHEE DHERMESD IR T IE
FET  ERTIELBERARENK
BINBEPHRARERGEBER
2HE-BHFRFE o

RUTIELEARARENENREE
FEAENSRRERGSPBERER
ENE-RHTAGE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. 2WERE)
(b) Segment information disclosures (continued) (b) oBEMEEE)
The segment information provided to the CODM for the reportable BE_T-_—F+-HA=+—BIt#F
segments for the year ended 31 December 2021 is as follows: B RETEELEARENTZR

N

DERDEERMT

Water Beer Inter-

business business  Corporate segment
segment segment  and others  elimination Total
Sk BEAN  LEREM  2HEMH At
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETn ARETx

Total segment revenue PEHRAEE 147,571 308,557 456,128
Cost of sales HEKR (86,280) (178,895) (265,175)
Gross profit e 61,291 129,662 - 190,953
Share of result on [EEFRRDENRN

investments accounted REME

for using the equity method
(Allowance for)/reversal CREERBEERE

of allowance for ECL on (B8 /BBED

financial assets (44,454) (9,790) (54,236)
Adjusted EBITDA* RELERTER

BRI * (12,883) 142,420 (20,207) 109,330

Finance income BBUA 33,662 22,396 96 56,154
Finance costs HBER (409) (13,661) (21,585) (35,655)
Depreciation and amortisation HERESR (26,483) (45,310) (163) (71,956)
Profit/(loss) before tax BRI/ (58) (6,113) 105,845 (41,859)
Income tax (expense)/credit AN (BR) /B2 (1,497) (10,241) 819
Profit/(loss) for the year EEFE/(BB) (7,610) 95,604 (41,040)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Segment information disclosures (continued)

The segment information provided to the CODM for the reportable
segments for the year ended 31 December 2021 is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

6. DEERE)
(b) AWHERFEE)
HE-_ZE-_—F+-B=1+—HIHF
B TELERRERRENGRE
EHRDLHLBERMT ¢

Water Beer
Business
segment Total
EE 2 H st
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR T ARBT R

Business
segment
KD
RMB’000
ARET T

Segment total assets

- Investments accounted for

using the equity method

NEEEE

—EREDEARNKRE

4,260,928 2,415,426 6,676,354

1,416,403 1,416,403

2,000

5,000

6,446
(2,540,854)

4,148,946

1,593,782 399,806 1,993,588

8,539

305,827
(990,440)

Unallocated RO
Financial assets at FVTPL BAnBENEAHS
BafemEE

Deferred tax assets EREHIBEE

Assets of corporate and others ~ (M¥REMEE

Inter-segment elimination 5 ERFEI A

Total assets HEE

Segment total liabilities DEBEEE

Unallocated KA

Deferred tax liabilities ERETIEEE

Liabilities of corporate rERHEMEE
and others

Inter-segment elimination 7> B e EH

Total liabilities HmEeE

1,317,514
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-Z-—F+-B=+-HI%E

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. ZDEERE)
(b) Segment information disclosures (continued) (b) oBEMEEE)

HE-ZE-_ZSF+_A=1+—HILHF
B RETEFELEARENITER
DERDIERIMT ¢

The segment information provided to the CODM for the reportable
segments for the year ended 31 December 2020 is as follows:

N

(cost)/income, net; (i) depreciation and amortisation; and (iii) income tax
(expense)/credit.

Adjusted EBITDA is not an accounting measure under IFRSs and should not
be considered as an alternative to the profit/(loss) for the year as a measure
of operational performance. Adjusted EBITDA does not have a standard
calculation method and the Group’s definition of adjusted EBITDA may not
be comparable to that of other companies.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Water Beer Inter-
business business Corporate segment
segment segment and others  elimination Total
Ka# BEEEAT  CEREM 5 RS @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETRE ARETR ARET:
Total segment revenue AP BT 180,065 311,503 1,311 - 492,879
Cost of sales HENR (94,878)  (182,865) - - (277,743)
Gross profit e 85,187 128,638 1311 - 215,136
Share of result on investments FE(L R R AN BRA
accounted for using RERE
the equity method (247) — (1,850) — (2,097)
Reversal of allowance CREERSEERR
for/(allowance for) ECL BEED/ (BE)
on financial assets 16,876 (845) (19) — 16,012
Adjusted EBITDA* REEETIER
AR 40,115 143,542 (22,037) - 161,620
Finance income BEUA 1,261 — — — 1,261
Finance costs MHER (12,508) (10,659) (22,211) — (45,378)
Depreciation and amortisation NERESH (28,206) (54,300) (274) — (82,780)
Profit/(loss) before tax BREERATE/ (B8) 662 78,583 (44,522) - 34,723
Income tax (expense)/credit FEH(ER) /B4 (10,975) (6,894) 64 - (17,805)
Profit/(loss) for the year EEFE/(B58) (10,313) 71,689 (44,458) - 16,918
Adjusted EBITDA is a key financial measure regularly monitored by CODM * AREREBFTELEENABAREE
in managing the Group's performance. Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by RERREEBASERANE E5
excluding the following effects from the profit/(loss) for the year: (i) finance EEE AEERSTMELHAF

BADEMBA T B EFERE/
(BEIMAZGH : (DHB(ER)/
WO R (i AT E S ¢ R (i) R
BR(BA)H% -

BEER BT EHHANABL R
RUBREENETNEFEES
% B TERBETREFERE
(BR)AELZEEE - BERRS
BT EEEA A H L ERENGES
A BASEHBHERGERTESR
HAA BN ERAT R LR B AT
HETTLCE -



6.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F--FtoAST-ALFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. DEERE)
(b) Segment information disclosures (continued) SHEMREE)
Water Beer
Business Business
segment segment Total
KDE LliEl mast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBTT ARETT
Segment total assets DEBEE 3,519,945 2,415,281 5,935,226
— Investments accounted for —FAEREARNEE
using the equity method 650,697 = 650,697
Unallocated Ko E
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBEFEAEEEHA
EBRNSREE 192,328
Financial assets at FVTOCI BARBEFEAEEEHA
Hit 2 ENHHNEHEE 174,482
Deferred tax assets ERERIAEE 4,277
Assets of corporate and others ¥R EMEE 16,816
Inter-segment elimination 2 BB 84 (2,171,618)
Total assets MEE 4,151,511
Segment total liabilities NHBBERE 1,232,434 495,614 1,728,048
Unallocated KOE
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEEE 7,371
Liabilities of corporate rEREMEE
and others 329,037
Inter-segment elimination 2 EP (635,053)
Total liabilities wmeE 1,429,403
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-B--Ft-AZt-ALSE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Segment information disclosures (continued)
Entity-Wide information
Breakdown of total revenue by category is shown in Note 7.

Revenue from external customers of the Group were all derived in the
PRC for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

Non-current assets other than financial instruments and deferred tax
assets are all located in the PRC as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

() Information about major customers
Revenue from customers over 10% of the Group’s total revenue is as

TEER(E)

(b) ZEHERKEE)
ERGELH

RIRRIBI D B U AP AR EN P 7 -

HE - TE-—FE-_T-_FTF+-A
S+—HIEFE  AEEINSEFH
WABREFE -

BHE-Z-_—FR-_T-FTF+=A
=t+—H ' FrPEEGRIARE
ERREERIN FURRE o

(0 EEREFHESR
REEASEZRATER10%HEF

follows: BIRAINT
Year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=1t—-HILEE
2021 2020
—B--F —T-FF
RMB‘000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARETT
Customer A EEA 143,117 142,276
Customer B ZFB 71,097 —
Customer C BEC —* 83,611

During the year ended 31 December 2021, sales of approximately
RMB41,012,000 (2020: RMB17,819,000) are derived from associates
in the water segment.

* The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the revenue of
the Group for the respective year.
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BE-_T-_—F+-HA=1+—BItHF
B KEBHIHNBEEENARE
41,012,000c(ZE - F: AR
17,819,000 7C) 2R B REF&E A F]

* HRERAYEASFEHRERRA
ERIEBB10% °



REVENUE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Revenue from external customers is mainly derived from the sales

of water products and beer products, interest income from lending

services provided and lease of production line and equipment. The

Group also sells raw materials and consumables to associates and

third parties and leases production lines and a plant to associates.

Breakdown of the revenue is as follows:

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

A
SEEPHIRATBRERHERR
R 7K E e P E i AR R 4B SRR
BEEOMERA - AEETHEE T
B2 R R R B =T R B R FEM DA R
HETHERREEREL —RESE
WA -

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+t—-HLHFE

2021 2020
—EC--F —T-TF
VE RMB'000
ARBT R ARBFTT

Revenue from contracts with customers: EFEARWA :
Recognised at a point in time KR A [T 2 1 7R
Sales of water products IKEmiHE 140,821 172,666
Sales of beer products EEmEE 307,949 310,206
Sales of raw materials and consumables FEM R R M E 609 1,248
484,120
Revenue from other source: Ht R RH WA -
Rental income el A 7,448
Interest income from lending services REEFRBEEOFEWA
provided 1,311
8,759
Total st 456,128 492,879
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

8.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

OTHER GAINS, NET

8.

HiFE - B

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+—-HLEFE

2021 2020
—E-—F
RMB'000
ARBT R

—E-T4

— =< —=

RMB’000
ARETT

Other gains/(losses)

Government grants

- Tax refund (note (a))

- Amortisation of deferred income

— Other government grant (note (b))

Gain on disposal of financial assets
at FVTPL (note (c))

Fair value changes on financial assets
at FVTPL (note (d))

Write-down of inventories
Others

Hitiez, (%)
B8

— &M (PH7E (a))

— R A

— E BT B (ML (b))
FEL‘A’“’?F@%%H

Wrzs (P EE(c ))

AARBEFEEEZEHTA
BREMEBEENALER
28 (ML (d)

ﬁﬁﬁhﬁ(/@@

it

1,800
2,374
4,798

12,482

811
(94)
236

22,407
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8.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OTHER GAINS, NET (CONTINUED)

notes:

(a)

The Group is eligible to receive subsidy income from the local government
in relation to the domestic subsidiaries’ fiscal contribution to the local
economic development as a major tax payer and employer in Tibet.
Accordingly, tax refund amounting to RMB3,357,000 was recognised for
the year ended 31 December 2021(2020: RMB1,800,000).

Other government grant represents various form of subsidies granted to
the Group by the local government authorities in the PRC for compensation
of expenses incurred by the Group. These grants are generally made for
business support and awarded to enterprises on a discretionary basis. There
are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

The Group purchased financial products issued by a financial institution
in the PRC. These financial products will mature within one year with
variable return rates indexed to the performance of the underlying assets.
During the year, the Group disposed of these investments amounting to
approximately RMB180,811,000 (2020: RMB180,630,000), which resulted in
a gain amounting to approximately RMB9,189,000 (2020: RMB11,866,000).

As at 31 December 2021, the Group held unlisted equity investment
amounting to approximately RMB2,000,000 (2020: RMB11,517,000), which
were measured financial assets at FVTPL. The unrealised fair value losses of
RMB9,517,000 (2020: Nil) were recognised for the year.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

HiRE  FEE)

Bf5E -

(a)

AEBEAAREZAREREE
BERNEMBFESEBRNNIEA
AHEMCERENM R EREEN
WHEORA Bl BE=-T=Z—F
+-A=T-BLEECHERERA
R#3,357,000(ZF=-FF : AR
#1,800,0007C) °

HuRGHEDETRL I REEBR
ARERUNESELAFEE  BRE
EARERY - ZEMP—RAXE
X% YRBRETEE - ZFHYL
EBEMRTHKORITRERARZE -

AEBEBEATE-FHSREBERETN
SRER ZFLRERBR—FA
I AU O apEEeENK
Bt FR AEERERERE
4N R #180,811,000L(—F - &
F: AR #%180,630,000T ) BB
WHEHARE,189,000L(Z T =F
F: AR 11,866,0007T) °

R-E-_—F+-_A=+—R0 K&
ERENELITRERESBOAA
R #2,000000L(ZE =T F: A
R#11,517,0007T) - ARRAAEME
HERHEDHABRHENERE
E-AFERARERNDAEEES
BAARKISI700T(ZF =%
F:F)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

9.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

FINANCE INCOME/(COST), NET

9.

MBBA(BA) B8

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+—-HLEFE

2021
—E-—F
RMB’000
AR% TR

Foreign exchange loss net
Interest costs on bank borrowings
Interest costs on convertible bonds (Note 15)
Interest costs on borrowings
from third parties

[ 5B RE R
RIOTBERNESER

AR ES NS B A (K 15)
FZHEFONEER

(1,066)
(13,661)
(16,591)

(4,270)
(3)
(64)

(35,655)

Interest costs on lease liabilities HEAGENBER
Other finance costs HiB % & F
Amount capitalised (note) EXNtbem )
Finance cost BKEHR

Finance income — interest income

WA —FBHA

(35,655)
56,154

Finance income/(cost), net

BBRA(EA)  BE

note: No interest (2020: RMB3,350,000) has been capitalised in assets under
construction for the year ended 31 December 2021. Interest was capitalised
at the weighted average rate of its general bank borrowings of 3.63% per

annum for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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2020
“E-FF

RMB’000

ARETT

(256)
(26,454)

(21,924)
(8)
(86)

(48,728)
3,350

(45,378)
1,261

(44,117)

M B#z2_f2-_—4+-_A=+—H
LEE B ZE_TF: AR
3,350,000) £ 2 & &= & A b & 7
B-BE_Z_TE+_A=+—H
HFE - FIBBE—RRTEZRMM
BEHFEFERE3.63% EAL



10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE-Z--F+_A=+—HL%E

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FAEHER
The amount of income tax expense charged to the consolidated NTREGEBERRITANMBHRE
statement of profit or loss represents: FReE

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+t—-HLEFE

2021 2020
—E--F —T-FF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT R ARET T

PRC Enterprise Income Tax: B EPAE
— Current tax —BIHEARE 1A 10,394
— (Over-provision)/under-provision in prior year —iBFFE (FBEEE), BETE 4,501
14,895
Deferred tax RIEFIAE 2,910
Income tax expense 5/ & B 17,805
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

10. FAEBER#)

The taxation on the Group's profit before income tax differs from the

theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate as

follows:

AEEMBRATBHRATFE MR E
BRIRNEAEERETERLENER
SR AT

Profit before income tax

BR TS BRI A1)

Tax calculated at statutory tax rate of 15%
Preferential tax rates on income of
certain group entities (note)
Loss not subject to tax
Tax effect of unused tax losses
not recognised
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Incomes not taxable for tax purposes
(Over-provision)/under-provision in respect of
prior years

BOREBREE B 15% TR
AETREEENRAMESH
EERE (M)

BRRBER

RE A ARER BB ER
ez

AR HHFE S

OLIEL L ON
HBEFEBREE),/
BETR

Income tax expense

FiSHi 8 B

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—HLFE

2021
—E-—F
RMB’000
AR% TR

2020
—ZT-EF
RMB’000
ARETIT

34,723

5,208

(6,141)
5913

6,836
11,305
(9,817)

4,501

17,805



10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

note: The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Under current laws

of the Cayman Islands, there is no income, estate, corporation, capital gains
or other taxes payable by the Company. The group entities established
under the International Business Companies Acts of the British Virgin Islands
are exempted from British Virgin Islands income taxes.

The group entities incorporated in the PRC are subject to PRC enterprise
income tax. Major operational entities of the Group are located in Tibet
and were entitled to preferential income tax rate. Based on the tax ruling
announced by the PRC central tax authorities, the corporate income tax
rate of Lhasa is 9% for the years from 2015 to 2021. From 2022 onwards,
the corporate income tax rate in Tibet will resume to 15% if no further
announcement from the PRC central tax authorities is made. The remaining
entities incorporated in the PRC were taxed based on the income tax rate of
25% for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: 25%) as determined in
accordance with the relevant PRC income tax rules and regulations.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate of 16.5% (2020:
16.5%). On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The
Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill") which introduces
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28
March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HKD2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25% and profits above HKD2 million will be
taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%. No provision for Hong Kong profit tax has been made for this year
as the Group has no assessable profits in Hong Kong.

The relevant deferred tax balances had been measured based on the
expected tax rates applicable in the future.

Bf5E -

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

10. FAEBER#)

ARBRFAEHEEMKL - RIEF
SHERTEE  AAFMETRE
WSk BEM ARK - BAE
ERHEMRIE REXBEZHS
MEREBAREKNINEEERE
BRBNRBRLEBHOMIGH

ERBEGEMR IO EEEEEMMAT
BREMEH FAEENFELEER
BUAARIZZMERER/E
RIBRE AR R A HE B AR
Bl NENCEMEBBRHRERAZT
—HFEE-_T-—FA9% BT
TFR B AR SEELE
SN AEBEOCEMESHH
KRG IMEZ15% o E &7 P B
RIMEBEBREE T -_—F+_H
“t—HEFERBBEENTERG
B8 8 3R 192 25% B AT 5 Bl R (=
TTF 0 25%)HE o

EBNEREIR165% (T T :
16.5%) M EFR - RZT—N\F
ZAZ+—8B BEUFERAB-Z
—tERBUET N ETR)GHIER
(MEBIER]) - SIAFIER MRS o
BHERR-_Z—-NE=A=F+/\H
EFEERALR TRAZATE R
BRHEHMARS  AEREREESE
2,000,000 7 7T # i M5 % £ 8.25%
2% 2,000,000 7 LA FI B = B A
16.5% o & F 15 50 AR &l /) &
TENENBEERZ165%NE -
BN o ARAREBRE S EER
BaEF - MRAFERTRESFE
o

RBETRALHERIEERN A%
HROBETUHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

11.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

11.

FENE

FEMBENRGIA) TSR :

Auditor’s remuneration

- Audit services

- Non-audit services
Raw materials and consumables used
Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation of PP&E
Depreciation of investment properties
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Short-term lease expenses
Employee benefit expenses
Advertising and marketing expenditure

City construction tax and education surcharge

Electricity and other utility expenses
Legal and other consulting services fee
Transportation costs
Gross rental income
from investment properties
Less: direct operating expenses incurred
for investment properties
that generated rental income during
the year
Allowance for /(reversal of allowance for)
ECL on financial assets
— Trade receivables
- Other financial assets at amortised cost

Loss on disposal of PP&E

ZEEE &

— BT R

—IEEET RIS
BT R M B R B
B AESH
ME - BERERETE
BREMEHENE
FREEENE
CHEEER
EERFER
EERmBERER
WHERREBEWME
BOREMERER
FEREREMBAREER
E R A
BEMERS ML

B FRNEERSRAN
REMEELNBEKZE
I

TREERNREEER
B/ (BHEE)
—ERE I
— BT ER
HitheMEE
0¥ BERREBOREER

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-RA=t—-HLFE

2021
—E8-—F
RMB'000
ARBTT

1,707
192,833
13,165
57,926
865
2,367
63,682
4,784
1,964
7,422
9,866
42,988

2020
“E-FF
RMB’000

ARETT

1,779

174,482
22,118
59,560

234
868
2,783
62,184
20,740
6,951
7,732
7,266
61,855

(4,705)

3,946

(18,514)

2,502
89



12.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

12. BEREANEH

Wages and salaries
Provision for medical and other

TERE®

employee benefits

Contributions to defined contribution AEEFRKESEER(HEE @)

pension scheme (note (a))

Contributions to the housing scheme

{F 55 5+ 81450 (P EE (b))

(note (b))

BN H AR B RN A

notes:

Pension scheme

The Group pays contributions to publicly administered pension insurance
plans on a mandatory, contractual basis. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not
hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods. The contributions are recognised
as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in
the future payments is available.

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong (the "MPF Scheme"”) under
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to the profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group's employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—HLFE

2021
—E-—F
RMB'000
ARBTR

2020
—E-—BF

— = —=

RMB'000
ARE T

52,705
3,137
3,761

2,581

62,184

REBZES  fHEEAALEER
BARESRBFEMEHHRN - HZES
WEEHEELNAARERENADH
PREHRERRERGMEMNGE
B NEETEE - FSHIEER
HEEME - HARINHEHERRER
BAER - BNERETRERER
ERARNFBROMNERTHRBRE
&

AKETERFERUELTERE
G EERRREAEAKRZERE
ST ZEERY —AEEMLRAS
HEARESRKENGS(TREE S
B HyREEEAHE 2K -8
ALFE TRREBESH BRI
AXMNBERARMG - B2
BEMBUERESRE HALHE
BENRRFE - AREHRESHH B
EHZ BT HFEHBENES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE-Z——

FrZA=T-RALHFEE

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

(a)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

(continued)

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in PRC are
required to participate in a central pension Scheme operated by the local
municipal government (together with the MPF Scheme, the “Defined
Contributions Scheme”). These subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme. The employer
contributions vest fully once made.

As the Group's employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed to the Defined Contributions Scheme, there were no forfeited
contributions under the Defined Contributions Scheme which may be used
to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Housing scheme

In accordance with the PRC housing reform regulations, the Group is
required to make contributions to the Chinese state-sponsored housing
fund at 10% of the salaries of the PRC employees. At the same time, the
employees are also required to make a contribution at 10% of their salaries
out of their payroll. The employees are entitled to claim the entire sum of
the fund under certain specified withdrawal circumstances.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for
the year include four (2020: three) Directors and chief executive, details
of whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in Note
45(c). The emoluments paid and payable to the remaining one (2020: two)
highest paid employee who are neither a Director nor chief executive of the
Company are as follows:

12. BRERNEAE)

Bt

(a)

(&)
(&)

AEERPEAMEEHMNEREE
8RS J5 T HUR & 32 /) R R IR

itd CERRES I BRI
EHRAER ) - ZEMBRRERT

B —EBD AT RERSEEIHE
e BFRIZRAP RRR SR BIHOH
ERATXNBFARS - BXZHK
REEHBNESS S

$%$EIMEI##E&AREW
FAABTEEBRER  HiR
ﬁﬁﬁ%lﬂﬁawmhﬁTﬁwm
BBRAE BRFKF -

EEHE

BETREEHNESREESR A%HE
%ﬁﬁ¢@ﬁ§#$mm%m¢i
BFABNER R ESELER - A

%*E%ﬁ@%ﬁﬁé$kmw%ﬁ

BHF - EETREREBFT EEHR
BIEO2BHERAESH -
TEEaHEMAL
AEEALEERERSTMALEE
ME(—E-TF: ZR)EERTR

AE - BENMEFHEERME45(0)
2o MR - AFEEHKE
NFEB—B(ZTZZTF WAL
EARAREENFTRAENGERE
BEEZBMEmT -

Basic salaries and allowances EANE S KRR
Contribution to pension scheme BIREFHEIER
Bonuses TEAL

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Year ended 31 December

Et-A=t+—-HLEE

2021 2020
—E--F —TCTF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T

2,257
16
98

2,371



12.

13.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 12.

notes: (continued)

(d)  The number of the highest paid employees who are not the Directors
nor chief executive of the Company whose remuneration fell within the
following band is as follows:

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HEZZ-_—ST"A=T-HIEFE

BERMNEME)
BitaE ()
(d) WFEEARAEZNFETRAEZ

ReFHMEENABKEFMERED
T

Year ended 31 December
HE+t-A=1t—-HLEE

2020
—TCTF
HKD1,000,001 to HKD 1,500,000 1,000,001 #JTZ 1,500,000 87T -—2
EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BRER

(a) Basic earnings per share
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, basic earnings per share is based
on the following data:

(a) EBREXREF
RIE-Z—FR-_F-_TF+=
AZ+—8 BREKRARNTHE
RATEIEE

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-RA=t—HLFE

2021 2020
—E--F —T-FF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARBF T

Profit attributable to owners of the Company AN A% & AEEFE

46,954 16,973

BRHKERERAA | F& 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

13.

14.

EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED) 13. BRER#E)
(@) Basic earnings per share (continued) (a) BREXERAE)

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—HLFE

2020
—E_TF
Weighted average number of ordinary shares %17 & @R INEFHE(TR)
in issue (thousands) 2,503,267
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) SREEEAN
Diluted earnings per share for 2021 were the same as basic HRAEEN AT RREFEER
earnings per share as the outstanding convertible bond had ERBHNEREEBER =%
anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share (2020: No _ENEBREERNEGRE
diluted earnings per share for 2020 were presented as there AEFER(ZZEZZTF : gR
were no potential ordinary share in issue as at 31 December E_Z_TF+_A=+—H1
2020). BEENCHETEAR - Hidt
BER_T_TFNEREER
) e
DIVIDENDS 14. RE
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of BE-_T-_—S+-A=1T—HBILHF
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021, nor has any B ARENNEMAARERKRRR
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2020: NSRRI EMRRE - BRGNS
nil). BRETERBRNEIAKRE(ZZZ
THEE)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2021



15.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F--FtoAST-ALFE

15. EAEEE HESE

Land Rental
use right premises Total

TR HERF st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R AR®BT T ARBT R
(note (a)) (note (b))

(BfEE (a)) (BiEE (b))

Cost A
As at 1 January 2020 m:z;g&—ﬂ —H 33,435 — 33,435
Additions (note (c)) NE (M) — 289 289
As at 31 December 2020, RZZE-FF+-HA=+—H

1 January 2021 and —E-%-A-Bk

31 December 2021 R -F+ZA=1+—H 33,435 289 33,724
Accumulated depreciation /\EH)?%
As at 1 January 2020 A 4,914 - 4,914
Depreciation for the year ilﬁ?ﬁ% 724 144 868
As at 31 December 2020 and RZZE-ZF+_H

1 January 2021 ) 5,638 144 5,782
Depreciation for the year FRE 720 145 865
As at 31 December 2021 RZBE-—-+=ZA=+—H
Carrying value ﬁﬁﬁ@
As at 31 December 2021 A—E-—F+-HA=+—H
As at 31 December 2020 RZE-_ZEF+_-_A=1+—H 27,797 145 27,942

BHKERARAF | FH 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE-Z——

15.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

FrZA=T-RALHFEE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

notes:

(a)

All of the Group's land use rights are located in the PRC and each has a
lease period of 50 years.

As at 31 December 2021, land use rights with carrying value of
approximately RMB27,077,000 (2020: RMB27,797,000) were secured for
bank borrowings with carrying amounts of approximately RMB75,000,000
(2020: RMB120,000,000) (Note 33).

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group leases an office for
its operations. Lease contract is entered into for fixed term of 2 years. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the

period for which the contract is enforceable.

Amount includes right-of-use assets resulting from new leases entered,
excluding those classifies as investment properties. At 31 December 2021
and 2020, the Group had lease liabilities as follows:

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group had lease liabilities as

15. EAEEE HEEE#)

B -

(a)

AREMALEREGLRF
MEHRYBS0F -

RZFEZ—F+=ZRA=+—8 " KE
BEAEHANRE27,077,000(ZF =
TE: ANR27,797,000 7T)H +
EAEERERTFREEANAR
#75,000,000 (T -FF: AR
# 120,000,000 7T ) 89 % 17 f& 3K (P 7F
33) ¢

REBE-_FT-_TF+-_A=+—AL
FE AEEEEHAEAREE
FUMBHERNEEHRRR2F -
%iﬂ%&%ﬁ$ﬂﬁ%ﬁ%2§ﬁ
B AEECEAANNTRTER
AR R BIBITR IR -

THEERRRMAFHEMELNE
REEE T@Egéiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ'&%m
EMEE MZT_—Fk=
F+-A=+t—H FEENEES
BEWMTAR

7—?

follows: =+—8" $Elﬁ’ﬁﬁfaf§l1 ZIDTFJT
T~
Present value of
the minimum lease
payments Total minimum lease
REAENRNERE REHEENRAE
2021 2020 2021 2020
TEC-F puESmbeal — T —F e
RMB‘000 RMB'000 RMB‘000 RMB'000
ARET PGS ARET T PR
Within 1 year 1ER 147 150
Less: total future interest expenses J& @ A RF| B EHE 3)
Present value of lease liabilities HEAENRE 147
Analysed by: BETYERETH
Building BF 147

ANNUAL REPORT 2021




16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

&

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

16. ¥ - BERRE

Construction

Buildings ~ Machinery Vehicles Others in progress Total
BT He g5 Bt  HEEIR @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  AR¥Tn ARETT AR%Tr ARETR ARET#R
Cost R
As at 1 January 2020 R-Z-ZF-f-H 194,932 780,360 4,518 25,960 41,855 1,047,625
Additions nE 444 3,059 252 112 4,697 8,564
Disposal it - (2.969) - - - (2.969)
Exchange alignment [E 5% — — (42) (189) — (231)
As at 31 December 2020 and RZZ-FET-A=T-H
1 January 2021 k=Z--%-F-H 195,376 780,450 4,728 25,883 46,552 1,052,989
Additions NE 362 2,246 = 37 3,423 6,068
Disposal & - (622) (185) — — (807)
Transfer from investment property ~ EEBREMENE 4,854 = = = = 4,854
Exchange alignment R — — (18) (84) - (102)
As at 31 December 2021 R=2=-%£t-A=t-H 200,592 782,074 1,063,002
Accumulated depreciation ZiERAE

and impairment

As at 1 January 2020 RZZE-ZE—-F—-H 59,124 445,715 3,137 18,566 = 526,542
Depreciation for the year FNTE 8,241 50,551 395 373 = 59,560
Disposal LE = (2,880) = = = (2,880)
Exchange alignment [E 5% — — (33) (184) - (217)
As at 31 December 2020 and RZZE-ZF+-A=1-H

1 January 2021 k=E--%-F-H 67,365 493,386 3,499 18,755 = 583,005
Depreciation for the year ERFE 7,682 49,554 331 359 - 57,926
Disposal e - (604) (179) - - (783)
Transfer from investment property ~ BEAREEEHE 409 — — — — 409
Exchange alignment R — — (16) (83) — (99)
As at 31 December 2021 R-2--F+-A=1-A 542,336 640,458
Carrying value REE
As at 31 December 2021 RZB--%+-fA=1+-H 125,136 239,738 890 6,805 49,975 422,544
As at 31 December 2020 RZZ-ZF

+-A=t-H 128,011 287,064 1,229 7,128 46,552 469,984

BHKERARAF | FH 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-Z-—F+-B=+-HI%E

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 16. V¥ BERREZ)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment has been charged to ME - BERRENECREEER
the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows: FHIBR - FEHOT

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—HLFE

2021 2020
—E--F —T-FF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBF T

Cost of sales HEKAR 55,191
Selling and distribution costs HERDHER 64
Administrative expenses THER 4,305

59,560
As at 31 December 2021, the Group was in the process of applying RZE-_—F+=-A=+—H K&
for registration of the ownership certificates for certain of its building BERARERENARE264,0007T
with an aggregate carrying value of approximately RMB264,000 (ZZ=ZF: AR¥283,0007T)H)
(2020: RMB283,000). The executive Directors are of the opinion AETEFEHEREMBREEERL &
that the Group is entitled to lawfully and validly occupy or use the TEERRAEERARAEZENEA
property. SHAERZIE

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2021



16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2021, factory plants with carrying value of
approximately RMB57,465,000 were secured for bank borrowings
with carrying amounts of approximately RMB75,000,000 (Notes
33(b)) (As at 31 December 2020, factory plants with carrying
value of approximately RMB143,878,000 were secured for bank
borrowings with carrying amounts of approximately RMB55,000,000,
RMB65,000,000 and RMB50,000,000).

The category of machinery includes production lines leased by the
Group to two related parties (2020: two) under operating leases with
the following net carrying amounts:

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

16. ¥M¥ - BERREE)

RZFEZ—F+ZA=+—HB" K&
M| A& # AR ®57,465,0007T #
BEEHEEFATEEEARANARK
75,000,000 7T HY #8178 5K (M5 33(b))
(RZTZEF+ZA=+—H" ' &
E1E A& #H AR 143,878,000 7T #)
BEEHEEFATEEEARANARK
55,000,000 7T * A K% 65,000,000 7T
K AR ¥ 50,000,000 TRISRITER)

BENDBEERAREREEEHE
MMEBHL(CTE_TF : MB) b
HOEER  REFENT

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-RA=t—-HLFE

2021 2020
—E--F —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ T ARETT

97,559 97,559
(66,942) (60,639)
(6,303) (6,303)

Cost XA

Accumulated depreciation at 1 January R—R—HRFITE
Depreciation for the year FEHE

Carrying value AREE

30,617

BHKERARAF | FH 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. REMEHE
Building
BF
RMB'000
AR¥T T
Cost 5%

As at 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020 R_Z_TF—-HA—0 _T_TF

and 1 January 2021 TZA=t—-BRkZZE=_—5—H—H 4,854

Transfers to property, plant and equipment 1EY%E - BFE RXiEES (4,854)
As at 31 December 2021 R-B--$+=ZA=1+—-H —
Accumulated depreciation REIE

As at 1 January 2020 RZZE_ZTF—-H—H 175
Depreciation for the year FAME 234

As at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021

Transfers to property, plant and equipment

RZZE-ZEF+-_A=+—BK
—E-—%—HF—H
BREYE  BEMRE

As at 31 December 2021

R-ZB-_—-%+=-A=+—H

Carrying Value
As at 31 December 2021

BREE
RZBZ—-%+ZA=+—H

As at 31 December 2020

RZE-ZEF+-A=+—H
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17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

The Group leases out various part of its factory under operating
leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for an
initial period of 1 year in 2020.

The fair value of the Group's investment properties as at 31
December 2020 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out on the respective dates by an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected to the Group. The fair value is
determined using direct comparison method by reference to recent
sales price of comparable properties on a price per saleable square
foot basis. As at 31 December 2020, the fair value of the Group's
investment properties amounted to approximately RMB7,580,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group's investment

properties had been transfer to property, plant and equipment.

Details of the Group's investment properties and information about
the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F--FtoAST-ALFE

17. REMEHEE)
AEERCERENBEREN TR
o HeRAKR —Z=-2FH
H—MAFREF -

AEER-_Z-_FTF+-A=1+—H
WEREUFSHENARBEDER A
ASEYTEBENBELSEREXRM
EEVETRHEZER - R FETERA
BERLEE  2ETLBYENTH
HEBRABYTRERAER)E
F-R-E-THE+-_A=1+—8"

ARBEREMFHENDABEOR
AR 7,580,0007T °

HE_E-_—F+-_HA=1+—HILHF
B AEEREUERMECEREY
¥ BB MR -

BEBRR AEBREMFMERNF
BREBAABEERNERI RN
T

Carrying

amount

fREE
RMB’000
ARBT

Industrial building located in PRC ~ [IRAFEMNTEEF

2021 2020

—E-—& —ZT-FF
Fair values Fair values
at Level 3 Carrying  at Level 3
hierarchy amount  hierarchy
%38 £3E
DREE fREE AREE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
INCRPA T ARETR
4,445 7,580
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-B--Ft-AZt-ALSE

18.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

18. BILEE

Cost
As at 1 January 2020,
31 December 2020,

A
R-Z-EF—A—H-

—E-EFE+-A=1+—H"

Trade Distribution Information

Name

(21
RMB'000
ARETR

Network System Total
DB GEEE Azt
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTRT AR¥TR

1 January 2021 and —Z—5-A—-Bk

31 December 2021 “E-—Ff+-RA=+—H 58,200 151,100 173 209,473
Accumulated amortisation EGg f
As at 1 January 2020 R-ZE-_TF—H—H 20,729 122,277 64 143,070
Charge for the year ENE 3,198 18,888 32 22,118
As at 31 December 2020 and RZE-ZEF+-F=+—H

1 January 2021 k-FE-—%—H—H 23,927 141,165 9% 165,188
Charge for the year FEREH 3,198 9,935 32 13,165

As at 31 December 2021

R-ZEB--%+-A=t—-H

Carrying amount
As at 31 December 2021

fREE
R-ZB--%+-A=t-H

As at 31 December 2020

W_Z_FTF+_A=1+—H

27,125

34,273

151,100 128 178,353

45

9,935 77 44,285

Amortisation of approximately RMB3,230,000 (2020: RMB3,230,000)

is included in the

“Administrative expenses”

and RMB9,935,000

(2020: RMB18,888,000) is included in “Selling and distribution costs”
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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9,935,000 T EHE(ZTE T F : A
[ 18,888,000 L )it ARG B R &
HIHERDHER] -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F--FtoAST-ALFE

19. GOODWILL 19. EHE
As at 31 December
R+=—A=t+—-8H
2021 2020
—E--F —TCFTF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT
Tiand Green R B oo

The goodwill of approximately RMB721,139,000 was generated
from acquisition of a controlling stake in Tiandi Green in 2014.
Tiandi Green was viewed as one CGU within the beer segment. The
recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on value-in-
use calculations. These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a four-
year period when optimum market share is expected to be reached.
Cash flows beyond the four-year period are extrapolated using the
estimated growth rates.

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations in 2021 and
2020 are as follows:

MANRMT721,139,000 TR EE 4
R-Z—MFEUWE T Kbk R
o Rt B AERES BAM
—BREELEMN - BeELEMNMN
e EBENENEBEENTEE
ToZENEFERTERERER A
m BETHRARZEIREDS
NEANFRRNEEENTHATE
eREEH - BBNFHENRER
ENFERMGFHEREEA -

R -FR-F-ZFEMREEM
AEMERNIZRRMT

Annual revenue growth rate FRAERE
Long-term growth rate REERE

Gross margin ERI=R
Pre-tax discount rate HiATAL IR &

2021 2020
—E-_—-F “T-TF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFIT
0.5%-17.1% 3.0%-3.6%
3.0% 3.0%
44.7%-49.8% 41.2%
14.5% 15.7%

Revenue growth rate and gross margin are based on past
performance and management ‘s expectations on market
development. The long term growth rates used is in line with the
long term inflation rate forecast in China. The pre-tax discount rate
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
specific risks relating to the CGU.

The Directors are of the view that there was no impairment of
goodwill as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

WABRZRENEDREBERS
LERBHMSERNADE -
AOERHEREFETERMBREXE
Bl—2 e TAMBAIRRE - RERY
& E A B EENE AT 5 LR
ReELBEUABRNEERR -

EERRAR_T-_—FR-ZT_FTHF
TZA=+-BRELELRRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Hz=

20.

T-—E+-A=t+-HItEE

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

20. ERAEREARNKRE

n—A— B

Balance at 1 January

Additions (note) NE (M)
Share of results A
Declaration of dividend FIkRE

RT-A=1+—H#&%

Balance at 31 December

2021 2020
—E--F —TCFF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTFTT
650,697 698,283
765,698 —
8 (2,097)

— (45,489)
1,416,403 650,697

notes:

In April 2021, the Group acquired 31% equity interests in Tibet Shannan
Yalaxiangbu Industrial Ltd. (“Shannan Yalaxiangbu”), a company incorporated
in the PRC with other limited liability, at a consideration of RMB465,000,000.
Prior to the acquisition, the Group already held 9% equity interests in Shannan
Yalaxiangbu, which were accounted for as “financial assets at FVTOCI” in the
consolidated statement of financial position for financial reporting purposes.
Upon completion of the acquisition, the Group held 40% equity interests in
Shannan Yalaxiangbu, and transferred the aggregate fair value of approximately
RMB190,698,000 to “Investments accounted for using the equity method” in the
consolidated statement of financial position in applying equity method to account
for the Group's investment in Shannan Yalaxiangbu. Taking into consideration of
the acquisition, a goodwill of approximately RMB595,820,000 has been identified
in the investment in Shannan Yalaxiangbu.

In December 2021, the Group acquired 49% equity interests in Green Tiandi Food
Marketing (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (3B XK RBEHE(RINER A A]) (“Green Tiandi
Marketing”), a company incorporated in the PRC with other limited liability, at a
consideration of RMB50,000,000. Taking into consideration of the acquisition, a
goodwill of approximately RMB48,856,000 has been identified in the investment
in Green Tiandi Marketing.

In December 2021, the Group's acquired 20% equity interests in Tibet Life Water

a company incorporated in the PRC with other limited liability, at a consideration
of RMB60,000,000. Taking into consideration of the acquisition, a goodwill of
approximately RMB51,017,000 has been identified in the investment in Tibet Life
Water Marketing.
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EFZZE-—FMA AEENARE
465,000,000t R EWEAB LA HELE
HEEARAA(NUEELERA31%K
B LERNEn A ARPEEMAEM
BREMRAA - RIEZ/ - ASEERA
IR B 9% BIIRIE - ZERER A B
BREEAMRAFETEEHEH AL
EERENSBEE AR - WEREMKE
AEEFEILEBALEMIL0%MKE £
AREZEZARASEELEELEMNRE
K BARBEEENAARE 190,698,000
T AGA MBI R A AEREARN
BE]- st RZBAE  ERLUERNERE
EHRBEH AR 595,820,000 7T

R-E-—F+-F AEEKEZER
RmEHORINERATR([RERBEHE])
H149% R BRI EHE A —MEPEFT
MRIHEBERETAR  REAARE
50,000,000 7T ° 5t RZIBUE - ERZERX
HEHIRE R E N AR 48,856,000 7T

RZE-—F+-A AEBAKREREE
MZRKEHEERAR((ARERKESH )
§920% B HE - AR A B KEHA—BEF
BafMmumEwEREERA RER
AR #60,000,000C it RZBEKE B
RAFEAEG ZKEERERRTENOARE
51,017,000 7T ©



20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HEZZ-_—ST"A=T-HIEFE

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 20. ERAEDEANRNREE)
(CONTINUED)

Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 December TXEHIN-_ZBZ-—FRZZFT_ZTF
2021 and 2020. T A=t—BAREEZBERF -
% of
ownership
Place of interest and voting
business/country rights held by Principal
Name of entity of incorporation the Group activities
X FEEfERAERES
BREEE 3T REREBDL TEXRK
2021 2020

—EB--F ZB-BF

Tibet Highland Natural The PRC 43.981 43.981 Manufacturing and distribution
Water Limited of water products
("Highland Natural Water")

FREmRERAKEBR AT [ BUE K HHKE f
(BRAAK])

Tibet Fudi Natural Beverage The PRC 25 25 Manufacturing and distribution of
Packaging Ltd. bottle preforms, caps and other

raw materials and consumables

ARRMAARmBE i BUE K 9 IR & 5 E A R AH RS
BREERAT 7

Great Wall 5100 Technology The PRC 40 40 Distribution of water products
Co., Ltd.

A —ZZRRARAA i 7 HIKE M@

Guangzhou Mingzhu 5100 The PRC 34 34 Distribution of water products
Drinking Water Co., Ltd

BMNTRKL—ZTHRAK [ AHKEmM
BRAR]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-Z-—F+-B=+-HI%E

20.

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

20. EREREARNRE®)

(CONTINUED)
Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 December TXEHIN-_ZBZ-—FRZZFT_ZTF
2021 and 2020. (continued) TZA=t-HAKBEZBERF -
(%)
% of
ownership
Place of interest and voting
business/country rights held by Principal
Name of entity of incorporation the Group activities
ey rEEfERAERES
BEER 3TV RRREEDL TEEH
2021 2020
B ZEZBF
Tibet Shannan Yalaxiangbu The PRC 40 9 Manufacturing and distribution
Industrial Ltd. of water products
ARLERLENEXRRLA $E BUE K HHKE f
Green Tiandi Food Marketing ~ The PRC 49 — Distribution of beverage products
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
FeXmRmEHORI) i 7 tHER M
BRAR
Tibet Life Water Marketing The PRC 20 — Distribution of beverage products
Co., Ltd.
AR 2K EHBRARA H 7 R m
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20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland
Natural Water

The tables below provide the summarised financial information of the
Highland Natural Water shown in its financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRSs.

Summarised statement of financial position

&

GAMBERNE %

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

20. EREREARNKREE)

EXBELNAMEERBE-SRX
Rk

TRV BRARKZHHEERE
Z - DRBZARIRRERM RS
EAREOTBEREMSEBERE -

I HRRRBE

As at 31 December
R+=B=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—-F —T-TF
VE RMB'000
ARBT R ARBFTT

Current assets MEEE

Non-current assets FRBEE

Current liabilities mEAE

Non-current liabilities FRBEE

Equity attributable to owners ARAEA NEEER

of the Company

171,226 367,735
541,834 590,208
(311,182) (544,212)
(18,409) (20,922)

383,469 392,809
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland

Natural Water (continued)

Summarised statement of profit or loss

20. EREREARNRE®)

EXBEQARAMBENBE-BRX

RK(E)
BERHE

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+—-HLEFE

2021
—E-—F
RMB'000
ARBTR

348,744

156,727
59,678
(10,378)
1,038

Revenue WA

Gross profit EF|

Adjusted EBITDA* HEESNITE REHATAE*
Loss before income tax BRETISTRIEE

Income tax credit FTisHiEe

Loss for the year FHEE

Total comprehensive loss ZHEBERBE

Dividend received for the year FRMERNRE

* Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by excluding the following effects from the

profit/(loss) for the year: (i) finance (cost)/income, net; (ii) depreciation and

amortisation; and income tax (expense)/credit.

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial

statements of Highland Natural Water adjusted for differences in

accounting policies between the Group and Highland Natural Water.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.
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B’) My g

2020
“E-FF
RMB’000

ARETT

300,650

163,222
59,659
(11,823)

1,065

(10,758)
(10,758)

45,489

Bk B E R AT DB & A
N2 %ATXQEW@W/(E@S

) /W

FE (i) ﬁ&wiﬁﬁ : &FJ’T "5 (5

%) / (E%)

R EERRBEESRRRKI B R
RPMEFNNFTIE  CRAKEES
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20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland
Natural Water (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented
to the carrying amount of the Group's interest in Highland Natural
Water recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

20. ERAEREARNRE®)

EXBEQARANBENBE-BRX
RK(E)

HHERBENE R
REFIMHEENM R BEREHMERER
MR AEBNERRAKE R
FREERNSE

As at 31 December
R+=—HA=+—8

2021 2020
—E--F —TCFTF
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBFT

Opening net assets as at 1 January R—A—BHFNFEE 506,995
Loss for the year ERNER (10,758)
Declared of dividends TIRKE (103,428)
Closing net assets FRFEE 383,469 392,809
Elimination of unrealised profit from AERAHE N BEEE

intra-group sales (499)
Adjusted total net assets AREHNBZEE 383,469 392,310
Interest in the associate REEE R BIHER 157,026 161,134
Goodwill SRS 280,256 280,256
Carrying value REE 437,282 441,390
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

20.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland
Natural Water (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information (continued)
Management performed impairment analysis for the investment in
Highland Natural Water. The recoverable amount of the investment is
determined based on value-in-use calculations, which is higher than
fair value less disposal costs. Management assessed the recoverable
amount and recognised no impairment loss during the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020.

These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering the five-year
period when optimum market share is expected to be reached.
Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the
estimated growth rate.

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations in 2021 and
2020 are as follows:

20.

EREREARNREE)

EABENANEERBME-SREX
RK(E)

BRERBENERE)
EREHNESRAAKNREETR
Bot - REMAKESEHERE
AEENTE(ERANBEREEK
R)EF - ERENGAIEKEE  »©
BE-ZT-—FR-FT2ZTF+=A
“T-RLEFEVEERRERX

ZETEERTENBEEEH]EE
ETERRAEEIRETHMHED
IFHENMBEREZEARERE
B - BELFHENETRENE
FfEEHERE AR -

TE-—FR-E-TFFEREEAN
HERERANEEREMNT

2020
“E-TF

Annual revenue growth rate FPAE R
Long-term growth rate RHEER &
Gross margin EF =
Pre-tax discount rate FHATALIR &

7.4%-40.0%

3.0%-42.4%

3.0% 3.0%
SARCL/ECNNR 54.6%-54.9%
12.6% 12.5%

Revenue growth rate and gross margin are based on past performance
and management’s expectations on market development. The long term
growth rates used is in line with the long term inflation rate forecast
in China. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks
relating to the business.
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20.

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

(CONTINUED)

&

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

Summarised financial information for a material associate — Shannan

Yalaxiangbu

The tables below provide the summarised financial information of the

Shannan Yalaxiangbu shown in its financial statements prepared in

accordance with IFRSs.

Summarised statement of financial position

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

20. FRAEZEARNKREE)

ERRELNAMBENBE - LER
nEH

TREH LEELER 2 M EERH
2 DRBZLRRRERSERE
LRIBRNHHRE I RBIE RS

BRRRBE

As at
31 December

R+=A=t+—8H

2021
—E_—F
RMB’000
ARBT T

Current assets

Non-current assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

mBEE
FRBEE
RBAR
FRBAE
ARAHA AEIE S

39,310
471,477
(108,151)
(254,924)
147,712
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 20. ERAEDEANRNREE)

(CONTINUED)
Summarised financial information for a material associate — Shannan EEBENAMBEENBE - LER
Yalaxiangbu (continued) NEHRE)
Summarised statement of profit or loss BRRUE
Period
ended from
1 April 2021 to
31 December
2021
—EB-—fF
mAE—RAE
E-EC-F
+ZA=+—-H1L
HiE
RMB‘000
AR®T
Revenue WA
Gross profit EF
Adjusted EBITDA* HEESNITE REHAIT AR *
Loss before income tax BRETISIRIE R
Income tax credit BiEEzsin)

Loss for the period HNEE (1,982)
Total comprehensive loss ZHEBRERE (1,982)

* Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by excluding the following effects from the * SRR SR E R AT A B e &
profit/(loss) for the year: (i) finance (cost)/income, net; (ii) depreciation and ERBENTRAERGERN, (B
amortisation; and income tax (expense)/credit. B) MFE:()VaE (KAX) s

FE (NITEREE  RAMEH (B
%)/ (FER) -

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial DA BB R L R A B

statements of Shannan Yalaxiangbu adjusted for differences in BRPMZINOTNIE  EhAEEE

accounting policies between the Group and Shannan Yalaxiangbu. W BN 2Bt BRERE
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20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Shannan
Yalaxiangbu (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to
the carrying amount of the Group's interest in Shannan Yalaxiangbu
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

20. EREREARNRE®)

ERBENRAMKERBE - LEH
NEm(E)

HHENBENE R
REFIFHEEMM R BER M BEREK
AR AEBR LB ERE D E S
F B T B A S4B

As at
31 December
R+=B=+—H

RMB'000
AR¥BT T

Opening net assets as at 1 January

R—A—HBWFNEEE

149,694
(1,982)

147,712

147,712

Addition (a) NE (a)

Loss for the period HIN B8

Closing net assets FRAEBE
Adjusted total net assets HEENBFEE
Interest in the associate RREEE DA
Goodwill (a) P2 (a)

Carrying value AREE

654,905

Management performed impairment analysis for the investment in
Shannan Yalaxiangbu. The recoverable amount of the investment is
determined based on value-in-use calculations, which is higher than
fair value less disposal costs. Management assessed the recoverable
amount and recognised no impairment loss during the year ended 31
December 2021.

EREHRILBEBENEMNIRERTT
AN - AN E S HER
FREENTE(ERALEBEREE
KA)EE - EBEFEIRKEE -
RBE-_Z-—F+-A=+—HL
FRI\ERRERK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 20.
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Shannan

Yalaxiangbu (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information (continued)

(@) The following additional investments in associates were made
by the Group:

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill arising from the
acquisition of Shannan Yalaxiangbu are as follows:

EREREARNRE®)

ERBENRAMKERBE - LEH

NEm(E)

MHENBENER(EZ)

(@) AEEHEERRMELIMTEIN
RE:

WL R E AR S E T
BREENHEHENT

As at 1
April 2021
(date of
acquisition)
R-B=-—%
MA—H
(kEBH)
RMB’000
AR®T T
Purchase considerations: WEEHR(E :
— Consideration (Note) —He B (M)
— Original share holding transfer from —BENAREBEITEEEEHA
financial assets at FVTOCI Hp2HlEeHEEN
REEA R 190,698
Less: share of fair value of net assets (see below) & : EHEEEFELAFERTX) (59,878)
Goodwill EES 595,820

Note: For the details of the consideration of the acquisition. Please refer to
Note 40.

The goodwill is attributable to Shannan Yalaxiangbu's strong
market position and profitability in the sales of water products
in the market, which cannot be separately recognised as an
intangible asset.
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20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HEZZ--F+-A=+—BIEFE

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 20. ERAEDEANRNREE)

(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate — Shannan EEBENAMBEENBE - LER
Yalaxiangbu (continued) NEHRE)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information (continued) MEERBENEHER(E)

(@) The following additional investments in associates were made (a) AEBEEBERFELMTEN

by the Group: (continued)

RE:(8)

Fair value of net assets acquired:
Cash and cash equivalent
Prepayment

Trade receivables and other receivables
Inventories

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Trade payables and other payables
Contract liabilities

Bank loans

Deferred tax liabilities

As at 1
April 2021
(date of
acquisition)
R-ZB=—F
mA—H
(kEBaH)
RMB’000
ARBTR

KB EEFENAAEE
RekReEED 6,150
NS 525
JE W 5 3R I HAth FE UK IE 16,763
I35 10,492
ME - BB REE 387,950
EREEE 13,355
BREE 79,776
FERTE 53 R E AT (24,202)
& RES (31,435)
RITEN (302,500)
EXEHIBEE (7,180)

Net assets acquired

TR E EFE 149,694

Ownership interest acquired

Pk m s B =S 40%

Share of fair value of net assets acquired

ELFKEEEFENALEE 59,878
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

20.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Shannan
Yalaxiangbu (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information (continued)

These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering the five-year
period when optimum market share is expected to be reached.
Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the
estimated growth rate.

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations in 2021 are as
follows:

20.

EREREARNRE®)

ERBENRAMKERBE - LEH
NEm(E)

MHENBENER(EZ)
REFEERTENDEEEH AR
ETHERABEEIREMGNEN
IFRRMMEREZHARERE
R - BEAFHENASRENE
FRfEEHE R MR -

R -FERBENERERN
TERROT

Annual revenue growth rate FUTA B R K
Long-term growth rate FHE R &
Gross margin ERE
Pre-tax discount rate ARG IR =&

23.7%-186.9%

3%
50.4%-52.4%
12.4%

Revenue growth rate and gross margin are based on past performance
and management’s expectations on market development. The long term
growth rates used is in line with the long term inflation rate forecast
in China. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks
relating to the business.
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20.

21.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HEZZ--F+-A=+—BIEFE

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 20. ERAEDEANRNREE)

(CONTINUED)

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material BRIFERKENTANGEER

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+—-HLEFE

2021 2020
—E- & —TE-FTF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AREBTIT

The Group's share of profit REFEN R 2,627
The Group's share of other comprehensive ~ A%k EEEE 2 WG

income =
The Group's share of total comprehensive ~ AEEELZHEKELH

income 2,627
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's ~ AEBERZFH 2SN AN

interests in these associates FREEAE 209,307

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS LIABILITIES

21. EERBEEEER

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as ELEHBEERELERBEEND T

follows:

W

As at 31 December
R+=HA=+—8

2021 2020
—E--F —TCFF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBFT

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities

BEHRBREE 4,277

ELBRRE

(7,371)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

@ GARBERNE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 21.

The balances of deferred tax assets and liabilities as at 31 December

2021 were not offset because the deferred tax assets and liabilities

related to income taxes were levied by different taxation authorities.

The movement of deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year is

as follows:

EEREEESRB(E)
RZZE-_—F+-A=+—0H" ' EE
MBEEERABREBI KK A
REZERERELEERABEBN
FIBHETRRBEEBZER - FRE
EHBEERABENZEHNT

Net Other
impairment Deferred  Convertible  temporary
losses income bonds  differences Total
HE Hith
BARE BELhs ThkESR IREES @t
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®Tn AR%Tr AR%TR AR¥ETx
Deferred tax assets BELHEERE
As at 1 January 2020 R-_E-FTF—-F—H 7,353 1,730 — 428 9,511
Charged to profit or loss (Note 10) & ABB& (i 10) (5,163) (63) — (8) (5,234)
As at 31 December 2020 RZE-TF
and 1 January 2021 +ZA=+-8k
“E--F—-fF—H 2,190 1,667 = 420 4,277
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss NEHER/
(Note 10) (Gt A) (B 10) 862 (63) — (76) 723
As at 31 December 2021 R-B=-%
+ZA=+-H 3,052 1,604 = 344 5,000
Deferred tax liabilities EEHERE
As at 1 January 2020 RZZ-ZF-H—-A — — — (9,695) (9,695)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 10) REZEZ (MF10) — — — 2,324 2,324
As at 31 December 2020 e
and 1 January 2021 TZA=+—-Hk
“E-—#%—-fF—H = = = (7,371) (7,371)
Deferred tax arising from HARESFES
Convertible Bonds R IE — — (3,770) — (3,770)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 10) RERER (MF10) — — 819 1,518 2,337
Convertion of Convertible Bonds BRABRES — — 194 — 194
Exchange alignment B % AR — — 71 — 71
As at 31 December 2021 R-B=-%&
+ZA=+-H (2,686) (5,853) (8,539)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.
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21.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2021, certain subsidiaries’ future taxable income
would not be available against which their temporary losses could be
utilised and also the losses of those subsidiaries would not be offset
by the taxable income of other subsidiaries within the Group, as there
is no legally enforceable right to do so. As such, the Group did not
recognise deferred tax assets of approximately RMB20,816,000 (2020:
RMB22,383,000) in respect of losses amounting to approximately
RMB86,446,000 (2020: RMB89,531,000) that can be carried forward
against future taxable income. As at 31 December 2021, tax losses
of approximately RMB86,446,000 (2020: RMB89,531,000) will expire
after five year of assessment on the following dates to offset the
future taxable income:

21.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F--FtoAST-ALFE

EEREEESRB(E)
RZZE-_—F+=-A=+—H ' &F
B BB 7 ) B AR 2R B AR B R A f A o
HERUEE MZEWNBRTANE
BETHASEHEMHB AR NER
B AR - RAEYTAEEEHEN
EETRI R I FITRER - UARKEI &
AR RERTBLANEBEEOA
R 86,446,000 L(ZE - F : A
R #89,531,000 L) RELEHIEE
EHARE2081600T(ZE=-F
£ ANR#22383,000T)c R-F
T—F+ A=+ —HEHERKRER
U A4 AR 86,446,000 (=
E-ZTF: AR%89,531,0007T)H
HMEBESNAEIRFEEN TS
BEEM -

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+t—-HLEFE

2021
—E-—F
RMB'000
ARBTR

2020
—ZT-TF
RMB’000
ARET T

Expiring in RATFE &M
- 2021 ——FT=—F
-2022 —ZT-CF
- 2023 —ZT=%
- 2024 —ZTNF
- 2025 —-—Z_fF
- 2026 —ZTRF

14,625
15,644
7,544
6,142
45,576
11,540 —

86,446 89,531

Deferred tax liabilities of approximately RMB134,126,000 (2020:
RMB130,395,000) had not been recognised for the withholding tax
that would be payable on the distributable retained profits amounting
to approximately RMB1,978,461,000 (2020: RMB1,867,890,000)
of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries. The Group has no intention to
distribute these retained earnings out from the PRC subsidiaries in
the foreseeable future.

AN EL P BB AR A 2R
R & ¥ 4 A R #1,978,461,000 7T
(ZZ=TF : AR%1,867,890,000
T EMABHRBEREEREAEOA
R #134,126,000 (=TT F : A
F#130,395,0007C) ° REE W 4T
EEAREREPBESEAMB AR M
I IREZ S BTG o
BERAEREEAT | FH 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

22,
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER

URREEFTEERSBH AHM
2HRENEMEE

22.

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—HLFE

Balance at 1 January

Disposal of investment in China Railway
Express Co., Ltd (“CRE") (note (a))

Transfer to investments accounted for using

R—RA—BH4ER
HERPERERNBRAR

(T tRiE ) av i & (BI5E (a)

BREEREDAAR

the equity method (note (b)) I E (KL (b))
Net loss recognised upon disposal HERERNFEE
Fair value changes NAEBEES

Balance at 31 December (note (c))

Rt=B=1t—-BAH&R(MEE ()

notes:

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group disposed of the
investment in CRE, at a consideration of approximately RMB46,400,000,
which was also the fair value as at the date of disposal as the investment
no longer meets the investment objective of the Group after group
restructuring carried out by the investee. A cumulative loss on disposal of
approximately RMB11,600,000 has been transferred from other reserves to
retained earnings.

In April 2021, the Group acquired 31% equity interests in Shannan
Yalaxiangbu, a company incorporated in the PRC with other limited liability,
at a consideration of RMB465,000,000. Prior to the acquisition, the Group
already held 9% equity interests in Shannan Yalaxiangbu, which were
accounted for as “financial assets at FVTOCI" in the consolidated statement
of financial position for financial reporting purposes. Upon completion
of the acquisition, the Group held 40% equity interests in Shannan
Yalaxiangbu, and transferred the aggregate fair value of approximately
RMB190,698,000 to “Investments accounted for using the equity method”
in the consolidated statement of financial position in applying equity
method to account for the Group's investment in Shannan Yalaxiangbu.
Goodwill arose on the acquisition of the shares in Shannan Yalaxiangbu.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

2021 2020
—E--F —TCTF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTFTT
231,881
(46,400)
(190,698) —
— (11,600)
16,216 601
174,482

BaE
(@ RBE-T-TE+-A=t+-AL

FEHE  AEEUREAENDARE
46,400,000 (T AZIRE R L& A 5
BAREE)DERPEHRENRE
BT ERERECERTER  ZR
ETBREASERAENEN -z
EMEFHERHARE 11,600,000 7T
BEHMBEEEEERTYE -

RZZEZ—FMA - AEEUARE
465,000,000 ST EUCE LB FERL &
m(—BRPEEMR AL ERE
FERA)3N%EMRE - RIKER - K
SECHEILBELEM 9% KR -
REFEBERARPETAIAAREE
AERHEHHARMEARENS
BEENEMBREZEMN - R
Bl AEERBELBHELER
40% F5HE - WHERARBEHARE
190,698,000 JL & & £ 474 B ISR &
[EREZEARNRE]  FERER
EHAEERUBERELEANIRES
REE - WELBBEREAROEAL
EEE



22.

23.

&

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HEZZ-_—ST"A=T-HIEFE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 22. UAREBESEEHSHITAHM

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED) 2EHRRNERMEEE)

notes: Fi5E -

() The above unlisted equity investments represent the Group’s equity interest (0 LERlFLETRABRERRAEERS
in a private entity established in the PRC. The directors have elected to B AERBNR AR - 5
designate these investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as they BEBEERENTERNRABES
believe that the investment is held for long-term. EHREZHHAREMES WanRiE

BE ABtfRAeZRERRYE
B
TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. EKREZXK
As at 31 December
R+=A=+—H
2021 2020
—E--F —TCFF
RMB‘000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFIT
Trade receivables due from third parties EWE=FE 5 345,380 342,509
Less: allowance for ECL W BEEEEERE (CIWPE) (59,235)

254,657 283,274
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HEC T

23.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

FrZA=T-RALHFEE

TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group's trade receivables due
from third parties were all denominated in RMB. The credit period
is generally 90 to 180 days. The aging analysis of trade receivables
based on invoice dates is as follows:

23.

EWESRE)
RZEBE-Z—FR-_ZE-_FTF+_-A
=t+—H AEBREKE=ZFNEH

FHUAREE - EEH KA
F180K - ERBEAHMNE FHEK
FEORRAITOT -

As at 31 December

Within 6 months 61EAR

Over 6 months but within 1 year HiRe6 A BT ER1F
Over 1 year but within 2 years HiB1FETBB2F
Over 2 years B2 F

R+=A=t+—H
2021 2020
—E--F —TCFF
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
97,392 55,243
20,578 65,205
78,878 145,205
148,532 76,856
342,509

For the trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer
products, the Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure the ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance. For
the trade receivables arising from loans to third parties, the Group
uses three categories which reflect their credit risk and how the
loan loss allowance is determined for each of those categories. This
resulted in the recognition of loss allowance for trade receivables
amounting to approximately RMB90,723,000 (2020: RMB59,235,000)
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Information about the impairment assessment of trade receivables
and the Group's exposure to credit risk can be found in Note 5.1(b).
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£= HE&F%%EMT NS
BER=-EEAIR %EF%HKM&
AT E=-@AERNMNEREB LR
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LFE AEERNERE SHHHE
KREHEHAAR9,723,0007T(=
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24. PREPAYMENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

24. BANFHE

As at 31 December

Prepayments for purchase of raw materials,
services and properties,
plant and equipment

BERMH - RIBEAR
ERAENE
TR 50R

Less: Non-current portion - prepayment
for purchase of properties, plant
and equipment (note)

B ERBES -BEVE
B SRR S CES)

Current portion

REBBD

R+=A=+-H
2021 2020
—E--F —T-FF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBF T
137,710 85,745
(6,067)
129,580 79,678

note: These balances represent prepayments made for the purchase of properties,

plant and equipment, the ownership of which has not been obtained at

year end.

The carrying amounts of current and non-current prepayments are

denominated in the following currencies:

M 2EHEBERBEDE  BERRE
(AmMERERERHEAER)MBEN

A

RB R RBE N R B AN T
A A

As at 31 December

- RMB
- HKD
- UsDh

- AR%
—BTT
—X

W+=A=+-H
2021 2020
—E--F —TCEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTFTT
132,625 85,278
3,205 393
1,880 74
137,710 85,745
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-Z-—F+-B=+-HI%E

25. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST 25.

DBSREATENEMEREE

As at 31 December
R+=BA=+—8

2021
—E-_—F
RMB’000
AR% TR

Amounts due from third parties (note((a))
Amounts due from associates
(note((b)) (Note 45(b))
Deposits
Others (note((c))

e EE =77 7R (1L ()
JEUE & 1 BIROR

(B3 (b)) (FEE 45(b))
ik
H i (15 ()

749,019

2,502
270
262,514

Less: allowance for ECL (Note 5.1(b))

B BHEE R REE(HES.1(b)

1,014,305
(27,418)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2021

2020
—E-FF
RMB'000

ARETT

1,266,516

34,445
246
70,731

1,371,938
(4,670)

1,367,268



25.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST (CONTINUED)

notes:

(a)

The balances mainly include the following items:

(i) As at 31 December 2021,
outstanding principal amounting to approximately RMB748,955,000
(2020: RMB1,260,616,000), which bore an annual interest rate of
5% (2020: 10%).
be repaid before 31 December 2022. The Group does not hold any

the loans to third party companies with

Based on the contractual terms, the loans will

collateral over the loans.

(i) As at 31 December 2020, amount due from a third party of
approximately RMB5,836,000 mainly represents the prepayment
made for purchase of equipment, which was transferred to other
financial assets at amortised cost due to the rescission of contracts.
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the amount have been

fully settled.

As at 31 December 2021, included in the balance was a loan to Fudi
Packaging, with principal amount of approximately RMB2,502,000 (2020:
RMB34,445,000),
unsecured. Based on the contractual terms, the loan will be repaid before

31 December 2022.

which bore an annual interest rate of 10% and was

As at 31 December 2021,
receivables from Highland Natural Water of approximately RMB48,452,000
(2020: RMB49,005,000), other receivable from disposal in structured
financial products of approximately RMB190,000,000, the amount have

the balance mainly included the dividend

been fully settled as at the reporting date, other tax recoverable of
approximately RMB189,000 (2020: 7,766,000) and advance to staffs of
approximately RMB1,825,000 (2020: RMB1,676,000).

25.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

DESREATENEMESREE

(%)

B

(a)

BHIZREATIER -

iy HRZFE—F+=ZB=+-—
B BEFE=ZFRDAX
BEERALLENAEARE
748,955,000 L(Z T T F :
)\E’%ueomeoooﬁ)z
B FRER% (=

7—7

¢:1% BEAHKEN
ZEFHR-_Z-_F+=A
=t+—HAEER AFELAK

= H
HREETFHAEMERR -

iy RZZE_ZEF+-_A=+-—
H BR—EE=FLFHK
IEZ"])\E@}5 836, OOOfE\Eg
AEBEREBEMHENNR
%mﬁ.am%%ﬂ%%i
BB AGENEMERE
E-RBEZT-_—F+=A
S+—BLEEE ZREEE
45 -

R-_T-_—F+-_A=+—8" &
HYIRHWPDEASSENAARE
2,502,000 (Z T T F: AR
34,445,0007C ) 2 ERET A H - F
FIRAB10%BEABIEF - REGH
BH - ZEFZBRN-_Z=__F+=A
=t+—BAEE -

W72:*¢+:HE+75'%%

EQENARMA48,452,000T(=
T T F: AR ®49,0050007T )
ZEBERRAKRE  HAR®
190,000,000 7 EEH# B S RIE
mEWEMRIEZREARSEHHE
BHEE) HARK189,0007L(=
T-TF: AR¥7,766,0007T) 2 &
ftb AT U [ R TR R 49 AR 1,825,000 7T
(ZZZTF : AR#1,676,0007T)2
ERET® -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

25. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST (CONTINUED) 25.

Information about the impairment assessment of other financial
assets at amortised cost and the Group’s exposure to credit risk can
be found in Note 5.1(b).

The carrying amounts of other financial assets at amortised cost are
denominated in the following currencies:

DR ATt BENHtEREE
(&)
BRNBRKAGENEGEREE
HORER G R AREEERBRAED
BRI 1(b)

NESRAGFENEMEBEENK
HEATIEEEE

As at 31 December
R+=HA=+—8

2021 2020
—E--F —T-FF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBF T

- RMB - AR 986,295 1,360,860
- EUR —BUT — 5,836
- HKD BT 572
1,367,268
26. INVENTORIES 26. BE
As at 31 December
Rn+=ZA=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—-F i Sk 3
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET AREFIT
Raw materials RATR 42,119
Finished goods — at cost R I — E AR 13,988
Work in progress o 4,159
60,266

The cost of inventories which was recognised as an expense
and was included in “cost of sales” amounted to approximately
RMB192,833,000 (2020: RMB174,482,000) for the year ended 31
December 2021.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2021

BE-_ZT-—F+-RA=+—HLtHF
B BRAEBRIFANEERA N
FERAL A AR 192,833,000
(ZE T F: AR 174,482,000
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27.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 27.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-—F+-B=1+-HI#E

URARBEEFTEBEHSB AER
NEMEE

Balance at 1 January

Additions in structured financial products

Disposal of Shanghai Maikaite Network
Technology Co., Ltd (“Shanghai MKT")
(note i)

Net gains recognised upon disposal (Note 8)

Fair value changes (Note 8)

Disposal in structured financial products
(note ii)

R—A—BW&ERR
RELEMEMRE

Eaiﬁgﬁﬁ%%ﬂﬁﬁ@@ﬂ

([ bz ) ()

R RERR A W a3 R (HTRE8)
LRBEEED(HES)
RRIEEME R & (M)

Balance at 31 December
Less: non-current portion

Rt-A=1+—-BW&E
B IEREEH S

Current portion

REEB D

2021 2020
B —E-TF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR TR ARETIT
197,147

180,000

= (5,616)

9,189 12,482
(9,517) 811
(190,000) (192,496)
192,328

(11,517)

180,811

note:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group disposed of
the investment in Shanghai MKT at a consideration of approximately
RMB5,616,000 and a gain of approximately RMB616,000 was recognised in

the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2021,

the Group disposed of

the investment in structured financial products at a consideration of
approximately RMB190,000,000 and a gain of approximately RMB9,189,000
was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

All financial asset at FVTPL are denominated in RMB as at 31

December 2021 and 31 December 2020.

Information about the methods and assumptions used in determining

fair value is provided in Note 5.3.

)y #HEZZZTF+ZA=+—A8L
FEHHE AEENREBEHOARE
5,616,000 HER E LB HNEK
e %m&EMM6w0m#ﬁé
BREPER

(iy, MREBEZTZ-—F+ZA=+—HIL
FEHE  AEBUREANDARY
190,000,000 7T i & ¥ 4618 14 & RhE &
MiRE - WEHARE9,189,000LE

RZFZ—F+-A=+—HR=%
“EFET-_A=+t—R URREE
AEREEHABRENEREES
BAAREEHE -

BRAEEAABEMANITARER
K ARSI HIRES.3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-Z-—F+-B=+-HI%E

28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 28. BERBEEEY

As at 31 December
R+=BA=+—8

2021 2020
—E--F —T-FF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBF T

Cash on hand FERE 510
Cash at bank RITFER 13,974
Restricted bank deposits SR HRITFR 50,268
64,752

As at 31 December

®t=A=+-8
2021 2020
—E-—-F —T-FF
RMB‘000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT
Denominated in: FTEEH

- RMB - AR 63,403
- Usb —E7T 1,018
- HKD —%7T 312
- Others —Eft 19
64,752
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28.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’ s cash and cash equivalents
amounting to approximately RMB53,070,000 (2020: RMB63,834,000)
were held in the financial institutions located in the mainland of
PRC. The remaining balances of approximately RMB748,000 (2020:
RMB408,000) were held in major financial institutions located in the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies
and the remittance of the foreign currencies out of the mainland of
PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange
control promulgated by the PRC government.

The Group earns interests on cash at bank at floating bank deposit
rates, which range from 0.001% to 1.35% per annum for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: range from 0.001% to 1.35% per
annum).

As at 31 December 2021, bank deposits of approximately
RMB40,175,000 (2020: RMB50,268,000) are restricted mainly as
guarantee for payments of bank acceptances.

28.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F--FtoAST-ALFE

RERREEEB/BUWAE)

RZEZ—F+ZA=+—H' K
SENBReRASTENNHARE
53,070,000 L(ZE =2 F : AR
63,834,000 7T) R 1E R B K BER) € Bl
BEAE - BHHARME748,00070(=
Z-ZTF: AR 408,0000)HES
BRTTRERNEZESRILERSSE -

UARBHEN SRR AINE AR
RONER P BIAKEEDL - BETH
TR B O AR B SN EE 61U 4R Bl e AR

AEBRFBRITFERFERLIETE
HEmAE  BE-T-_—F1+=A
S+ —HLEFE - BRAFERENT
0.001% =135% (ZE=_FF : &7
ENTF0.001% £ 1.35%) °

RZZEZ—F+ZA=+—H ' ZR
#8817 F 549 A R #40,175,000 T
(ZZ=ZFF: AR¥50,268,0007T)
TEERRITALEZHMATIER -
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29. TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

29. BNESRRENRE

As at 31 December
R+=A=+-H

2020

Trade payables
Notes payables

EANEEEE N
ERNRE

—ZT-TF

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREFIT
82,360

200,000 241,790

277,923

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the aging analysis of trade

payables based on invoice dates is as follows:

RZB-_—FR-_Z_FTF+_H
=t—B ERBERAHANENES
FERR DT -

As at 31 December

Within 3 months

Over 3 months but within 6 months
Over 6 months but within 1 year
Over 1 year but within 2 years

Over 2 years

3fEAR

B3 E A BT EEe A
BiB6EABTBEE1F
Bl FE BEBR2F
B2 F

R+=—A=+—-H

2021 2020
—E--F —T-FF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBFT
38,808

1,671

19,689

14,885

7,307

82,360

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2021



29.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group's trade payables were
all denominated in RMB and were not interest bearing.

The credit period on trade payables is generally within 90 days.

As at 31 December 2021, the bank acceptance notes amounting
to approximately RMB200,000,000 (2020: RMB241,790,000) were
guaranteed by bank deposits of approximately RMB40,000,000 (2020:
RMB48,543,000).

According to the agreement of bank acceptance notes, maturity dates
of notes payables are based on the following schedule: approximately
RMB125,000,000 and RMB75,000,000 on 2 March 2022 and
24 November 2022 (2020: RMB68,790,000, RMB110,500,000
and RMB62,500,000 on 18 January 2021, 1 March 2021 and
16 November 2021), respectively. The amount of approximately
RMB125,000,000 (2020: RMB179,367,000) was repaid subsequent to
the end of the reporting period.

29.

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-—F+-B=1+-HI#E

ENESRERERZEEE)
RZEBE-Z—FR-_ZE-_FTF+_-A
=+—8 AEBNE S EMTHIN
AREHE  LATTE -

BHRNFNEER -—RRIOKXZ
WG

RZE-Z—F+=-A=+—H &8
#) A AR 200,000,000 (ZE-F
F: AR %241,790,0007T ) # 8 17
EHEZRLAARE40,000,0007T
(ZZE=FF : AR 48,543,0007T)
HISRTTIE RUEIR o

BRESTALEZRE BEFEE
MEIBAERUATE: R=ZF
;e Bl = ) G s
AZTHBIHENKES AL
)\Emnsooooooﬁ&m)\wf%
75,000,000(ZE =T F : B =

*i*H+AH\:Z:*¢—H
_H&—v—_¢+ A+ HE
H 8 ®IE S Bl A A K #68,790,000
T A E #110,500,0007C M A
R 62,500,000t )o 4 A R &
125,000,000 C(ZE =% F : ARK
179,367,000 7C) K S BN s IR
BEE-

=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

30. DEFERRED REVENUE

30. EZEWA

As at 31 December
R+=B=+—8

2021 2020
—E--F —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTTT

Non-current B

Government grant BT B 16,142
Current #E

Government grant BUT B 2,374

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group's deferred revenue
was all denominated in RMB.

Tibet Glacier Mineral Water and Tiandi Green, the indirectly wholly
subsidiaries of the Company were granted and received subsidies
from the local government to compensate its efforts to increase its
production capacity in the past years.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, amount of approximately
RMB2,374,000 was credited to consolidated statement of profit or
loss (2020: RMB2,374,000) (Note 8).

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2021

RZE-_—FR-_Z-_FTF+-A
Z+—B AEEHBELEKAZEN
AREEE -

ARAEE2E N B QR REK)
TR RR S A% 8 39 T 0 W B E IR
IR EENBERFRNEAER
BT HRHED -

HE_Z_-F+-A=1T-HL#F
EHRE - HHAR® 2,374,000 (=%
—ZF . AR¥2,374,0007T) R A
BRERET(HES) »
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HEZZ-_—ST"A=T-HIEFE

31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. AEAE

As at 31 December
R+=B=+—8

2021 2020
—E--F —E-FF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTTT

Prepaid cards SELNRN 964

Advance from customers HWEFE 15,890
16,854

As at 1 January 2020, contract liabilities amounted to approximately ERBEY

RMB29,409,000. A AR 29,409,000 7T °

Contract liabilities arise from the prepaid cards and advance payments ERABEREENRERHARREHRE

made by customers while the goods are yet to be provided. mEE P EH MR IR -

The prepaid cards and advance from customers of the Group are BNRERAEERKE P RIEH TR

non-refundable. RIE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

31.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 31. BEAE#E)

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised TRIITHREERRAFREENS
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and how much relates to RAEFMrEsE  UERNBTHE
performance obligations that were satisfied in prior periods. ERITHEEBASEA WS

Advance
Prepaid from

cards customers
A+ HEWEFRE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T N

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZ-_F-_-%+=-HA=+-H
LFE
Revenue recognised that was included FEAERBEGEHRNDERBA
in the contract liability balance
at the beginning of the year

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BEZ-_F-_FHF+-HA=+-H

LFE
Revenue recognised that was included FEAERBEEHRNDERBA
in the contract liability balance
at the beginning of the year 861 28,548
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group's contract liabilities RZEZ-—FRZZFTZFTF+=A
were all denominated in RMB. =+—H FEEHNEREEINUA

R#EHE -
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32. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=a

MEBRRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F--FtoAST-ALFE

32. RREAREMENR

As at 31 December

W+t=ZA=+—-H
2021 2020
—E-—& —T-TF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREFTT
Salary and welfare payables FERT BN & R AR F 17,878
Payables for value added tax and other taxes J%%(if_ﬁfﬂﬁﬁ‘rmﬁlﬁ 4,241
Accrued operating expenses BREEE 10,161
Payables for purchase of equipment ﬁ%““ﬁFHTJ\I@ 9,105
Professional service fee payable BN BEXREE 4,690
Amounts payable for equity FEFTHEE AR ERIRE 2N

investment in associates 16,000
Amounts received from a third party feE=HFWEMHIE 49,044
Deposits from customers BEPEXR 392
Borrowings from third parties (note) FE=FEFBIE) 301,825
Others HAth 10,441
166,889 423,777

Less: Non-current portion — other payables B IEREE D — M E N —fE
for equity investment in an associate w‘éﬂ?ﬁi&“ REZ A (16,000) (16,000)
Current portion REEHD 150,889 407,777
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE-Z——

FrZA=T-RALHFEE

32. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

note: The balances include the following items:

The loan from a third party company with outstanding principal amounting
to approximately RMB1,635,000 (2020: RMB1,683,000) and accrued interest
of RMB254,000 (2020: RMB160,000). The loan bore an annual interest at
6% and is repayable on 2 December 2022.

The loan from a third party company with outstanding principal amounting
to approximately RMB170,174,000 and accrued interest of approximately
RMB19,852,000 as at 31 December 2020. The loan, which was mainly used
for the repayment of the Convertible Bonds, bore an annual interest at 7%
and is repayable on 31 December 2021. The lending company is ultimately
held by Mr. Wang Peter Jian's spouse, and Mr. Wang Peter Jian is the
substantial shareholder of the Company. The loan was fully repaid during
the year ended 31 December 2021.

The loan from a third party company with outstanding principal amounting
to approximately RMB2,104,000 and accrued interest of approximately
RMB182,000 as at 31 December 2020. The loan bore an annual interest at
6% are repayable on 31 December 2021. The lending company is ultimately
held by Mr. Wang Peter Jian's spouse and Mr. Wang Peter Jian is the
substantial shareholder of the Company. The loan was fully repaid during
the year ended 31 December 2021.

The loan from a third party company with outstanding principal amounting
to approximately RMB1,262,000 and accrued interest of approximately
RMB69,000 as at 31 December 2020. The loan bore an annual interest at
6% and is repayable on 4 February 2021. The lending company is ultimately
held by Mr. Wang Peter Jian. The loan was fully repaid during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

32. RREAREMENRGE)

Bf5E -

EHBIEATIER

RE-—ME=ZFRAKEELSLE
H%AEM1@wmﬁ(7:f
£ ANR#1,683,0007T) 2 EF R E
SR BARE25400T(ZE-F
£ AR#160,0007T) « ZERER
ER6% RBER_TE-__F+=-R=H

o

e =

=

ME

¥

RZZE-ZTF+=-A=+—H" X8
—BE=ZFARNKEELALSELNA
AR#170,174,0007T 2 € 3 N JE 7T
FEH AR 19,852,000 ° ZEX
TERAREETRRES  FRXA
7% NMER-_E-_—F+-A=+—H
BE - ZERDAMIBREENRE
BEER IBRAERARENES
BE-HBHE_FT-—F+=—A=1+—
ALEEE  ERE2EEE -

RZEZEF+=-RA=+— E ®E
—BE=ZFRAAEBEALLEY
ﬁAE%umpwmz%m&%ﬁ
MEHARE182,0007T ° ZERE
FEB6HNER-_E-—%F+_H
=+—HRER ZERRAHATRE
ENRBEESE  TBEERAEAA
AMEFERR - BE-T-—F+=
A=+—RItFE  BHRE2EEE -

RZZZTF+ZA=+—H " KAH
—HEZFRRKEELALEENA
ARE1,262,000 T2 EF K EFIE
MARKEG9,0007T - ZEHFFIRA
6% NAR_F-_—F-AMAEE -
ZERLNABIBAERREE - H
E_Z-_—F+_HA=1+—HLHF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

—  The loans from Mr. Wang Peter Jian with outstanding principal amounting
to approximately RMB3,270,000 (2020: RMB13,380,000) and accrued
interest of approximately RMB16,000 (2020: RMB285,000). The loans bore
an annual interest at 6% and are repayable on 27 April 2022 (2020: annual
interest 6% and are repayable on 28 February 2021).

The carrying amounts of the accruals and other payables are
denominated in the following currencies:

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2021
Bz-2--F+-A=+-HIFE

3. BREARHEMENSRE)

- KRETIBREXREEBRRSSENAA
R#3,270,000t(ZT =T F : AR
#13,380,00070) 2 B K EETFI &
WAREE16,000(ZTE_TF : A
R #285,0007T) c ZERFFE A
6% RBER-_TE__FMNA=-_t++AHE
B(ZZZZF  EHEA6% AR
ZEZ-FZAZ+)N\RBEE) -

BREMAMAEMENKOEREENLT
DERETE -

As at 31 December
R+=A=+-H

2021 2020
—E-—-F Sk 3
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT R ARBFTT

- RMB - AR
- USD —X
- HKD -7

125,761 93,924
= 817
41,128 329,036
423,777
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

33. BANK BORROWINGS 33. $R1TER

As at 31 December

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

W+t=ZA=+—-H
2021 2020
—E-—& —T-TF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARETFT
Non-current ¥R
Long-term borrowing from RERITER
a bank — Guaranteed and pledged (note b) —BREBRER(PIFED) —
Long-term borrowing from RERITER - BER (ML)
a bank - pledged (note f) , 110,000
Current TE
Short-term borrowing from RERRITIE X
a bank - Guaranteed and pledged (note a) —BREBEXER(MEa) 100,000 140,000
Current portion of long-term borrowing from KHIRITERHRE S
a bank — Guaranteed and secured (note b) — BRE LI (FTEb) 50,000 55,000
Short-term borrowing from K EIRITIER
a bank - Guaranteed and secured (note ) —BRE REHF (M 65,000
Short-term borrowing from K EIRITIER
a bank — Guaranteed and pledged (note d) —ERERER(HIFE) 100,000 160,000
Short-term borrowings from K EIRITIER
banks — Guaranteed and pledged (note e) —ARFELEHR(HTe) 50,000
Current portion of long-term borrowing from KHIRITERHRE S
a bank - pledged (note f) —BEH (S 60,000 30,000
Short-term borrowing from K EIRITIER
a bank — Guaranteed and pledged (note g) - BREREHR(MEg) 100,000 —
0000
Total borrowings ER Gk

All bank borrowings were denominated in RMB as at 31 December

2021 and 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

notes:

(a)

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB100,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2021, and guaranteed
by the Company and was secured by the pledge of 35% of a subsidiary’s
equity interests. The interest rate was based on the directive interest
rate announced by the People’s Bank of China Lhasa Central Subbranch,
which was at fixed interest rate 3.85%. According to the loan agreement,
borrowing amount of RMB100,000,000 is required to be repaid on 2
November 2022.

As at 31 December 2020, the outstanding borrowing amount of
approximately RMB140,000,000 was guaranteed by the Company and was
secured by the pledge of 35% of a subsidiary’s equity interests. The interest
rate was based on the directive interest rate announced by the People’s
Bank of China Lhasa Central Subbranch, which was 4.75% per annum
of which 2.00% interest is charged in advance, which will be refunded
when the relevant authority in the Chinese Central government refunds
the interest allowances to the lender. During the year ended 31 December
2021, the borrowing was fully repaid.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB75,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2021, and guaranteed
by a subsidiary of the Group and secured by the Group's factory plant
and land use rights. The interest rate was adjusted based on Loan Prime
Rate (“LPR") announced by the People's Bank of China Lhasa Central Sub-
branch by adding 0.4%, of which 2.0% interest is charged in advance,
which will be refunded when the relevant authority in the Chinese Central
government refund the interest allowances to the lender. According to
the loan agreement, borrowing amount of approximately RMB25,000,000,
RMB25,000,000 and RMB25,000,000 are required to be repaid on 21
January 2022, 21 July 2022 and 18 January 2023 respectively. Accordingly,
borrowing amount of RMB50,000,000 was recorded as current liability and
amount of approximately RMB25,000,000 was recorded as non-current
liability as at 31 December 2021.

33. #
B -

(a)

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

TRERE)

AEESEHARE100,000,0007T
WERXRARBE-_E-_—F+=-A
S+-BLFEHES RAREIR
HWRE WU —HHBEARZB%H
WAEEL IR - FIRERFEARET
NEFLZITAGHERAE - AR
EME385% - BEEXRZE EX
A ARE100,000,000tER-F
—Zf+—AZR{EE-

R-ZEBE-_EFE+-_A=+—H Kk
BB AR 140,000,000 7T 10 {5
FEARDARERE - UWBAA
35% RIEEEH - MEERPBEAR
BITREROZIT MO ERFIE -
REBEAT5%  HHTELEMER2.00%
B BREERREFTEBIIMMA
EFANBREFISHBERRE REZE
—E-—F+-A=T-BLEFE"

LERCEREE -

REESEHARIET5000,0007T
MEFRAREE T -+ -8
S+-BAULFEEFES HALE—
BB A RIRERE - TUAEEN
IREE Rt A EER - FIx
BRERBRARBITRHERLZITA
MOERTSRENE(ERTER
EBNE)MO4%ETHE  HRE
FIBR2.0%F B - R P B PR
FAEBHBAIRMERARER S BEER
RE - BREERGE EFEEDT
# B AR ®25000000m AR
25,000,0007T & A R # 25,000,000
THER-ZT-Z_F—A=+—H =
E-_FLAZF+-HRZZT-=F
—RBTN\BEE At R=ZT=—
F+-—AZ+-—A ¢EAARE
50,000,000 TRIEFZ BREAE
AR 25,000,000 7T M5B A 3E
MEERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE-Z——

FrZA=T-RALHFEE

33. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

(b)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

(continued)

As at 31 December,
approximately RMB55,000,000 was guaranteed by a subsidiary of the Group

2020, the outstanding borrowing amount of

and secured by the Group’s factory plant and land use rights. The interest
rate was based on the directive interest rate announced by the People’s
Bank of China Lhasa Central Sub-branch, which was 4.75% per annum
of which 2.0% interest is charged in advance, which will be refunded
when the relevant authority in the Chinese Central government refunds
the interest allowances to the lender. During the year ended 31 December
2021, the borrowing was fully repaid.

The borrowing with principal amount of approximately RMB65,000,000
was guaranteed by the Company and secured by the Group's factory plant
and land use rights. The loan is at fixed interest rate of 4.35% per annum.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the borrowing was fully repaid.

The balances include the following borrowings from banks:

(i) The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately
RMB100,000,000 was newly obtained during the year ended 31
December 2021,
was pledged by 15% of an associate’s equity interests. The loan is

and guaranteed by a subsidiary of the Group and
at variable interest rate of 1.85% per annum. According to the loan

agreement, borrowing amount of RMB100,000,000 is required to be
repaid on 18 November 2022.
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33. RITERE)

B aE

(b)

(&)

(%)

RZTZZF+ZA=+—8 " xE
B a4 AR55000,0007T 8 &
REAEE M B RRRERE
I AR E B E TREE &+t A E
fEHIR - FIRERFEARBITNE
RPOXITABMERIE . AEF
4.75% @ ERTBEEMBR2.0%FE - #
KA BEFRREFTEBBFIRERAR
BRERERERE N2 =—
F+-A=+—BLEE  %EHE
2EREE -

K4 & 89 AR 65,000,000 TTH &
FEARARERE  UUAEET
TR R 5 e - M {55 FR B AEHE 1R - X B
METEFREL35%  RBEE-Z
——E+-A=Z+-HLEEE %
HE2HEEE -

BHRBERETIRITER

i)y RAEEL2BEHARE
100,000,000 7T #) f& 3 & 7 &
—E=--%+=ZA=1+—8
LEEHERS BAEE—H
MERARERE  Wh—
MIEE & DB 15% M RAEED
B ZEBERNIHFNEA
1.85%  REERHE - ¢8
A A K 100,000,000 7T £ f&
RARZZEZZF+—A+N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

(d)

The balances include the following borrowings from banks: (continued)

(i

(ii)

(continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the borrowing with principal amount of
approximately RMB100,000,000 was guaranteed by a subsidiary
of the Group and was pledged by 15% of an associate’s equity
interests. The borrowing with principal amount of approximately
RMB100,000,000 was repaid and reborrowed during the year ended
31 December 2020. The loan is at fixed interest rate of 1.85% per
annum. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the borrowing

was fully repaid.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB60,000,000
was guaranteed by a subsidiary of the Group and the Company, and
was pledged by 15% of an associate’s equity interests. The loan is at
fixed interest rate of 3.85% per annum. During the year ended 31
December 2021, the borrowing was fully repaid.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB50,000,000 was

guaranteed by the Company and a subsidiary of the Group and pledged

by the Group’s machinery. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the

borrowing was fully repaid.

33. {1

B aE

(d)

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

TiEEh (&)

(&)

BHREETIIR

(i)

HAEE
BARA
PR FE

(%)

1E| E

(&)

RZE-_ZEFE+-_A=+—
B R& 8 B ARE
100,000,000 7T #) & 5 i A8 &
Bm— RN E AR RERE
Wi — B E R R R 15%
BELH - KW BARKE
100,000,000 7T 4 f& 3K E A #
EZT-TF+ZR=+—H
LEEBRERBER - ZEX
METEFEMEAR1.85%  RE

E-Z-—-Ff+=ZA=+—H

HFE - ZEREEBEE
ABEEZEDODARE

60,000,0007T M) f& Z B & &
B EL R RADBRM
RE > WAR—HEHARE15%
MREEL R - ZERNET
E MK H385% REZE =
T4+ B=+—HIF
B ZERD2EEE -

&34 AR % 50,000,000 7T
AR AREEH— BB LQEIR
WA EE RS EE R -

REE-_T-_—F+-A=1+—HL

FE

G

ERCEBEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

33. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

33. {1
M ()

TiEEh (&)

)

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB110,000,000
was guaranteed by the Company and was secured by the land use right
of a third party. The interest rate will be adjusted according to the LPR
for one-year loan every twelve months throughout the repayment period.
According to the loan agreement, unpaid principal of RMB20,000,000,
RMB40,000,000 and RMB50,000,000 are required to be repaid on 15
March 2022, 15 August 2022 and 4 March 2023 respectively. Accordingly,
borrowing amount of approximately RMB60,000,000 was recorded as
current liability as at 31 December 2021 and amount of approximately
RMB50,000,000 was recorded as non-current liability as at 31 December
2021.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB100,000,000
was guaranteed by a subsidiary of the Group and was secured by the
pledge of 20% Shannan Yalaxiangbu's equity interests. The interest rate
was determined based on LPR announced by the People's Bank of China
Lhasa Central Sub-branch, of which 2.0% interest is charged in advance,
which will be refunded when the relevant authority in the Chinese Central
government refund the interest allowances to the lender. According to the

loan agreement, such amount is required to be repaid on 25 June 2022.

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Group’s bank
borrowings were repayable as follows:

(f) h%éthmﬁAEMHowowo
MARBREER  UNAE=FM
im%%%ﬁﬁﬁ REFHM
FHEROF R BRIEER TS HRE
FIRBNREAETAZ - REEXK
Wi - KEEAS AR 20,000,000
gt AR #40,000,0007T B A R &
50,000,000 L BD B A -F ==
—A+EB - ZZ-_—_F/\A+HA
RZZZ=F=HAMBEE- ALt
WAEMmmmmmmFﬁ%:
——F+ZA=Z+—-HIARDE
%v%AEwampmmmmﬁm
—E-—+-B=+—-BFAER
BEE -

(9 SFE|HAARKI100,000,0007T 8 &
FEAEEN—HHEQARER
FoRLEEREM20% R EEE
B FIRERBEARRITRES L
YTADBHERTERENRET -
HhIELEMNB2.0% 78 - BRHPED
REFAEBHPIRERAREFR BB
BREERE BEERPE ZERE
BR_ZE-_—FRA-t+HHESE

RZE-—F+-A=+-AR=Z
—EE+-A=+—H AEBEIRT
EREERAMT

As at 31 December

Within 1 year 1R
Between 1 year and 2 years 122%F
Between 2 years and 5 years 2ESF

R+t=BA=+—H

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR T ARBF T
500,000
60,000
50,000
485,000 610,000

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.
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34.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONVERTIBLE BONDS - LIABILITY COMPONENT

The Company issued 5% convertible bonds with principal amount
of HK$379,620,000 (equivalent to RMB317,702,000) at a total
consideration of HK$379,620,000 (equivalent to RMB317,702,000) in
March 2021. The Convertible Bonds are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars, unsecured and with interest calculated semi-annually. The
bonds entitle the holders to convert them into ordinary shares of the
Company at any time between the date of issue of the bonds and the
maturity date in March 2024 at a conversion price of HK$0.74 per
share (subject to anti-dilutive adjustments). The bonds can be early
redeemed upon certain events at the option of the bondholders or
the issuer. If the bonds have not been converted or redeemed, they
will be redeemed in March 2024 at par value plus accrued interest.

At initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component was
estimated at the issuance date using an equivalent market interest
rate for a similar bond without a conversion option. The residual
amount is assigned as the equity component and is presented in
equity heading "other reserve”. The early redemption option is
considered as closely related to the host debt. The effective interest
rate of the liability component is 7.69%.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Convertible Bonds
with the principle amount of HK$22,644,000 (equivalent to
RMB19,026,000) was converted into 30,600,000 new shares of the
Company at a conversion price of HK$0.74 per share.

The fair value of the liability component of the Convertible Bonds
at 31 December 2021 amounted to RMB278,976,000, which is
calculated using cash flows discounted at the rate of 8.23% and are
within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Details of the Group's exposure to risks arising from Convertible
Bonds are set out in note 5.1.

34.

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-E-—%+-A=t-HIFE

agREs-aEds
ARAN-_B-—F=A%TLE
£379,620,000%8 T(HHE RN AR
317,702,0007T ) K 5% A & (& % -
R 8 5379,620,0008 T (HERA
R #317,702,0007C) ° AT R EF
BILEHE - BEE - BEFHE—KX
T - EHFEHFBABENESFEITH
k-T2 -m&E= AE#8HA 2HENERA
BEfE - AERR0.74 B TERER(Z
RAREEAE) G EHFEBRK AL
MELER - BFRFEAREITATE
BEREETENRRENEREGES -
WEHFTEFERGERD  EHFER
ZTZNF = BREE MBS
Bl -

R HERN  BESPWAAER
RETHERRAYESRERENEM
BHEOREMGHERMGEET - Ftre
BEWABRAERLD  TERSHD
I EmEEIR 27 - RATE R ER
RERFEBEREE -  BEHDH
ERFEE7.69% °

HE-_Z-—F+-_A=+—HItF
&+ K%£22,644,0008 T(HZEAR
#19,026,0007C) W AT AR EHF AT
ROT4B T HRBREE R AR A
30,600,000 f&HTA% °

RZEBE-—F+-A=+—8 " #q#
BEFBEIIHNANBEAARE
278,976,000 7T + # A #£8.23% F| X
NEMREREFE  BRAAEE
ERMEIE -

A 787N 5 [ R A R B A5 25 T B O
FRE AR 5.1

BHKERARAF | FH 2021

&

@



~D

&

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

34. CONVERTIBLE BOND - LIABILITY COMPONENT (CONTINUED)

The Convertible Bonds issued during the year have
liability and equity components as follows:

34, MRRES-REHD ()
REEBRTOAIRREFCSHRIKE
ELERED - W

been split into the

RMB'000
AR®T R

Nominal value of the Convertible Bonds

HABERTARRESFREE

issued during the period 317,702
Equity component G dan:ia) (22,848)
Liability component at the issuance date EITAMBEHD
Interest expenses MEER
Interest paid/payable B/ R F R
Conversion of the Convertible Bonds ATERESHBIR
Exchange alignment bEE 5, B

Liability component at 31 December 2021

275,684

R-B--F+ZA=t—-HAMNEEHD

35. SHARE CAPITAL

35. BA&

Equivalent
Nominal nominal
Number of value of value
ordinary ordinary  of ordinary
shares shares shares
EEREE ZREER
(FR) EBEREE H1E
HKD'000 RMB’000
FHET N
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 SRO.01TBINEER -
each, issued and fully paid EETREZ
Balance as at 1 January 2020, RZE-TF—H—B8 -
31 December 2020 and “ETFTA=T—HBRK
1 January 2021 T -F-A-BNEH 2,568,893

Share issued upon conversion
of Convertible Bonds

B BAREFRBEITORD

30,600

Balance as at 31 December 2021

HY RS ER

RZE-_—F+-HA=+—H

2,599,493

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2021



36.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RERBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-F--FtoAST-ALFE

SHARES HELD FOR SHARE AWARD SCHEME 36. ARMEBEZEENRS

Number of
Ordinary shares

(thousands)
EEREAE RMB’000
(i) ARETFT
Balance as at 1 January 2020, R-B=-E5-/F—-8-
31 December 2020, 1 January 2021 —E-EH+-A=+—-H"
and 31 December 2021 —E--f-A-HRK
“E--H+ZA=+—HH
BER 65,626 173,037
On 18 August 2017, the Group adopted a share award scheme for RZE—tFNATN\B  FAEEHK
purposes of (i) encouraging or facilitating the holding of Shares Mm—IERR ) RENETE - BE() BB

by the Selected Participants; (ii) encouraging and retaining certain
individuals to work with the Group; and (iii) providing incentive for
the Selected Participants to achieve performance goals. Based on the
rules of the scheme, the Group may grant shares of the Company to
eligible participants in the future.

On 8 September 2017, the Group entered an agreement with Bank
of Communications Trustee Ltd. (the “Trustee”) to establish a share
award scheme trust (“Share Award Trust”), where the Trustee may
purchase or subscribe ordinary shares of the Company on behalf
of the Group from the open market, based on the instructions of
the Group. The Share Award Trust is consolidated in the Group's
consolidated financial statements as a special purpose entity.

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, no share has been
granted by the Group to any parties under the above mentioned
share award scheme.

RELETLEEFARG : (i) 5B
REBETFTALAAERTIE  Ki)
AEEFLHEETRENE S RER
By o RIRFTEIRA - RRAKE A M
BERSEERHADARS -

RZZF—tENANR AEEER
BRITEFXARRA(ZEADITL
199 5% AR 3L B £ 2 B =t EERE ([ R
RBET) Bt IEANREA
%@mhﬁﬁﬁ$¢@%2%ﬁ%%
B @BARR L AR - i) REIE
&W%%%Hma ENAEE LGS
BRREAA

RZE-Z—F+-A=+—HKZ=ZT
ZEF+ZA=+—H AKEHE
RAE B AR 10 2B T &l (R (] — 7 3%
AT AR 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

37. OTHER RESERVES 37. EHibf#E

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

Convertible
Statutory Currency Investment bonds-
Capital surplus translation revaluation equity
reserve reserve reserve reserve  component Total
EE TRRES
EN1 BRARE  NMRERE REERRE -E&da &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
(note (i) (note (ii) (note (iii) (note (v)) (note (iv))
(GEAO) (HEE (i) (B (i) (EE() (Ht&E (iv))
Balance at 31 December 2019 and S
1 January 2020 k=%
&5 32,847 185,498 (71,041) - = 147,304
Exchange differences on translation from W EBERRET
functional currency to presentation curency  EEMERZE - - 14,191 - - 14,191
Fair value change on financial assets at FVTOCI ~ MARBE 2 EEEHHA
E2ENENEREAEY
DAEER — - - (10,999) = (10,999)
Transfer of reserve upon disposal of RENARBEGZEAEY
financial assets at FVTOCI SAEMZERENSH
BERNEREED = = = 11,600 - 11,600
Balance at 31 December 2020 and RZZZTFT-A=1-4
1 January 2021 R=ZB--4-A-B#
&5 32,847 185,498 (56,850) 601 = 162,096
Exchange differences on translation from R R ERREREEM
functional currency to presentation curency  EXER = = 9,211 = - 9,211
Fair value change on financial assets at FVTOCI  MAK BB E B AEEHA
B2 ENENSREEN
DAEER — = = 16,216 = 16,216
Transfer of reserve upon disposal of RENAABEHEEAEY
financial assets at FVTOCI SAEMZERENSH
BEBNEREED = = = (16,817) - (16,817)
Convertible bonds - equity component ThkES-ERSH - - - - 22,848 22,848
Deferred tax arising from Convertible Bonds TARBFEENELHE = — — — (3,770) (3,770)

Shares issued upon conversion of
Convertible Bonds

ERABRESFNRTORD

Balance at 31 December 2021

RZBZ-£+ZB=t-H
itk

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

185,498

(47,639)

(1,161)

(1,161)

188,623




37.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED)

notes:

(@)

Capital reserve

Excess amounts contributed by shareholders on top of the share capital are
recorded as capital reserve. In addition, the reserve is used to record the
differences arisen as a result of transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control, if any.

Statutory surplus reserve

According to the provisions of the articles of association of the Group’s
subsidiaries located in PRC ("PRC subsidiaries”), the PRC subsidiaries shall
first set aside 10% of its profit attributable to owners after tax as indicated
in their statutory financial statements for the statutory surplus reserve
(except where the reserve has reached 50% of the entity's registered share
capital) each year. PRC subsidiaries may also make appropriations from
its profit attributable to shareholders to a discretionary surplus reserve,
provided it is approved by a resolution passed in a shareholders’ general
meeting. These reserves cannot be used for purposes other than those for
which they are created and are not distributable as cash dividends without
the prior approval obtained from the shareholders in a shareholders’ general
meeting under specific circumstances.

When the statutory surplus reserve is not sufficient to make good for any
losses of the PRC subsidiaries from previous years, the current year profit
attributable to the owners shall be used to make good the losses before any
allocations are set aside for the statutory surplus reserve.

The statutory surplus reserve, the discretionary surplus reserve and the
capital reserve of the PRC subsidiaries may be converted into share capital
of the PRC subsidiaries provided it is approved by a resolution passed in
a shareholders’ general meeting and meets other regulatory requirements
with the provision that the ending balance of the statutory surplus reserve
does not fall below 25% of the registered share capital amount. As at 31
December 2020 and 2019, the reserve of the PRC subsidiaries has reached
50% of the entity's registered share capital.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

Hitf# (&)

BAHRE

BRIBBEBRARBDCTAERR
& s ZREARTHESEEHR
BAESIE (WA) MEFERER
ZRGPELEMER o

FEERBARE

BEASECRDEMNNE QA
([FERBAR] ) NELERA
Al - PEMBARESE/ERE
BMERATEER AEEREFE
HI0%BIEEERBLES (HEATE
SEEERIMBAS0%ERIN) -
FEMELRNMIELEERAG RS
HY R FRAL AR B BCR B AE M R R
EERHLESE  -BKOBERIME
®oh - RERBEENERELMLE
% BEREREERTERRRER
RELERMPAEN  TAERERS
BENE °

BEERHBAES TR A T B
BARNMFEBER  AFENHE
BARGHEATARBEERSBLR
A BERAER -

TEMBARIMEERBAES £
ERHB A RERNEEAELR
RAEBBHREZRILELFEEM
EERTTERERAE  BFRHZE
TERKRABSTBIREIMBRAH
25% RZZE_ZTER-_FT-NF
TZA=+—H FEHRBRAFANA
BeBENEEAMAERNS0% -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE T -5+-A=t+-HL%EE

37. OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Currency translation reserve

Exchange differences arising from the difference between functional and
presentation currency are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the reserve.

Convertible bond-equity component

This represents the equity portion of the Convertible Bonds. The entity shall
transfer the part initially included in other reserve to share premium upon

expiry.

Investment revaluation reserve

The FVTOCI reserve represents cumulative gains and losses arising on the
revaluation of equity instruments at FVTOCI that have been recognised
in other comprehensive income, net of amounts reclassified to retained
earnings when those equity instruments at FVTOCI are disposed of or are
determined to be impaired.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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38. SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following is a list of significant principal subsidiaries of the Group
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020:

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

MEAR

RZEBE-Z—FR-_ZE-_FTF+_-A
Zt+—RB AEEEATENEBEARA

MBEWT

Company name

Place of incorporation and
business/date

of incorporation/

of legal entities

AMAIRER LS/
DRER GRS 1
Indirectly held:
BREE

Tibet Zhongji Jiahua Industry
Co., Ltd.
ERTREEEXERARAD

Tibet Glacier Mineral Water
Co., Ltd.

EEKI B KERAR

Beijing 5100 Management
Consulting Co., Ltd.
IRE-ETEREAARLA

Tibet Glacier Mineral Water
Marketing Co., Ltd.

ERIKIIBRKEHERAA
Tibet Tiandi Green Beverage

Development Co., Ltd.

BRAMSGERRERARLA

PRC/1 January 2004/
Limited liability company
78/-FTME-f-B/
BRAT

PRC/31 October 2005/
Limited liability company

hE/FTRE
TR=+-B/8RAR
PRC/13 July 2007/
Limited liability company
hE/-F5LE
tAT=0/8RA7
PRC/21 April 2010/
Limited liability company

h8/-5-5F
mA=+-B/BRAH
PRC/28 April 2009/
Limited liability company
t8/-FENE
BA=t/\B/BRAH

Issued/paid-in capital

B/ RERE

USD16,000,000 UsD16,000,000

16,000,000 %70

16,000,000 % T

RMB118,000,000 EWEARENNIY

A%
118,000,000 %
RMB1,000,000

AEE
118,000,000
RMB1,000,000

A%
1,000,000
RMB3,000,000

AEE
1,000,000
RMB3,000,000

ARE
3,000,007
RMB200,000,000

A%
3,000,0007¢
RMB200,000,000

ARH
200,000,00070

N
200,000,000 70

Effective interest held

LLiE i

Principal activities

IEER

2020
-2-%4

—T =%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Investment holding

e

Water products
manufacturing and
sales and leasing

2 HEREEKER

Water products market
operation and management
KERmHEERER

Water products marketing,
promotion, distribution
and relating

S EE AR
ZEKER

Beer manufacturing

and sales

BEEEREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

38. SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 38. MBATE(E)

Company name

Place of incorporation and
business/date

of incorporation/

type of legal entities

Issued/paid-in capital

Effective interest held

Principal activities

HMHIREEEE
L iAIAS/ tRERED BT/ BARA ERfsER IEED
Indirectly held: 2021 2020
FHERE . ZE0EF
Wealth Keeper Limited Hong Kong/30 October 2012/ HKD1 100%  Investment holding
Limited liability company
Wealth Keeper Limited B#/-5-CF 18T REBR
+A=1H/ERAH
Tibet 5100 Water Resources Hong Kong/6 September 2013/ HKD100 100%  Investment holding
(HK) Limited Limited liability company
BESI0KER(ER)BRAR  BE/-%-=F 10087 REBR
NARB/ERAT
Hong Kong Fairly Well Hong Kong/23 May 2016/ HKD1 100%  Lending service
Capital Limited Limited liability company
BEREERERAA B/ 2E0F 1A HERHK
EAZTZB/ARAR
Zhuhai Guangyuan Huijin PRC/12 January 2018/ RMB182,000,000 98.9%  Investment in culture,
Equity Investment Fund Limited partnership entertainment,
(Limited Partnership) consumer product,
(note) retail business and
related industries
KEtEESRERELES hE/ZF-N\§ N T RE - EER
(RRA%) (i) -AtzB/ERa% 182,000,000 ¢ TEXBRABIRRE
Center Faithful Limited Hong Kong/2 January 2019/ HKD1 100%  Investment holding

Limited liability company

THEARERAA Bk/-F-hE-RzR/ 1R RERK
ERAR
Note: B aE
The subsidiary was deregistered on 27 May 2021. ZHBARR_E-_—FRA-T+

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F--FtoAST-ALFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 39. REREIHERMTE
The Group holds the following financial instruments: AEERETIIEMIA

As at 31 December
R+=BA=+—8H

2021 2020
—E_—F% —E-TF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR TR ARETFIT

Financial assets CREE
Financial assets at amortised cost NESRKAGTENESREE
~ Trade receivables -ERESHK 254,657 283,274
- Other financial assets at — DA SRR AR ST 2 R E M
amortised cost TREE 986,887 1,367,268
- Cash and cash equivalents —iﬁé\&f/%%%{ﬁ% 53,818 64,752
Financial assets at FVTOCI AREBENEEEEHTA
Hth2EU RN REE 174,482
Financial assets at FVTPL NARBEFELEEEHTA
BENEREE 192,328
1,297,362 2,082,104
Financial liabilities cRBE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost ~ ABBRA A ENCREE
~ Trade and notes payables - ENESHNENEE 277,923 324,150
— Accruals and other payables —JaRER M HMERM R 144,244 403,536
- Bank borrowings —HRITER 485,000 610,000
— Lease liabilities —HEaE — 147
— Convertible bonds - gkES - 8EHD
liability component 275,684 =
1,182,851 1,337,833
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

40. SIGNIFICANT NON-CASH TRANSACTION 40. EXFEERS

(@) During the year ended 31 December 2021, the consideration
for investment accounted for using the equity method of total
amount of RMB575,000,000 were off-settled by amounts due
from third parties and prepayments based on the settlement
agreement between the Group and the third party.

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2021, prepayments
amounting to approximately RMB248,000,000 were offset
against accruals and other payables based on the settlement
agreement between of the Group and the third parties.

41. NET DEBT RECONCILIATION 41.

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in
net debt for each of the periods presented.

(a)

BEE-_E-—F+-_A=+—
ALEFE BREAEEHRSE =
FEREERE FRAERZE
AENETEERERBARE
575,000,000 7T B #K S5 fE U 5 =
F RO NIE A -

BHE-Z-_—F+ZA=+—H
HEE  BEASEEE=FME
MEERE  BRFEHNARE
248,000,000 ;LB K AR & 58
B 5t R IE S B B 5 RIE o

B FEYE
B ERFEL 517 R & 2515
BER D -

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 28) RekReZEEM(HE28)

Borrowings — repayable within one year AR — AR —FANEE (P 33)
(Note 33)

Borrowings — repayable after one year AR — AR —FREE(PHFE33)
(Note 33)

Borrowings from third parties (Note 32) F=AERHE32)

Convertible bonds - liability component HBRES - 8EHD

Lease liabilities (Note 15) HEBEPHEE15)

Net debt B HE

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t-HLEE

2021 2020
—E-—-F e ek 3
VL RMB'000
AR®T T AREFTT

53,818 64,752
(410,000) (500,000)
(75,000) (110,000)
(5,175) (301,825)
(275,684) =
= (147)
(712,041) (847,220)



41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NET DEBT RECONCILIATION (CONTINUED) 41.

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising
from financing activities. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

B FRERE)
TR AEERELTHELNEE
WESFE BERDELNAGBD
ERERESARARERAREESH
ERERTOERBELRDRE R
Renewats -

Borrowings

Balance at 1 January 2020

RZZE-ZF—A—HHN

Bank

borrowings

BITHEX
RMB’000

AR®TR

from

third parties
B=FHER

RMB’000

AR®TT

Convertible
Bonds
AR ES
RMB'000
ARBT T

Lease
Total
st
RMB'000
AR®BT T

liabilities
HEAE
RMB'000
ARBT T

e (716,000) (290,309) = = (1,006,309)
Cash flows RERE 106,000 (8,776) = 150 97,374
Foreign exchange adjustments B 3 SR = 14,374 = — 14,374
Other non-cash movements HiIER &M E — (17,114) — (297) (17,411)
Balance at 31 December 2020 RZZZZTF

and 1 January 2021 TZA=+—HK

I ! (610,000) (301,825) — (911,972)
Cash flows Reng 125,000 296,681 (317,702) 104,129
Foreign exchange adjustments fE 5 A% — 4,238 6,610 10,848
Other non-cash movements HiIER &R E = (4,269) 35,408 31,136
Balance at 31 December 2021 R-B=—&

T=ZA=t+ RN

(485,000)

(5,175)

(275,684)

(765,859)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-B--Ft-AZt-ALSE

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE OF THE 42, BIEMRRERREE
COMPANY
(@) Statement of financial position (a) HEEMRE

As at 31 December
R+=A=+—H

2021 2020
—E--F —TCFF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREFTT

Non-current asset FREBEE
Interest in subsidiaries R B AR ER 1,223,791 1,194,289

Current assets REEE

Cash and cash equivalents RBe KA EEY 286 284
Prepayment ERE N 4,307 454
Total current assets REEEARE 4,593 R ELE

Current liabilities RBaE

TR 16,935 195,326
Loans from subsidiaries REWBRARNER | 49772

Other payables H At FERTER

Total current liabilities REEEAE EEERY 245098
Net current liabilities REAEFH (12,342) VIR0
Total assets less current liabilities HMEERRBEE 1,211,449 |ELERYEN

Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Convertible bonds - liability component A[# & E%A — BEEHH 275,684 —
Deferred tax liabilities EREREEE 2,686 —

Total non-current liabilities FRBEEHEE 278,370
Net assets FEE CEENOEN 949,929

Capital and reserves EXK#E

Share capital [l 21,618 21,363
Reserves ] 911,461 928,566
Total equity ERAE 949,929

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HEZZ--F+-A=+—BIEFE

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE OF THE 42. BBMRRER@FEE)
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
(@) Statement of financial position (continued) (a) HEMREKE)
note: Movement in the Company’s reserves st « RARREEE)

Shares held
for share

award

Share scheme Other  Accumulated

premium ARARE reserves |osses Total
RGEE HEASENRG Hitfkts 2iER by
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBT T ARET T ARBTR ARET T

Balance at 1 January 2020 RZZZTF-A—-ANEH 1,225,214 (173,037) 72,733 (122,539) 1,002,371
Loss for the year FERE = = = (24,350) (24,350)
Exchange differences on AN EERES

translation from functional currency 2IEHNERZE

to presentation currency = = (49,455) = (49,455)
Total comprehensive loss 2AFRGE = = (49,455) (24,350) (73,805)
Balance at 31 December 2020 and RIZZTEF-A=F-H

1 January 2021 kZZ=-E—-A—AK

& 1,225,214 (173,037) 23,278 (146,889) 928,566

Loss for the year FERE (31,503)
Exchange differences on AR EERESR

translation from functional currency ZHERNERER

to presentation currency (22,290) (22,290)
Total comprehensive loss 2EFRGE (22,290) (CENLE))
Convertible bonds - equity component ARk EHR - EmiH 22,848 22,848
Deferred tax arising from THRRESEENETEHE

Convertible Bonds (3,770) (3,770)
Share issued upon conversion ERURRERRETNRN

of Convertible Bonds 18,771 (1,161) 17,610
Balance at 31 December 2021 RoB=-%

TZR=+-BHEE 1,243,985 (173,037) (178,392) 911,461

BHKERARAF | FH 2021




~D

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 43. EBEARER
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EBRFETHAEMS
The remuneration of each Director and the chief executive for BEERFETHRABHEZE-Z
the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out below: T A=t+—HILFEN
HENESIT

Employer's

contribution
to benefit
Discretionary scheme  Allowance
Salary bonuses EEX@EF and benefits Total
Name #e e MiETEA SRS RMRER @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR ARETR ARET:

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Yan Qingjiang (note vii) BB LA (Mvil)
Mr. Yue Zhigiang (note i) EHR A E ()
Chief executive Officer THAR

Mr. Wang Dong (note v) FREE(FFY)
Non-executive Directors FBUTES

Ms. Jiang Xiaohong ZBITT

Mr. Kevin Cheng Wei (note iv) BEACSE A (BETiv)
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES

Directors
Mr. Hung Ka Hai Clement (note i) 3@ %4 (MsEii)
Mr. Tang Zeping (note ix) EETEE(Hix)
Mr. Lo Wai Hung (note xi) EEELE ()
Mr. Dai Yang (note vii) 155 £ (et i)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE-Z--F+_A=+—HL%E

43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued)

43. EERARERE)
(a) EERIETHRAEBME(E)

The remuneration of each Director and the chief executive for

the year ended 31 December 2020 is set out below:

REFENFBTRAEBBE_T
—EFET A=+ HIEFEN

ST
Employer's
contribution
to benefit
Discretionary scheme  Allowance
Salary bonuses  EEMER and benefits Total
Name ## e WETEA FEMES =B RAER it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR ARETr ARETR ARET:R
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yan Qingjiang (note vii) BB %4 (i vii) 669 — 10 — 679
Mr. Yue Zhigiang EHBEsE 1,334 — — — 1,334
Mr. Wang Dong (note v) FREE (V) 1,333 — 16 149 1,498
Mr. Liu Chen (note vi) R RE () 535 9 7 — 551
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Jiang Xiaohong ZBOTT 886 — — — 886
Mr. Kevin Cheng Wei (note iv) Bk S (T iv) 1,353 — — — 1,353
Mr. Wei Zheming (note iii) PE IS (W) — — — — -
Mr. Xu Liang (note iii) e (eEiin) = = = = —
Ms. Guo Kun Kun (note iii) PEBLL (M) — — — — -
Independent Non-executive BUKHTES
Directors
Mr. Hung Ka Hai Clement REERE 496 — — — 496
Mr. Tang Zeping (note ix) BRT LA (i) 428 — — — 428
Mr. Dai Yang (note vii) L4 (i) 286 — — — 286
Mr. Jesper Bjoern Madsen (note x) ~ ZZEHE %4 (P x) 690 — — 98 788
Mr. Lee Conway Kong Wai FEREE
(note viii) (P& viii) 83 — — = 83
8,093 9 33 247 8,382
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—$T-A=t—HILEE

43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments (continued)

notes:

(i

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

Mr. YUE Zhigiang retired as executive Director on 30 June 2021.

Mr. Hung Ka Hai Clement retired as independent non-executive
Director on 30 June 2021.

Mr. Wei Zheming, Mr. Xu Liang and Ms. Guo Kun Kun were
appointed as non-executive Directors on 31 December 2019 and

retired on 30 June 2020.

Mr. Kevin Cheng Wei was re-designated from an independent non-
executive Director to a non-executive Director on 9 October 2020
and retired as non-executive Director on 30 June 2021.

Mr. Wang Dong retired as executive Director on 30 June 2020. Mr.

WANG Dong remains as the chief executive officer of the Company.

Mr. Liu Chen resigned as executive Director on 27 May 2020.

Mr. Yan Qingjiang and Mr. Dai Yang were appointed as executive
Director and independent non-executive Directors respectively on 27
May 2020.

Mr. Lee Conway Kong Wai resigned as independent non-executive
Directors on 29 February 2020.

Mr. Tang Zeping was appointed as independent non-executive
Directors on 2 March 2020.

Mr. Jesper Bjoern Madsen resigned as independent non-executive
Directors on 27 May 2020.

Mr. Lo Wai Hung was appointed as independent non-executive
Director on 28 September 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments (continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Group or the five highest paid
employees or senior managements as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
None of the non-director, highest paid employees and senior
management waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. There was no
arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration during the years ended 31 December 2020
and 2019.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals, including Directors, as an inducement to
join the Group or as compensation for loss of office other
than those disclosed above. In addition, during the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no directors waived any

emoluments.

Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no retirement
benefits operated by the Group were paid or made, directly
or indirectly, to or receivable by a director in respect of his
services as a director or other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries

(2020: nil).

(a)

(b)

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-F--FtoAST-ALFE

43. EEEANRERE)

ESRFIETHAEME(E)
HE-_Z2- R _Z-FF
+t-A=+—RHLEE A£E
VEAENESIAEBFET
BAESAAGESFME T xS
BREBEIZAEMIE - fEAM
BAREESNBEASB RN RS
FIERBERAEE BE_T=—
FR-ZZ-ZTFE+-A= + A
HEE SBEEEE T
EI&%@E@@W%WH 9iid
%Eﬂ%é BHEZT-THFR
Z-NF+ZA=1+—HILF
B MEIVAEMNLTEE  BFEE
ERBYREREE( IS

BE-_T-_—FR=-ZTZ
+ZA=+—HLEEE KEX
FIBEEIN ARESERRS
EaFMAL(RREES) SN
e - ERMBAREER R
SREREBEE - I BE
ZE--FRZIZ-FTF+ZA
S+ —HLEFE UEEEHE
EABE

EEERNREN
BE-Z-_—%t-A=t—H
LEE BEERAREAES
IR SR AR EIE 2 R RN
B MERESERAHIE BN
NEHEMBARZFHERN
H RIS M E A ) RIKARF
(ZF=FF: #)-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2 A IE

REMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-Z——

FrZA=T-RALHFEE

43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

()

(d)

(e)

)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

Directors’ termination benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no payments or
benefits in respect of termination of director's services were
paid or made, directly or indirectly, to or receivable by a

director; nor are any payable (2020: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making available
directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no consideration
was provided to or receivable by third parties for making

available director’s services (2020: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
(2020: nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or
contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year (2020: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BAMBRENE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-F--FtoAST-ALFE

44, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 44, EFENIAREE
(a) Capital commitments (a) EFXRMUEE
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, capital expenditures RZBEZ—FR-ZT-TF+=
contracted for but not yet incurred were as follows: A=+—H EEQENKEE
ZERRIMAT :

(b)

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t-HLEE

2021 2020
—E-—fF —TE-FTF
RMB‘000 RMB'000
INL R ARETIT

Property, plant and equipment ME - BB RE 37,359
Equity investment ERRE 16,000
53,359
Contingent liabilities (b) ZE?KEF
The Group provided financial guarantee net amounting to R_FE_—F+A=+—8"
RMB280,000,000 to an associate as at 31 December 2021 REE [ — B E QIR B
(31 December 2020: RMB170,000,000). The guarantee was #%{%55%5/\1%?%%280 000,000 7T
provided for bank borrowings obtained by the associate in the (Z2ZZF+A=+—8:
amount of RMB150,000,000 and for bank acceptance note in A #170,000,0007T ) © 3% &
the net amount of RMB130,000,000 as at 31 December 2021 RE-_E-_—F+-_A=1—
(31 December 2020: RMB170,000,000 bank borrowings). The AELARIRGENRITERA
period of the guarantee for net amount RMB160,000,000 is [ #150,000,000 7T K # 17 #
from 26 October 2021 to 25 October 2022. The period of the )%IE%‘%?%%E/\EMBO 000,000
remaining guarantee amounting to RMB120,000,000 is from 15 TREER(ZZEZZF+=
July 2021 to 15 July 2027, A=1T—H: RITEFARK
170,000,0007C) « FEAR®
160,000,000 LRI R AR R —

E-—F+A-+~HEZZ
ZZHETAZTRA - FBRAH
AR 120,000,000 JTH) (R E8
BRAEZE-—F+A+HAZZ
- +F+A+HB -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

45,

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

45,

Related parties are those parties that have the ability to control the

other party or exercise significant influence in making financial and

operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they

are subject to common control.

(@) Transactions with related parties

BELIRZ

BEE T RIEBE RN S — T R B E B
BREERRBMEAZENAL -
HREZEH BB IR AR

(a)

BREBLTNRS

Revenue

- Rental income from associates

- Sales of raw materials and
consumables used of water
products to associates

- Sales of water products to
an associate

RE B EAKA

—REHERANEREA

— B & AR E K E M
FT PR R L e bt

—HEKER T —HBE QT

Purchase of goods from associates

Loans granted to associates

Repayments received from loans to

an associate

Bl E R BIER

Financial guarantee for
an associate (Note 44(b))

—FEE LD RS BER
(B3F 44(b))
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Year ended 31 December

BZ+-B=1+—HLEE
2021 2020
—E-—fF —TE-FTF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETIT

7,264

800

9,755
121,773

34,445

189,800

170,000



45. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 45,

(a)

(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Transactions with related parties (continued)

Above were the transactions between the Group and associates
including Highland Natural Water and Fudi Packaging. The

transactions were based on agreed terms among the parties

involved.

Balances with related parties:

The balances with related parties are as follows:

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z2-_—F+-A=1-HILFE

BELRE (&)

(a) REBLINXZ(E)
NERREEEBENR(BRRRX
RKEBHBE)ZEANZS - ZER
5 ERB BT 477 B O IRFETT

(b) EREAEETLMAER -
BB T RN T

As at 31 December

R+t=A=+-—H
2021 2020
—EC--F k3
RMB‘000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETIT
Prepayment FRRIE
— Fudi Packaging —fEek —
Trade payable T E 5
- Fudi Packaging — R AR 9,583
Other financial assets NEBRRAGTENEMEREE
at amortised cost
Amounts due from associates: FEUE & N RIS
- Fudi Packaging (Note 25) —fa ek (ME25) 34,445
Dividend receivables from FEMEE N RIS
an associate:
- Highland Natural Water (Note 25) —mRARARK(HFE25) 49,005
83,450

BHKERARAF | FH 2021

&

@



~D

&

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-Z-—F+-R=+-HI%E

45,

46.

47.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

() Key management compensation
The compensation paid/payable to key management is shown
below:

45,

BBA X5 (&)

(0 EREBARHM
BER/ENEEEE A B SR
EHME

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+t—-RHLEE

2020

2021

e MHEMEREEEN

Salaries and other short-term
employee benefits

—E--F —TFTF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTFTT

10,754

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 18 January 2022 (after trading hours), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company entered into an agreement with an independent
third party, under which the wholly-owned subsidiary has agreed to
sell and the independent third party has agreed to purchase 9.9%
equity interest in Tibet Tiandi Green Beverage Development Co., Ltd.
("Tiandi Green”) (represented by 9.9% of the registered capital)
at a cash consideration of HK$58,000,000. Further details of the
disposal of the 9.9% equity interest in Tiandi Green were set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 18 January 2022.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board
and authorised for issue on 21 April 2022.
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46.

47.

HREHMBER
RZZFZZF—-A+N\B(XRHEERE
Rig) AREINZ2ENB LB EB
NEZFIMHE B 2ENEB
RARAEHEMBYE=FREES
ARG ERREREBRAF(X
Mg |)H9.9% RIE(LEME AN
9.9%) - 3 & X & /58,000,000 %
e ABLERFEII%RED
E—FHE BRARRHBAZZ
—ZTE-ATN\BHRE -
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